MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR

HANNA CAPITAL CORP.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF
SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON
SEPTEMBER 12, 2022

August 2, 2022

HANNA CAPITAL CORP.
130 King Street West, Suite 1800
Toronto, Ontario M5X 1E3
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual and special meeting of the shareholders (the “Meeting”) of Hanna Capital
Corp. (the “Corporation”) will be held at 130 King Street West, Suite 1800, Toronto, Ontario on the 12th day of September
2022 at 11:00 a.m. (Toronto time) for the following purposes:
(a)

to receive and consider the audited consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2019, 2020 and 2021, together with the report of the auditors thereon;

(b)

to elect directors for the ensuing year;

(c)

to appoint auditors and to authorize the directors to fix their remuneration; and

(d)

to transact such further or other business as may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

This notice is accompanied by a form of proxy, a management information circular, the audited consolidated financial
statements and management discussion and analysis of the Corporation for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019, 2020 and 2021
and a supplemental mailing list form.
Shareholders who are unable to attend the Meeting in person are requested to complete, date, sign and return the enclosed form
of proxy so that as large a representative as possible may be had at the Meeting. To be valid, the proxy must be received by
Odyssey Trust Company of Canada before 11:00 a.m. (Toronto time) September 8, 2022 or delivered to the chairman on the
day of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.
DATED at Toronto, Ontario as of the 2nd day of August 2022.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(Signed) John Gould
Chief Executive Officer
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SOLICITATION OF PROXIES
THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR (THE “INFORMATION CIRCULAR”) IS FURNISHED IN CONNECTION
WITH THE SOLICITATION BY THE MANAGEMENT OF HANNA CAPITAL CORP. (THE “CORPORATION”)
OF PROXIES TO BE USED AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (THE “MEETING”) OF SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE CORPORATION TO BE HELD AT THE TIME AND PLACE AND FOR THE PURPOSES SET FORTH IN
THE ENCLOSED NOTICE OF MEETING. While it is expected that the solicitation will be primarily by mail, proxies may
also be solicited personally by regular employees of the Corporation at nominal cost. The cost of solicitation by management
will be borne directly by the Corporation. None of the directors of the Corporation have advised management in writing that
they intend to oppose any action intended to be taken by management at the Meeting. Information contained herein is presented
as of August 2, 2022, unless otherwise indicated.
APPOINTMENT AND REVOCATION OF PROXIES
The persons named in the enclosed form of proxy are officers and/or directors of the Corporation. A SHAREHOLDER
DESIRING TO APPOINT SOME OTHER PERSON TO REPRESENT HIM AT THE MEETING MAY DO SO either
by inserting such person’s name in the blank space provided in that form of proxy or by completing another proper form of
proxy and, in either case, delivering the completed proxy to the transfer agent of the Corporation, Odyssey Trust Company by
mail to Odyssey Transfer Inc., Trader’s Bank Building, Suite 702, 67 Yonge Street, Toronto, Ontario M5E 1J8, not later than
11:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on September 8, 2022 or delivering the completed proxy to the Chairman of the Meeting on the day
of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof prior to the time of voting.
A shareholder who has given a proxy has the power to revoke it as to any matter on which a vote has not already been cast
pursuant to the authority conferred by such proxy and may do so either:
1.

by delivering another properly executed form of proxy bearing a later date and depositing it as described above;

2.

by depositing an instrument in writing revoking the proxy executed by him or her:
(a)

with Odyssey Trust Company at any time not later than 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on September 8, 2022 (or,
if the Meeting is adjourned, not later than 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) prior to the
Meeting);

(b)

with the Chairman of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof, prior to the
commencement of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof, as applicable; or

(c)

in any other manner permitted by law.
VOTING OF PROXIES

Common Shares represented by properly executed proxies WILL BE VOTED OR WITHHELD FROM VOTING IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSTRUCTIONS OF THE SHAREHOLDER ON ANY BALLOT THAT MAY BE
CALLED FOR AND IF THE SHAREHOLDER SPECIFIES A CHOICE WITH RESPECT TO ANY MATTER TO
BE ACTED UPON, THE COMMON SHARES WILL BE VOTED ACCORDINGLY. Where there is no choice specified,
Common Shares represented by properly executed proxies in favour of persons designated in the printed portion of the enclosed
form of proxy WILL BE VOTED FOR EACH OF THE MATTERS TO BE VOTED ON BY SHAREHOLDERS AS
DESCRIBED IN THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR. The enclosed form of proxy confers discretionary authority upon
the persons named therein with respect to amendments or variations to matters identified in the notice of Meeting, or other
matters which may properly come before the Meeting.
At the time of printing this Information Circular, the management of the Corporation knows of no such amendments, variations
or other matters to come before the Meeting. However, if any other matters which at present are not known to management of
the Corporation should properly come before the Meeting, the proxy will be voted on such matters in accordance with the best
judgment of the named proxies.
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REGISTERED SHAREHOLDERS
Registered Shareholders may wish to vote by Proxy whether or not they are able to attend the Meeting in person. Registered
Shareholders electing to submit a Proxy may do so by completing, dating and signing the enclosed form of Proxy and returning
it to the Corporation's transfer agent, Odyssey Trust Company by mail to Trader’s Bank Building, Suite 702, 67 Yonge Street,
Toronto Ontario M5E 1J8, not less than forty-eight (48) hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays or statutory holidays in the
Province of Ontario, before the time set for the holding of the Meeting or any adjournment(s) thereof.
VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF
The authorized capital of the Corporation consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without nominal or par value.
The holders of Common Shares are entitled to one (1) vote in respect of each Common Share held at all meetings of the
shareholders of the Corporation. As of August 2, 2022, the Corporation had outstanding 56,772,817 Common Shares.
The record date for the determination of shareholders entitled to receive notice of the Meeting has been fixed as the close of
business on August 2, 2022. In accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Corporation will prepare a list of holders of
Common Shares on such record date. Each holder of Common Shares named in the list will be entitled to vote the shares shown
opposite his name on the list at the Meeting except to the extent that (a) the shareholder has transferred any of his shares after
the record date, and (b) the transferee of those shares produces properly endorsed share certificates or otherwise establishes
that he owns such shares and demands, not later than the close of business on the tenth business day before the Meeting, that
his name be included in the list before the Meeting, in which case the transferee is entitled to vote his shares at the Meeting.
To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Corporation, as at the date of this Circular, no person or corporation
beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction over, voting securities of the Corporation carrying
more than 10% of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the Corporation.
NON-REGISTERED HOLDERS
Only registered shareholders or duly appointed proxyholders are permitted to vote at the Meeting. Most shareholders of the
Corporation are “non-registered” shareholders because the Common Shares they own are not registered in their names but are
instead registered in the name of the brokerage firm, bank or trust company through which they purchased the Common Shares.
A person is not a registered shareholder (a “Non-Registered Holder”) in respect of Common Shares which are held either: (a)
in the name of an intermediary (an “Intermediary”) that the Non- Registered Holder deals with in respect of the Common
Shares (an Intermediary includes, among others, banks, trust companies, securities dealers or brokers and trustees or
administrators of self-administered RRSP’s, RRIF’s, RESP’s and similar plans); or (b) in the name of a clearing agency (such
as CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc.), of which the Intermediary is a participant. In accordance with the requirements
of National Instrument 54-101 of the Canadian Securities Administrators, the Corporation has distributed copies of the notice
of Meeting, this Information Circular and the proxy and supplemental mailing card (collectively, the “Meeting Materials”) to
the clearing agencies and Intermediaries for onward distribution to Non-Registered Holders. Intermediaries are required to
forward the Meeting Materials to Non-Registered Holders unless a Non-Registered Holder has waived the right to receive
them.
Intermediaries will frequently use service companies to forward the Meeting Materials to Non-Registered Holders. Generally,
Non-Registered Holders who have not waived the right to receive Meeting Materials will either:
(a)

be given a form of proxy which has already been signed by the Intermediary (typically by a facsimile, stamped
signature), which is restricted as to the number of Common Shares beneficially owned by the Non- Registered Holder
and must be completed, but not signed, by the Non-Registered Holder and deposited with Odyssey Trust Company;
or

(b)

more typically, be given a voting instruction form which is not signed by the Intermediary, and which, when properly
completed and signed by the Non-Registered Holder and returned to the Intermediary or its service company, will
constitute voting instructions which the Intermediary must follow.

In either case, the purpose of this procedure is to permit Non-Registered Holders to direct the voting of the Common Shares
which they beneficially own. Should a Non-Registered Holder who receives one of the above forms wish to vote at the Meeting
in person, the Non-Registered Holder should strike out the names in the proxy and insert the Non-Registered Holder’s name in
the blank space provided. Non-Registered Holders should carefully follow the instructions of their Intermediary, including
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those regarding when and where the proxy or proxy authorization form is to be delivered.
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
“Named Executive” or “NEO” means each of the following individuals:
(a)

each individual who, in respect of the Corporation, during any part of the most recently completed financial year,
served as chief executive officer, including an individual performing functions similar to a chief executive officer;

(b)

each individual who, in respect of the Corporation, during any part of the most recently completed financial year,
served as chief financial officer, including an individual performing functions similar to a chief financial officer;

(c)

in respect of the Corporation and its subsidiaries, the most highly compensated executive officer other than the
individuals identified in paragraphs (a) and (b) above at the end of the most recently completed financial year whose
total compensation was more than $150,000;

(d)

each individual who would be a named executive officer under paragraph (c) above, but for the fact that the individual
was not an executive officer of the Corporation, and was not acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that financial
year;

The Named Executives who are the subject of this Statement of Executive Compensation are Chief Executive Officer and
President, John Gould and Chief Financial Officer, James Davis.
The compensation of the Corporation’s Named Executives and directors was determined by the Corporation’s board of directors
as a whole. The board of directors monitor the Corporation’s compensation practices to ensure that the Corporation maintains
its competitiveness and that it appropriately recognizes reward, growth and change within the organization, along with the
Corporation’s current state of development and financial position. Compensation of the Corporation’s Named Executives and
directors is reviewed by the board of directors on an annual basis. In the event a Named Executive may be entitled to a
discretionary bonus, the board of directors review that individual’s performance, their contribution to the advancement of the
Corporation’s goals and objectives and the financial performance and position of the Corporation and the board, as a whole,
makes decisions with respect to any discretionary bonuses. Named Executives are not permitted to participate in the discussion
or vote in connection with their own compensation.
Compensation for Named Executives is composed of three components, namely, base salary, participation in the Corporation’s
Stock Option Plan, and non-equity incentives. When determining such compensation, the board of directors has taken into
consideration individual performance, level of expertise, responsibilities, length of service to the Corporation and contribution
to the financial health of the Corporation.
The general compensation philosophy of the Corporation for executive officers is to provide a level of compensation that is
fair and competitive within the marketplace, that will attract and retain individuals with the experience and qualifications critical
to the success of the Corporation and the enhancement of shareholder value, and that will reward the performance of those
executives whose actions have a direct and identifiable impact on the performance of the Corporation. From time to time, the
Corporation grants incentive stock options as well as non-equity incentives as part of total compensation to its Named
Executives.
Base Salary
The base salaries paid to the Corporation’s Named Executives are based upon the Corporation’s assessment of the salaries
required to attract and retain the caliber of executives it needs to achieve its desired growth and performance targets.
Stock Options
The Corporation’s Stock Option Plan is intended to assist in attracting, retaining and motivating directors, officers, employees
and service providers of the Corporation to closely align the personal interests of such directors, officers, employees and service
providers with those of the shareholders by providing them with the opportunity, through options, to acquire Common Shares.
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No stock options were granted during the last fiscal year, however, the decision to grant stock options is made by the board of
directors and is done so in compliance with the Stock Option Plan. When the board of directors of the Corporation considers
granting stock options, the board will take into consideration (i) the relative contributions of the individuals who are eligible to
receive options; and (ii) the availability of options for issuance, general market conditions, and the Corporation’s recent share
performance.
Non-Equity Incentives
Non-equity incentives are a variable element of the total compensation package, and though there is no formal plan in place at
the current time and no non-equity incentive compensation (other than salary) was paid to Named Executives or directors of
the Corporation during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth all compensation for services rendered in all capacities to the Corporation for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019 in respect of the Named Executives of the Corporation. The Corporation had no other
executive officers, or individuals acting in a similar capacity, whose total compensation during the fiscal year ended June 30,
2021 exceeded $150,000.

Year

Salary
($)

John Gould
CEO and President (1)

2021

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Herbert Brugh (2)
CEO and President

2021
2020
2019

Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil

NIl
Nil
Nil

James Davis (3)
CFO

2021
2020
2019

Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil

Name and Principal
Position

Option
based
awards
($)

Non-equity
incentive plan
compensation ($)

Share
based
awards
($)

Pension
value
($)

All other
compensation
($)

Total
compensation
($)

Nil

Nil

70,000 (4)

Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil

20,000 (5)
Nil
108,676 (6)

20,000
Nil
108,676

Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil

5,000
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil

Long-term
Annual
incentive
incentive plans
plans

Notes:
(1)
John Gould was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation in June 2021.
(2)
Herbert Brugh was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation in May, 2010 and resigned in
June 2021.
(3)
James Davis was appointed Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation in October 28, 2016. During the year ended
June 30, 2021, $5,000 was expensed for CFO fees;
(4)
Of this amount, an aggregate of $60,000 was expensed for consulting fees and $10,000 for CEO fees.
(5)
Of this amount, an aggregate of $10,000 was expensed for CEO fees and $10,000 for administration fees.
(6)
Of this amount, an aggregate of $79,039 was expensed for CEO fees and $29,637 for administration fees.
Director and Named Executive Officer Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities
No stock options or other compensation securities were granted or issued to the Named Executives or directors of the
Corporation during the year ended June 30, 2021. There are no share-based awards outstanding for any of the Named Executives
or directors of the Corporation. No stock options or other compensation securities were exercised by any Named Executive of
director of the Corporation during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year
No option-based incentive plan awards vested and no non-equity incentive plan compensation was earned during the financial
year ended June 30, 2021.
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Employment Contracts
The Corporation does not have a written consulting agreement or employment agreement with any Named Executive.
Outstanding Option-Based Awards for Named Executive Officers
The table below reflects all option-based awards for each Named Executive Officer outstanding as at June 30, 2021 (including
option-based awards granted to a Named Executive Officer before such fiscal year). The Corporation does not have any other
equity incentive plans other than its Stock Option Plan.

Name of
Named Executive
Officer
John Gould
James Davis

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Nil
Nil

Option
Exercise Price
(CDN$/Security)

Option
Expiration Date

Value of
Unexercised
In-the-Money
Options
(CDN$) (2)

-

-

Nil
Nil

Director’s Compensation
Individual Director Compensation
The following table provides a summary of all amounts of compensation provided to the directors of the Corporation during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. Except as otherwise disclosed below, the Corporation did not pay any fees or compensation
to directors for serving on the Board (or any subcommittee) beyond reimbursing such directors for travel and related expenses
and the granting of stock options under the Stock Option Plan.
Director Compensation Table For Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

Name
Victor Cantore
Vern Bock (1)
Herb Brugh
John Gould (2)

Fee Earned
(CDN$)
$40,000
Nil
$20,000
Nil

Option-Based
Awards
(CDN$) (1)
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Non-Equity Incentive
Plan Compensation
(CDN$)
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

All Other
Compensation
(CDN$)
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Total
(CDN$)
$40,000
Nil
$20,000
Nil

Notes:
(1)
Mr. Bock resigned as director in July 2020.
(2)
Mr. Gould was appointed director in July 2020
Director Outstanding Option-Based Awards
The table below reflects all option-based awards for each director outstanding as at June 30, 2021 (including option-based
awards granted to a director before each such fiscal year). The Corporation does not have any equity incentive plan other than
the Stock Option Plan.
Director Option–Based Awards Outstanding as at June 30, 2021

Name of Director
Victor Cantore
Vern Bock (1)
Herb Brugh
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Number of
Securities Underlying
Unexercised Options
Nil
Nil
Nil

Option
Exercise Price
(CDN$/Security)
-

Option
Expiration Date
-

Value of Unexercised
In-the-Money Options
(CDN$)
Nil
Nil
Nil

John Gould (2)

Nil

-

-

Nil

Notes:
(1)
Mr. Bock resigned as director in July 2020.
(2)
Mr. Gould was appointed director in July 2020
Director Incentive Award Plans
The following table provides information concerning the incentive award plans of the Corporation with respect to each director
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. The only incentive award plan of the Corporation during such fiscal year was its
Stock Option Plan.
Incentive Award Plans
Value Vested or Earned During the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
Option-Based Awards –
Value Vested During Fiscal Year
Ended June 30, 2021 (CDN$)
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Name of Director
Victor Cantore
Vern Bock (1)
Herb Brugh
John Gould (2)

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation
Value Vested During Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2021 (CDN$)
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Notes:
(1)
Mr. Bock resigned as director in July 2020.
(2)
Mr. Gould was appointed director in July 2020
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table sets forth the Corporation’s equity compensation plans under which equity securities are authorized for
issuance as at June 30, 2021, the end of the most recently completed financial year.
Number of Securities to be
Issued Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options, Warrants
and Rights

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation
Plans

Stock Option Plan

N/A

N/A

7,930,000

Equity compensation
plans not approved by
security holders
Total

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

7,930,000

Plan Category

Summary of Stock Option Plan
The shareholders of the Corporation approved the Corporation’s incentive stock option plan (the “Option Plan”) on May 30,
2014. The number of Common Shares reserved for issuance under the Option Plan is fixed at 7,930,000 Common Shares.
The purpose of the Option Plan is to attract, retain and motivate persons as key service providers to the Corporation and to
advance the interests of the Corporation by providing such persons with the opportunity, through share options, to acquire a
proprietary interest in the Corporation and benefit from its growth. The options are non- assignable and may be granted for a
term not exceeding five years.
Options may be granted under the Option Plan only to directors, officers, employees and other service providers subject to the
rules and regulations of applicable regulatory authorities and any Canadian stock exchange upon which the Common Shares
may be listed or may trade from time to time. The number of Common Shares reserved for issue to any one person pursuant to
the Option Plan within any one year period may not exceed 5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares. The maximum
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number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance to insiders under the Option Plan, any other employee stock
option plans or options for services is 10% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Common Shares at the date of
grant (on a non-diluted basis). The maximum number of Common Shares which may be issued to insiders under the Option
Plan, together with any previously established or proposed share compensation arrangements, within any one year period, is
10% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Common Shares. The maximum number of Common Shares which
may be issued to any insider and his or her associates under the Option Plan, together with any previously established or
proposed share compensation arrangements, within any one year period, is 5% of the aggregate number of issued and
outstanding Common Shares at the date of grant (on a non-diluted basis). The maximum number of Common Shares which
may be granted to any consultant under the Option Plan, any other employee stock option plans or options for services, within
any one year period, is 2% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Common Shares at the date of grant (on a nondiluted basis). The maximum number of Common Shares which may be granted to any “investor relations person” under the
Option Plan, any other employee stock option plans or options for services, within any one year period, is 2% of the aggregate
number of issued and outstanding Common Shares at the date of grant (on a non-diluted basis).
The exercise price of options issued may not be less than the market value of the Common Shares at the time the option is
granted, subject to any discounts permitted by applicable legislative and regulatory requirements.
INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS TO THE CORPORATION
No individual who is, or previously was, a director, executive officer, employee, proposed nominee as a director of the
Corporation, or any of its subsidiaries, or any of their associates, is indebted to the Corporation or any subsidiary of the
Corporation as of the date of this Circular, or has indebtedness owing to another entity that is the subject of a guarantee, support
agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries, or
was so indebted at any time since the beginning of the financial year of the Corporation ended June 30, 2021.
INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS
Except as otherwise disclosed herein and as set forth below, no informed person of the Corporation (within the meaning of
applicable securities laws), no nominee for election as a director and no associate or affiliate thereof, has or has had any material
interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction since the commencement of the Corporation’s last completed financial year, or in
any proposed transaction, which has materially affected or would materially affect the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries.
AUDIT COMMITTEE DISCLOSURE
National Instrument 52-110 (“NI 52-110”) requires the Corporation to disclose annually in its management information circular
certain information concerning the constitution of its audit committee and its relationship with its independent auditor, as set
forth below.
Audit Committee Charter
The Corporation’s audit committee is governed by an audit committee charter, the text of which is attached as Schedule “C” to
this Information Circular.
Composition of the Audit Committee
The Corporation’s audit committee is comprised of Herbert Brugh, Victor Cantore and John Gould. Victor Cantore and Vern
Bock are considered to be “independent” within the mean of NI 52-110 while Herbert Brugh is not considered to be
independent as he served in the role of Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation until his resignation in June 2021.
In order for directors to be appointed to the audit committee, they must demonstrate that they have the ability to read and
understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally
comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Corporation’s
financial statements. In this regard, the board has determined that each member of the audit committee meets this criteria as
each of Messrs. Brugh, Cantore and Bock are familiar with accounting principles, financial statements and financial reporting
requirements as a result of their experience and education as set forth below.
Herbert Brugh– Mr. Brugh received a Bachelor of Arts from the University of Nebraska in 1961 with a major in Economics
and Law. He then received a Doctor of Jurisprudence from the University of Nebraska in 1963. He is a member of the Nebraska
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State Bar Association and admitted to practice before the Federal and State Courts there. He has also done post-graduate studies
in Economics and earlier did extensive work in that field. From 1963 to 1983, he was a member of the firm of Barney & Carter
in Lincoln, Nebraska, with extensive experience in legislation, litigation, corporate and business law. From 1983 through 1985,
he was Senior Vice President of Resources International, with extensive work in mergers and acquisitions. Since then until the
present, Mr. Brugh has been engaged in corporate and securities work, participating in numerous early stage companies in
North America and Western Europe.
Victor Cantore - Mr. Cantore began his investment career in 1992 as an investment advisor for Tassé & Associates. In 1993,
he quickly moved to RBC Dominion Securities, one of the largest brokerage firms in Canada. Since 1999, Mr. Cantore has
worked with both public and private companies, organizing and structuring financing mainly in the resources and high tech
sector.
John Gould – Mr. Gould holds a B.Sc. degree from the University of Witwatersrand and a B.Sc. (Hons) from the University
of the North-West. Mr. Gould has been involved in Witwatersrand and Bushveld-type mining operations in South Africa. His
experience includes all aspects of mining and geological that extended over deep and shallow level gold mining operations
(Venterspost, East Driefontein, Randfontein Estates, Joel Gold Mine, ERPM, Grootvlei Gold Mine, Harmony and Virginia
Gold Mines) as well as experience in the platinum mines (Rustenburg Platinum Mines – Amandelbult Section). Mr. Gould’s
international corporate experience started with him having headed up the South African operations for Platinum Group Metals
for which he was responsible for the development and technical aspects of the company. Mr. Gould then joined First Uranium
Corporation as Vice President Exploration and Technical Services and was initially responsible for the business plans for the
company. He was then promoted to Chief Operating Officer for First Uranium (Ezulwini Mining Company).
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
In the event the Corporation wishes to retain the services of the Corporation’s external auditors for tax compliance, tax advice
or tax planning, the CFO of the Corporation shall consult with the chair of the audit committee, who shall have the authority
to approve or disapprove on behalf of the audit committee, such non-audit services. All other permissible non-audit services
shall be approved or disapproved by the audit committee as a whole.
Audit Fees
The following chart summarizes the aggregate fees billed by the external auditors of the Corporation for professional services
rendered to the Corporation during the fiscal years ended June 30 2021 and 2020 for audit and non-audit related services:
Audit Fees

Year Ended June 30, 2021
$16,500

Year Ended June 30, 2020
$15,000

Audit-related Fees (1)

$Nil

$Nil

Tax Fees
All Other Fees (3)
Total

$Nil
Nil
$16,500

$Nil
$Nil
$15,000

(2)

Exemption
The Corporation is relying on the exemption provided by section 6.1 of NI 52-110 which provides that the Corporation, as a
“venture issuer”, is not required to comply with Part 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) and Part 5 (Reporting Obligations)
of NI 52-110.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
National Policy 58-201 of the Canadian Securities Administrators has set out a series of guidelines for effective corporate
governance (the “Guidelines”). The Guidelines address matters such as the constitution and independence of corporate boards,
the functions to be performed by boards and their committees and the effectiveness and education of board members. National
Instrument 58-101 (“NI 58-101”) of the Canadian Securities Administrators requires the disclosure by each listed corporation
of its approach to corporate governance with reference to the Guidelines as it is recognized that the unique characteristics of
individual corporations will result in varying degrees of compliance.
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Set out below is a description of the Corporation’s approach to corporate governance in relation to the Guidelines.
The Board of Directors
NI 58-101 defines an “independent” director as a director who has no direct or indirect material relationship with the
Corporation. A “material relationship” is, in turn, defined as a relationship which could, in the view of the Board, be reasonably
expected to interfere with such member’s independent judgment. The Board is currently comprised of four members, one of
which the Board has determined are “independent” within the meaning of NI 58-101.
Herb Brugh was not considered to be independent as a result of his role as President and CEO of the Corporation until his
resignation in June 2021.
Victor Cantore and John Gould (until June 2021 when he was appointed President and CEO) are considered independent
directors since they are independent of management and free from any material relationship with the Corporation. The basis
for this determination is that, since the beginning of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, such persons have not worked for the
Corporation, received remuneration from the Corporation other than standard director’s compensation or had material contracts
with or material interests in the Corporation which could interfere with his ability to act with a view to the best interests of the
Corporation.
The Board believes that it functions independently of management. To enhance its ability to act independent of management,
the Board may meet in the absence of members of management and the non-independent directors or may excuse such persons
from all or a portion of any meeting where a potential conflict of interest arises or where otherwise appropriate. The Board did
not hold any meetings of the independent directors in the absence of members of management and the non-independent director
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
Directorships
Certain of the directors of the Corporation are also directors of other reporting issuers (or equivalent) in a jurisdiction or a
foreign jurisdiction as follows:
Name

Name of Reporting Issuer and Exchange

Herbert Brugh

Pebble Creek Mining Ltd.
Martina Minerals Corporation

Victor Cantore

Margaux Red Capital Inc. (TSXV)
Monarques Resources Inc. (TSXV)
Transeuro Energy Corp. (TSXV)

Orientation and Continuing Education
While the Corporation currently has no formal orientation and education program for new Board members, sufficient
information (such as recent annual reports, prospectuses, proxy solicitation materials, technical reports and various other
operating, property and budget reports) is provided to any new Board member to ensure that new directors are familiarized
with the Corporation’s business and the procedures of the Board. In addition, new directors are encouraged to visit and meet
with management on a regular basis. The Corporation also encourages continuing education of its directors and officers where
appropriate in order to ensure that they have the necessary skills and knowledge to meet their respective obligations to the
Corporation.
Ethical Business Conduct
The Board monitors the ethical conduct of the Corporation and ensures that it complies with applicable legal and regulatory
requirements, such as those of relevant securities commissions and stock exchanges.
The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Corporation’s governing corporate
legislation and the common law, as well as the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on the individual director’s
participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest, have been sufficient to ensure that the Board
operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Corporation.
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Nomination of Directors
The full Board performs the functions of a nominating committee with responsibility for the appointment and assessment of
directors. The Board believes that this is a practical approach at this stage of the Corporation’s development and given the small
size of the Board.
While there are no specific criteria for Board membership, the Corporation attempts to attract and maintain directors with
business knowledge and a particular knowledge of mineral exploration and development or other areas (such as finance) which
provide knowledge which would assist in guiding the officers of the Corporation. As such, nominations tend to be the result of
recruitment efforts by management of the Corporation and discussions among the directors prior to the consideration of the
Board as a whole.
Compensation
The full Board performs the functions of a compensation committee. The Board believes that this is a practical approach at this
stage of the Corporation’s development and given the small size of the Board.
The Board as a whole reviews on an annual basis the adequacy and form of compensation of directors to ensure that the
compensation of the Board reflects the responsibilities, time commitments, and risks involved in being a responsible director.
The directors of the Corporation receive annual fees for their service as directors, as well as additional fees for each meeting
attended. All directors are also eligible to participate in the Option Plan. See “Compensation of Directors”.
In addition, the Board as a whole will review the compensation paid to the President and CEO of the Corporation and any other
key executive officers of the Corporation. In reviewing such compensation, the Board evaluates the achievements of the
executive officer against corporate goals and objectives, as well as overall corporate performance.
Other Board Committees
The Board currently has no committees other than the audit committee.
Assessments
The Board assesses, on an annual basis, the contributions of the Board as a whole and each of the individual directors, in order
to determine whether each is functioning effectively.
INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS OR COMPANIES IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON
Other than as disclosed in this Circular, no person who has been a director or executive officer of the Corporation at any time
since the beginning of the last completed fiscal year or any associate of any such director or executive officer has any material
interest, director or indirect, by way of beneficial ownership of securities or otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon at the
Meeting.
PARTICULARS OF MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON
1.

Financial Statements

The shareholders will receive and consider the audited consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2019, 2020 and 2021, together with the auditor’s report thereon.
2.

Election of Directors

The articles of the Corporation provide that the board may consist of a minimum of one and a maximum of ten directors, to be
elected annually. At the Meeting, shareholders will be asked to elect three directors (the “Nominees”). The following table
provides the names of the Nominees and information concerning them. The persons in the enclosed form of proxy intend to
vote for the election of the Nominees. Management does not contemplate that any of the Nominees will be unable to serve as
a director. Each director of the Corporation holds office until his successor is elected at the next annual meeting of the
Corporation, or any adjournment thereof, or until his successor is elected or appointed unless his office is earlier vacated in
accordance with the by-laws of the Corporation.
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Herbert Brugh (2)
Lake Forest, California

Director

Independent Consultant

August 17, 2012

Number of Voting
Securities
Beneficially Held,
Directed or
Controlled (1)
8,891

Victor Cantore (2)
Montreal, Quebec

Director

C.F.O. and Secretary of
Ivany Mining Inc.

April 7, 2010

8,250

John Gould
Johannesburg, South
Africa

Director and CEO

Mr. Gould is a consultant
providing mining and
exploration consulting
services to companies
operating in South
African, Chile,
Zimbabwe, DRC, Sierra
Leone, Guinea, Morocco,
Mail, Ghana and
Swaziland.

July 30, 2020

Nil

Name and
State/Province of
Residence

Note:
(1)
(2)

Position

Principal Occupation

Director Since

The information as to voting securities beneficially owned or over which the Nominees exercise control or direction
not being within the knowledge of the Corporation has been furnished by the respective Nominees individually.
Members of the Audit Committee

IF ANY OF THE NOMINEES IS FOR ANY REASON UNAVAILABLE TO SERVE AS A DIRECTOR, PROXIES IN
FAVOUR OF MANAGEMENT WILL BE VOTED FOR ANOTHER NOMINEE IN THEIR DISCRETION UNLESS
THE SHAREHOLDER HAS SPECIFIED IN THE PROXY THAT HIS SHARES ARE TO BE WITHHELD FROM
VOTING IN THE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS.
Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies
No Nominee is, as of the date of this Information Circular, or has been, within the 10 years prior to the date of this Information
Circular, a director or executive officer of any corporation that, while that person was acting in that capacity: (a) was the subject
of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the corporation access to any exemption under securities legislation for
a period of more than 30 consecutive days; (b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer
ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the corporation being the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that
denied the corporation access to any exemption under securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; or
(c) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt or made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors
or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of said corporation.
Personal Bankruptcies
No Nominee has, within 10 years before the date of this Information Circular, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise
with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of such person.
Penalties and Sanctions
No Nominee has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority, or been subject to any
other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a
reasonable security holder in deciding whether to vote for a Nominee.
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Conflicts of Interest
The directors are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Corporation and to
disclose any interests that they may have in any project or opportunity of the Corporation. If a conflict of interest arises at a
meeting of the Board, any director in a conflict will disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter.
To the best of the Corporation’s knowledge, and other than disclosed herein, there are no known existing or potential conflicts
of interest among the Corporation, its promoters, directors and officers or other members of management of the Corporation or
of any proposed promoter, director, officer or other member of management as a result of their outside business interests, except
that certain of the directors and officers serve as directors and officers of other companies, and therefore it is possible that a
conflict may arise between their duties to the Corporation and their duties as a director or officer of such other companies.
PROXIES RECEIVED IN FAVOUR OF MANAGEMENT WILL BE VOTED FOR THE ELECTION OF THE
ABOVE-NAMED NOMINEES, UNLESS THE SHAREHOLDER HAS SPECIFIED IN THE PROXY THAT HIS OR
HER SHARES ARE TO BE WITHHELD FROM VOTING IN RESPECT THEREOF.
3.

Appointment of Auditors

Unless such authority is withheld, the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy intend to vote for the appointment of
Davidson & Company LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants as auditors of the Corporation for the 2021 fiscal year, and to
authorize the directors to fix their remuneration.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Additional information concerning the Corporation is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Financial information
concerning the Corporation is provided in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements and management’s discussion
and analysis for the financial years ended June 30, 2019, 2020 and 2021, as Schedule “A” and Schedule “B”, respectively.
DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL
The contents and sending of this Information Circular have been approved by the directors of the Corporation.
DATED at Toronto, Ontario as of the 2nd day of August 2022.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(signed) John Gould
John Gould
President and Chief Executive Officer
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SCHEDULE “A”
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

To the Shareholders of
Hanna Capital Corp. (formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hanna Capital Corp. (formerly Nitinat Minerals
Corporation) (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2019 and
2018, and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for the
years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at June 30, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company has a working capital
deficit of $841,447 and an accumulated deficit of $9,779,382. As stated in Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that
these material uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report
includes Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:









Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Grant P. Block.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP”
Vancouver, Canada
October 28, 2019

Chartered Professional Accountants

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
AS AT JUNE 30,
2019
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Amounts receivable (Note 5)

$

Reclamation bond
Note receivable (Note 6)
Due from related parties (Note 12)
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 7)

353
58,340

2018

$

51,157
34,015

58,693

85,172

5,000
1
17,018
1,211,406

5,000
1
104,741
1,191,606

TOTAL ASSETS

$

1,292,118

$

1,386,520

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 8)

$

900,140

$

671,995

TOTAL LIABILITIES

900,140

SHAREHOLDES’ EQUITY
Share capital (Note 9)
Reserves
Accumulated deficit

671,995

8,641,245
1,530,115
(9,779,382)

8,579,885
1,530,115
(9,395,475)

391,978
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

$

1,292,118

714,525
$

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1)
Contingencies (Note 15)
On behalf of the Board:
“Vern Bock”

Director

“Herbert Brugh”

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1,386,520

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,
2019
OPERATING EXPENSES
General and administrative expenses (Note 14)

$

OPERATING LOSS
Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable (Note 8)

383,907

2018

$

260,199

(383,907)

(260,199)

-

127,291

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR

$

(383,907)

$

(132,908)

Basic and diluted loss per common share

$

(0.01)

$

(0.01)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - Basic and diluted

32,894,398

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

26,533,858

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30,
2019
Operating activities
Net loss for the year
Items not affecting cash:
Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable

$

(383,907)

2018
$

(132,908)

-

(127,291)

(24,325)
228,145

(17,353)
62,609

(180,087)

(214,943)

(19,800)

(116,986)

Net cash used in investing activities

(19,800)

(116,986)

Financing activities
Advances from related party
Proceeds from the issuance of share capital
Share issuance costs
Proceeds from warrants exercised

87,723
31,400
29,960

(123,254)
527,917
(21,887)
-

149,083

382,776

(50,804)

50,847

51,157

310

Change in non-cash working capital:
Receivables
Amounts payable and accrued liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net change in cash during the year
Cash – beginning of year
Cash – end of year

$

353

$

51,157

$
$
$

-

$
$
$

164,500
21,219
30,000

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Issuance of common shares for exploration and evaluation assets
Share issuance costs – finder’s warrants
Settlement of accounts payable with proceeds from warrants exercised

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

32,176,853
428,000
428,000
33,032,853

Balance at June 30, 2018
Warrants exercised
Shares issued for private placements
Net loss for the year

Balance at June 30, 2019
$

$

$

8,641,245

8,579,885
29,960
31,400
-

7,900,573
260,205
164,500
(21,886)
(21,219)
297,712
-

Share Capital

$

$

$

1,530,115

1,530,115
-

1,508,896
21,219
-

Reserve

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

23,089,753
5,204,100
500,000
3,383,000
-

Balance at June 30, 2017
Shares issued for private placements
Share issuance for evaluation and exploration assets
Share issuance costs – cash
Share issuance costs – finder’s warrants
Warrants exercised
Net loss for the year

Shares

(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

HANNA CAPITAL CORP

$

$

$

(9,779,382)

(9,395,475)
(383,907)

(9,262,567)
(132,908)

Deficit

$

$

$

391,978

714,525
29,960
31,400
(383,907)

146,902
260,205
164,500
(21,886)
297,712
(132,908)

Total

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN
Hanna Capital Corp formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of
the State of Nevada on June 1, 2004 under the name of “Assal Metallo, Inc.”. On June 20, 2007, the Company
was continued under the laws of the Province of Alberta and on July 19, 2007, it was continued under the laws of
the Province of Ontario, at which time the name was changed to Nitinat Minerals Corporation pursuant to Articles
of Continuance dated June 22, 2007. On October 17, 2019, the Company changed its name to Hanna Capital Corp.
The primary office of the Company is located at 1800-130 King Street West, Toronto, ON, M5X 1E3. The
Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) under the stock symbol HCC.
These consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis of presentation, which assumes
that the Company will continue operations for the foreseeable future and be able to realize the carrying value
of its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. To date, the
Company has not earned significant revenue and has an accumulated deficit of $9,779,382. The Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to obtain additional financing and or
achieve profitable operations in the future. These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments
that would be necessary if the going concern assumption was not appropriate. These adjustments could be
material.
The Company's financing efforts to date, while substantial, are not sufficient in and of themselves to enable the
Company to fund all aspects of its operations. Management will pursue funding initiatives if, as and when
required to meet the Company's requirements on an ongoing basis. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that
these initiatives will be successful or sufficient.
As at June 30, 2019, the Company had a working capital deficit of $841,447. As the Company is in the
exploration and evaluation stage, the Company has not identified a known body of commercial grade
mineral on any of its properties. The ability of the Company to realize the costs it has incurred to date on
these properties is dependent upon the Company identifying a commercial mineral body, to finance its
exploration and evaluation costs and to resolve any environmental, regulatory or other constraints, which
may hinder the successful exploration and evaluation of the property. The Company has financed its
activities through the issuance of equity securities and debt financing. The Company expects to use similar
financing techniques in the future and is pursuing such additional sources of financing as estimated to be
required to sufficiently support its operations until such time that its operations become self-sustaining.
To date, the Company has not earned any revenues. These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements, including comparatives have been prepared using accounting policies
consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
(“IFRIC”).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments that have been measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries. In addition, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow
information.
The policies applied in the consolidated financial statements are presented below and are based on IFRS’ issued
and outstanding as of October 28, 2019 the date the Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial
statements.
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HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Taman Petroleum Corporation ("Taman") which is inactive. All intercompany transactions,
balances, income and expenses are eliminated upon consolidation.
Subsidiaries are those entities which the Company controls by having the power to govern the financial and
operating policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is obtained by the Company and are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.
Adoption of New IFRS Pronouncements
The Company adopted IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 (as listed below) as at July 1, 2018. The nature and effect of these
changes as a result of the adoption of these new standards are described below. Other than the changes
described below, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.
Revenue Recognition
The Company adopted IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers (“IFRS 15”) on July 1, 2018
in accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard. The new revenue standard introduces a single
principles-based, five-step model for the recognition of revenue when control of goods is transferred to, or a
service is performed for, the customer. The five steps are to identify the contract(s) with the customer, identify
the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to
each performance obligation and recognize revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied. IFRS 15 also
requires enhanced disclosures about revenue to help users better understand the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows from contracts with customers. Based on management’s analysis, there
is no impact under IFRS 15 and therefore no cumulative effect was recognized on initial adoption.
Financial Instruments
The Company adopted IFRS 9: Financial instruments (“IFRS 9”) on July 1, 2018 in accordance with the
transitional provisions of the standard. The Company elected not to adopt the hedging requirements of IFRS
9 at this time but may adopt them in a future period.
IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
and supersedes the guidance relating to the classification and measurement of financial instruments in IAS 39:
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”).
Under IFRS 9, there is a change in the classification and measurement requirements relating to financial
assets. Previously, there were four categories of financial assets: loans and receivables, fair value through
profit or loss, held to maturity and available for sale. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into three
measurement categories on initial recognition: fair value through profit and loss, fair value through other
comprehensive income and amortized cost. Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured by
default at fair value through profit or loss (but there is an irrevocable option for each equity instrument to present
fair value changes in other comprehensive income). Measurement and classification of financial assets is
dependent on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial asset.
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HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases
where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change relating to an entity’s
own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this
creates an accounting mismatch.
IFRS 9 introduces a new three-stage expected credit loss model for calculating impairment for financial assets.
IFRS 9 no longer requires a triggering event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized. An entity is
required to recognize expected credit losses when financial instruments are initially recognized and to update
the amount of expected credit losses recognized at each reporting date to reflect changes in the credit risk of
the financial instruments. In addition, IFRS 9 requires additional disclosure requirements about expected credit
losses and credit risk.
The Company assessed the classification and measurement of its financial assets and financial liabilities under
IFRS 9 and determined IFRS 9 has no quantitative impact on the Company’s financial statement as at July 1,
2018.
Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
(i) Critical accounting estimates
Critical accounting estimates are estimates and assumptions made by management that may result in a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and are,
but are not limited to, the following:
The carrying value and the recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets - Management has
determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred which were capitalized may have future
economic benefits and may be economically recoverable. Management uses several criteria in its
assessments of economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefits including geologic and
other technical information, scoping and feasibility studies, accessibility of facilities and existing permits.
Share-based compensation - The fair value of stock options issued are subject to the limitation of the BlackScholes option pricing model which incorporates market data and which involves uncertainty and
subjectivity in estimates used by management in the assumptions. Changes in the input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate of stock options.
Recovery of deferred tax assets - Judgment is required in determining whether deferred tax assets are
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets, including those arising
from unutilized tax losses, require management to assess the likelihood that the Company will generate
taxable earnings in future periods, in order to utilize recognized deferred tax assets. Estimates of future
taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws
in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from
estimates, the ability of the Company to realize the net deferred tax assets recorded at the date of the
consolidated statement of financial position could be impacted.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Use of estimates and judgments (continued)
Additionally, future changes in tax laws in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates could limit the
ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in future periods.
The Company has not recorded any deferred tax assets.
(i) Critical accounting judgments
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are, but are not limited to, the following:
Determination of functional currency - In accordance with IAS 21, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates” management determined that the functional currency of the parent Company as well as
the Company’s subsidiaries is the Canadian dollar.
Foreign exchange
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates and
has been determined for each entity within the Company. The functional currency for all entities within the
Company is the Canadian dollar. The functional currency determinations were conducted through an analysis
of the consideration factors identified in International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 21, The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates.
Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recorded at exchange rates prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company that
are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange at the statement of financial position
date while non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical rates. Revenues and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates approximating those in effect on the date of the transactions. Exchange gains
and losses arising on translation are reflected in profit or loss for the period.
Earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”)
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated by
dividing the earnings (loss) attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period. The dilutive effect on earnings per share is calculated
presuming the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and similar instruments. It assumes that the proceeds
of such exercise would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the period.
However, the calculation of diluted loss per share excludes the effects of various conversions and exercise of
options and warrants that would be anti-dilutive.
Exploration and evaluation assets
Upon acquiring the legal right to explore a property, costs related to the acquisition, exploration and evaluation
of exploration and evaluation assets are capitalized by property until the commencement of commercial
production. If commercially profitable ore reserves are developed, capitalized costs of the related exploration
and evaluation assets are reclassified as mining assets and amortized using the unit of production method. If,
after management review, it is determined that capitalized exploration and evaluation costs are not recoverable
over the estimated economic life of the exploration and evaluation assets, or the exploration and evaluation
assets are abandoned, or management deems there to be an impairment in value, the exploration and evaluation
assets is written down to its net realizable value.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Any option payments received by the Company from third parties or tax credits refunded to the Company are
credited to the capitalized cost of the exploration and evaluation assets. If payments received exceed the
capitalized cost of the exploration and evaluation assets, the excess is recognized as gain on option agreement
in the year received. The amounts shown for exploration and evaluation assets do not necessarily represent
present or future values. Their recoverability is dependent upon the discovery of economically recoverable
reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development, and future
profitable production or proceeds from the disposition thereof.
Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the Company’s assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from
the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period. For
an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cashgenerating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Provision for environmental rehabilitation
The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations associated with
the retirement of exploration and evaluation assets and equipment, when those obligations result from the
acquisition, construction, development or normal operation of the assets. The net present value of future
rehabilitation cost estimates arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work is
capitalized to mining assets along with a corresponding increase in the rehabilitation provision in the period
incurred. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the net
present value. The rehabilitation asset is depreciated on the same basis as mining assets.
The Company’s estimates of reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory requirements,
discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future expenditures. These changes are
recorded directly to mining assets with a corresponding entry to the rehabilitation provision. The Company’s
estimates are reviewed annually for changes in regulatory requirements, discount rates, effects of inflation and
changes in estimates. Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of
reclamation costs, are charged to profit or loss for the period.
Share-based compensation
The Company grants share purchase options to acquire common shares of the Company to directors, officers,
employees and consultants. An individual is classified as an employee when the individual is an employee for
legal or tax purposes, or provides services similar to those performed by an employee.
The fair value of share purchase options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, and is recognized over the vesting period. Consideration paid for the shares on the exercise of share
purchase options is credited to share capital.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the goods or services
received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at fair value of the
share-based payment. Otherwise, share-based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services
received.
Valuation of equity units issued in private placements
The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants
issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the most easily measured
component based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.
The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be the more easily
measurable component and were valued at their fair value. The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached
warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as share-based payment reserve.
Income taxes
Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity,
in which case it is recognized in equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax
payable with regards to previous years.
Deferred tax is recorded providing for temporary differences, between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary
differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable loss; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is
based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized.
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as the
liability to pay the related dividend. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a
net basis.
Financial instruments
Financial assets
On initial recognition, financial assets are recognized at fair value and are subsequently classified and
measured at: (i) amortized cost; (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or (iii) fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets is generally based on the business model
in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. A financial asset is
measured at fair value net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition except for financial
assets at FVTPL where transaction costs are expensed. All financial assets not classified and measured at
amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held
for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value
in other comprehensive. The classification determines the method by which the financial assets are carried on
the statement of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Cash, amounts receivable, reclamation bond, note receivable and due from related parties are measured at
amortized cost with subsequent impairments recognized in profit or loss.
Impairment
An ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be recognized based
on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash flows associated with the asset is
determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between this amount and the carrying
amount as follows: the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash
flows associated with the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period.
In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets measured at amortized
cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are designated as either: (i) fair value through profit or loss; or (ii) amortized cost. All
financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost except for financial liabilities at
FVTPL. The classification determines the method by which the financial liabilities are carried on the statement
of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded. Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities are classified and measured at amortized cost on the statement of financial position.
Future accounting pronouncements
The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are not yet
effective. The Company has not early adopted the following standard and is currently evaluating the impact, if
any, that these standards might have on its consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard that sets out the principles for recognition, measurement, presentation, and
disclosure of leases including guidance for both parties to a contract, the lessee and the lessor. The new standard
eliminates the classification of leases as either operating or finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and instead
introduces a single lessee accounting model. The Company does not expect that the standard will have any
impact on its consolidated financial statements other than increased levels of note disclosure.

3.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the
Company, in order to support the acquisition, and exploration of exploration and evaluation assets. The Board
of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the
expertise of the Company's management to sustain future development of the business. Management considers
the Company’s capital structure to primarily consist of the components of shareholders’ equity.
The properties in which the Company currently has an interest are in the exploration stage; as such the Company
is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out the planned exploration and pay
for administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional amounts as
needed.
The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it
feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so.
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach,
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.
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3.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the year ended June 30, 2019.

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk
The Company's financial instruments consist of cash, amounts receivable, reclamation bond, note receivable,
due from related parties, and accounts payable. It is management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to
significant interest, currency or credit risks and that the carrying values of these financial instruments
approximate their fair values.
(i) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its
access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally
or matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities.
As at June 30, 2019, the Company had a working capital deficit of $841,447 (June 30, 2018 - working capital
deficit of $586,823). The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of
capital as well as liquidity.
(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligation. The
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash, amounts receivable, and due from related parties. The
Company’s cash is held with a major Canadian based financial institution, from which management believes
the risk of loss to be minimal.
(iii) Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices.
(a) Interest rate risk
The Company has cash balances and no interest-bearing debt as at June 30, 2019. The Company's current
policy is to invest excess cash in high yield savings accounts and guaranteed investment certificates issued by
a Canadian chartered bank with which it keeps its bank accounts. The Company periodically monitors the
investments it makes and is satisfied with the creditworthiness of its Canadian chartered bank.
(b) Foreign currency risk
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are transacted in
Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.
(c) Commodity and equity price risk
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined as
the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and
volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices, and the stock market to determine the
appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future profitability and
viability of current and future exploration and development depend upon the world market price of precious and
base metals. There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals are produced
in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.
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5.

AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE
June 30,
2019
$

Harmonized sales tax recoverable
6.

58,340

June 30,
2018
$

34,015

NOTE RECEIVABLE
During the year ended June 30, 2013, the Company acquired its subsidiary, Taman Petroleum Corporation
("Taman"). Taman has an 8% interest in a Russian private company, Techniton LLC ("Techniton"). Techniton
has a 100% interest in the South Temryuk Oil & Gas Exploration-Exploitation Licence located in the mature
Azov-Kuban petroleum region of southwest Russia. During the year ended June 30, 2013, the Company wrotedown its investment in Techniton to $nil.
During the year ended June 30, 2014, the Company loaned Techniton $300,000, proceeds from the private
placement completed during that year.
As at June 30, 2014, the Company decided to write-down the note receivable from Techniton to $1 based on
uncertainty of collection.

7.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Title to mineral property o f interests involves certain inherent risks due to the difficulties of determining
the validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous
conveyancing history characteristic of many mineral claims. The Company has investigated title to all of its
mineral property interests and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good standing. The
mineral property interests in which the Company has committed to earn an interest in are located in Canada.
Carscallen
Property

Jasper
Property
Balance, June 30, 2017
Acquisition costs – cash
Acquisition costs – shares
Consulting
Data analysis

$

Balance, June 30, 2018
Data analysis
Balance, June 30, 2019

681,120
22,257
19,729

$

723,106
$

723,106

229,000
75,000
164,500
-

Total
$

468,500
19,800
$

488,300

910,120
75,000
164,500
22,257
19,729
1,191,606
19,800

$

1,211,406
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7.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Carscallen Property, Ontario
In October 2016, the Company signed an assignment agreement (the “Agreement”) with Silk Energy Limited
formerly Inspiration Mining Corp (“Silk”), a company related by a common director, to acquire a 100% interest
in certain mining claims west of the City of Timmins known as the Carscallen Property (the “Property”). Pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the Agreement, the Company will earn the 100% interest by:





Cash payment of $40,000 on execution of this agreement (paid);
Share payment of 2,200,000 common shares of the Company (issued with a value of $193,500);
Cash payment of $20,000 on October 19, 2017 (paid); and
Cash payment of $40,000 on October 19, 2018 (paid).

The acquisition of the Property is subject to underlying conditions:


In the event that the Company is able to obtain an intersection of at least 3 grams of gold per ton over one
meter, the Company will be required to issue an additional 2,400,000 common shares to Silk;



In the event that the Company is able to establish a commercial mine of at least a 250,000 ton ore body
having a minimum grade of 2 grams of gold per ton, the Company will be required to issue an additional
2,400,000 common shares to Silk;



Upon the payment of the option payments of October 19, 2017 and 2018, the Company will have an
undivided 100% interest in the Property subject to a 2% net smelter royalty (“NSR”) in favour of the original
optionors. The Company shall have the right to purchase 1% of the 2% NSR royalty for an aggregate cash
payment of $1,000,000. In addition, the Company also assumes the obligation from Silk whereby the
Company will grant a 1% NSR in favour of the individual who assigned the original option agreement to
Silk. Under the assignment agreement between Silk and this individual, this 1% NSR can be purchased for
$2,000,000; and

During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company entered into an option agreement with two arm’s length parties
to acquire an 100% interest in claims adjacent to the Property.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company is required to pay the following as considerations:



Cash payment of $65,000 on or before January 10, 2020 ($15,000 paid); and
Share payment of 1,000,000 common shares of the Company on or before January 10, 2020 (400,000
shares issued with value of $160,000).

Jasper Property, British Columbia
Pursuant to a purchase agreement dated December 1, 2007, the Company purchased the Jasper Property from Silk in
exchange for 1,336,790 special warrants ("Silk Special Warrants") valued at $2,063,208. On November 2, 2009,
1,336,790 Silk Special Warrants were converted automatically without further consideration into 1,336,790 common
shares of the Company. The Jasper Property is located on west-central Vancouver Island, British Columbia. In May
2010, a director of Silk became a director of the Company.
During the year ended June 30, 2014, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,872,334 on the Jasper
Property due to the Company's decision to discontinue work on certain claims.
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8.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
June 30,
2019
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

June 30,
2018

$

681,640
218,500

$

497,095
174,900

$

900,140

$

671,995

During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company derecognized accounts payable totaling $103,318 to a
vendor that has suspended business and declared bankruptcy since 2015. Accordingly, the Company recorded a
gain on extinguishment of accounts payable of $103,318.
9.

SHARE CAPITAL

(a) Authorized and issued share capital
The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares, without par value and an
unlimited number of preferred shares, without par value. All issued shares are fully paid.
During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company:

i)

completed a private placement of 28,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $1,400.
Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant. Each full warrant will entitle the
holder to purchase one additional share at $0.07 until December 28, 2022. The Company issued 28,000
broker warrants as finders fees which have the same terms and conditions as the private placement
warrants.

ii) issued 428,000 common shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants for the gross proceeds of $29,960.
iii) completed a private placement of 400,000 shares at a price of $0.075 per share for gross proceeds of
$30,000.
During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company:

iv) issued 500,000 common shares with a fair value of $164,500 pursuant to the acquisition of Carscallen
Property (Note 7).
v)

issued 3,383,000 common shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants for the gross proceeds of $297,712.

vi) completed a private placement of 5,204,100 units for a gross proceeds of $260,205. Each unit consists of
one common share and one share purchase warrant. Each full warrant will entitle the holder to purchase
one additional share at $0.07 until December 28, 2022.
In connection with the issuance of the units, the Company paid finders’ fees of $21,886 in cash and issued
408,328 finders’ warrants (valued at $21,219) exercisable at $0.05 per unit until December 28, 2022. Each
unit is comprised of one common share and one warrant exercisable at $0.07 per warrant until December
28, 2022.
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10. WARRANTS
Number of
Warrants

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Balance, June 30, 2017
Granted
Exercised

4,123,500
5,612,428
(3,383,000)

Balance, June 30, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Expired

6,352,928
56,000
(428,000)
(740,500)

Balance, June 30, 2019

5,240,428

$

0.09
0.07
0.09
0.07
0.07
0.07
0.10

$

0.07

The following are the warrants outstanding at June 30, 2019:
Number of
Warrants

Exercise Price
($)

Remaining Contractual
Life (years)

Expiry Date

4,832,100
408,328

0.07
0.05

3.50
3.50

December 28, 2022
December 28, 2022

11. STOCK OPTIONS
The Company has an incentive stock option plan in place with the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSXV"), under
which it is authorized to grant options to executive officers, directors, employees and consultants. The Company
has implemented a fixed plan, whereby it may not exceed a total of 7,930,000 options under the plan. The
exercise price of the options is fixed by the Board of Directors of the Company at the time of grant, subject to all
applicable regulatory requirements. The options can be granted for a maximum term of five years and vest as
determined by the Board of Directors.
Number of
Stock Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Balance, June 30, 2017
Expired

322,100
(87,500)

Balance, June 30, 2018
Expired

234,600
(234,600)

Balance, June 30, 2019

-

$

2.00
2.00
2.00
2.00

$

-
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12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Year Ended June 30,
2019
2018
Adrea Capital Corporation (“Adrea”)
Herb Brugh
Vern Bock
Victor Cantore

i)

(i)
(ii)
(iv)
(vi)

$

60,000
108,676
36,000
37,000

$

60,000
57,440
-

$

241,676

$

99,199

D. Randall Miller, a director of Silk, a related company under common control, controls Adrea. During the
year ended June 30, 2019, the Company paid or accrued Adrea $60,000 (2018 - $60,000), in management
fees. Management fees are included in office and miscellaneous. As at June 30, 2019, this company was owed
$80,150 (June 30, 2018 - $72,995) which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Beginning
July 1, 2015, this amount bears an interest rate of 6% per annum. During the year ended June 30, 2019, the
Company accrued $nil (2018 - $nil) in interest to Adrea.

ii) For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company expensed $79,039 (2018 - $38,294) to Herb Brugh for Chief
Executive Officer fees and $29,637 (2018 - $19,146) for administration fees. Included in the June 30, 2019
accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $215,328 due to Herb Brugh (June 30, 2018 - $106,652).
iii) As at June 30, 2019, the Company owed Silk $15,521 (June 30, 2018 – Silk owed $92,112) and the amount
is unsecured and due on demand. Beginning July 1, 2015, this amount bears an interest rate of 6% per annum.
During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company accrued $nil (2018 - $nil) in interest to Silk.
iv) For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company expensed $36,000 (2018 - $nil) to Vern Bock, a director of
the Company, for consulting fees. Included in the June 30, 2019 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is
$38,002 due to Vern Bock (June 30, 2018 - $2,002).
v)

As at June 30, 2019, Martina Minerals Corp., a company related by way of a common director, owed the
Company $32,539 (June 30, 2018 - $12,629) and the amount is unsecured and due on demand.

vi) For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company expensed $37,000 (2018 - $nil) to Victor Cantore, a director
of the Company, for consulting fees. Included in the June 30, 2019 accounts payable and accrued liabilities
is $37,000 due to Victor Cantore (June 30, 2018 - $nil).
Balances due to related parties bear no interest, unless otherwise stated, are due on demand and has no fixed
term of repayment.
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13. INCOME TAXES
The reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate to income tax recovery
presented in the accompanying statements of loss and comprehensive loss is provided below:
2019
Loss before income taxes

$

(383,907)

Expected income tax (recovery)
Change in statutory, foreign tax, foreign exchange rates and other
Share issue cost
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences
Total income tax expense (recovery)

2018
$

(132,908)

(104,000)
(1,000)
105,000
$

-

(35,000)
(33,000)
(6,000)
74,000
$

-

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets that have not been included on the
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:
2019
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Exploration and evaluation assets
Share issue costs
Loans receivable
Allowable capital losses
Non-capital losses available for future period

$

Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax assets

2018

427,000
4,000
362,000
84,000
956,000
1,833,000
(1,833,000)
-

$

$

$

426,000
5,000
362,000
84,000
851,000
1,728,000
(1,728,000)
-

The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately $3,540,000 (2018 $3,150,000) which may be carried forward and applied against taxable income in future years. These losses, if
not utilized, will expire through to 2039.
Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities.
14. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
June 30,
2019
Accounting and audit fees
Investor relations
Legal fees
Office and administration (Note 12)
Consulting fees
Management fees
Rent

June 30,
2018

$

14,029
1,762
5,000
66,327
152,789
120,000
24,000

$

29,761
21,284
5,000
35,860
38,294
106,000
24,000

$

383,907

$

260,199
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YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
15. CONTINGENCIES
In August 26, 2016 litigation was commenced against the Company, its office and directors by the former
CFO and accountant for the Company’s CFO and accounting services. The Company is of the opinion that
the claim against the directors and officers is without merit. At June 30, 2018, the Company had a litigation
provision of $50,513 in regard to its litigation exposure recorded in accounts payable.
During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company entered into a final mutual release agreement to settle
the debt. The outstanding amount due to the former CFO has been reduced to $26,540. Accordingly the
Company recorded gain on extinguishment of accounts payable of $23,973.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of
Hanna Capital Corp.
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hanna Capital Corp. (the “Company”), which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the consolidated statements of
loss and comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at June 30, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company has not earned
significant revenue, has an accumulated deficit of $10,077,666 and had a working capital deficit of $847,695. The Company's
financing efforts to date, while substantial, are not sufficient in and of themselves to enable the Company to fund all aspects of
its operations.. As stated in Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:









Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Catherine Tai.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP”
Vancouver, Canada
October 28, 2020

Chartered Professional Accountants

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
AS AT JUNE 30,
2020
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Amounts receivable (Note 5)

$

Reclamation bond
Note receivable (Note 6)
Due from related parties (Note 12)
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 7)
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 8)
Loan payable (Note 14)

89,087
79,879

2019

$

168,966

58,693

5,000
1
38,997
1,037,634

5,000
1
17,018
1,211,406

$

1,250,598

$

1,292,118

$

692,110
324,551

$

900,140
-

TOTAL LIABILITIES

1,016,661

SHAREHOLDES’ EQUITY
Share capital (Note 9)
Reserves
Subscription received in advance (Note 9)
Accumulated deficit

900,140

8,641,245
1,530,115
140,243
(10,077,666)

8,641,245
1,530,115
(9,779,382)

233,937
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

$

1,250,598

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1)
Subsequent events (Note 16)
On behalf of the Board:
“Vern Bock”

Director

“Herbert Brugh”

Director

353
58,340

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

391,978
$

1,292,118

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,
2020
OPERATING EXPENSES
Accounting and audit fee
Investor relations
Legal fees
Office and administration
Consulting fees
Management fees
Rent
Interest and penalties
LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets (Note 7)
Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable and accruals

$

31,743
1,719
1,308
134,780
20,000
15,146
5,858

$

14,029
1,762
5,000
66,327
152,789
120,000
24,000
-

$

(210,554)
198,000
(110,270)

$

(383,907)
-

LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Basic and diluted loss per common share
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - Basic and diluted

2019

(298,284)
$

(0.01)

(383,907)
$

33,032,853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(0.01)
32,894,398

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30,
2020
Operating activities
Net loss for the year

$

(298,284)

Items not involving cash:
Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable
Write-down of exploration and evaluation of assets

2019
$

(383,907)

(110,270)
198,000

-

(21,539)
(97,760)
(21,979)

(24,325)
228,145
-

(351,832)

(180,087)

(24,228)

(19,800)

(24,228)

(19,800)

Financing activities
Advances (to)/from related party
Proceeds from the issuance of share capital
Proceeds from loans received
Proceeds from warrants exercised
Proceeds from subscription received in advance

324,551
140,243

87,723
31,400
29,960
-

Net cash provided by financing activities

464,794

149,083

88,734

(50,804)

353

51,157

Change in non-cash working capital:
Amounts receivables
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets
Net cash used in investing activities

Net change in cash during the year
Cash – beginning of year
Cash – end of year

$

89,087

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$

353

33,032,853
33,032,853

Balance at June 30, 2019
Subscription received in advance
Net loss for the year

Balance at June 30, 2020
$

$

8,641,245

8,641,245
-

8,579,885
31,400
29,960
-

Share Capital

$

$

1,530,115

1,530,115
-

1,530,115
-

Reserve

$ 140,243

140,243
-

-

Subscription
received in advance

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

32,176,853
428,000
428,000
-

Balance at June 30, 2018
Shares issued for private placements
Warrants exercised
Net loss for the year

Shares

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

$

$

(10,077,666)

(9,779,382)
(298,284)

(9,395,475)
(383,907)

Deficit

$

$

233,937

391,978
140,243
(298,284)

714,525
31,400
29,960
(383,907)

Total

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN
Hanna Capital Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada on June 1, 2004
under the name of “Assal Metallo, Inc.”. On June 20, 2007, the Company was continued under the laws of the
Province of Alberta and on July 19, 2007, it was continued under the laws of the Province of Ontario, at which
time the name was changed to Nitinat Minerals Corporation pursuant to Articles of Continuance dated June 22,
2007. On October 17, 2019, the Company changed its name to Hanna Capital Corp. The primary office of the
Company is located at 1800-130 King Street West, Toronto, ON, M5X 1E3. The Company’s shares are traded on
the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) under the stock symbol HCC.
These consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis of presentation, which assumes
that the Company will continue operations for the foreseeable future and be able to realize the carrying value
of its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. To date, the
Company has not earned significant revenue and has an accumulated deficit of $10,077,666. The Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to obtain additional financing and or
achieve profitable operations in the future. These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments
that would be necessary if the going concern assumption was not appropriate. These adjustments could be
material.
The Company's financing efforts to date, while substantial, are not sufficient in and of themselves to enable the
Company to fund all aspects of its operations. Management will pursue funding initiatives if, as and when
required to meet the Company's requirements on an ongoing basis. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that
these initiatives will be successful or sufficient.
As at June 30, 2020, the Company had a working capital deficit of $847,695. As the Company is in the
exploration and evaluation stage, the Company has not identified a known body of commercial grade
mineral on any of its properties. The ability of the Company to realize the costs it has incurred to date on
these properties is dependent upon the Company identifying a commercial mineral body, to finance its
exploration and evaluation costs and to resolve any environmental, regulatory or other constraints, which
may hinder the successful exploration and evaluation of the property. The Company has financed its
activities through the issuance of equity securities and debt financing. The Company expects to use similar
financing techniques in the future and is pursuing such additional sources of financing as estimated to be
required to sufficiently support its operations until such time that its operations become self-sustaining.
To date, the Company has not earned any revenues. These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This
contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health
developments, have adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially
leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude
of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or results of operations at
this time.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements, including comparatives have been prepared using accounting policies
consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
(“IFRIC”).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments that have been measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries. In addition, these
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HANNA CAPITAL CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow
information.
The policies applied in the consolidated financial statements are presented below and are based on IFRS’ issued
and outstanding as of October 28, 2020 the date the Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial
statements.
Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Taman Petroleum Corporation ("Taman") which is inactive. All intercompany transactions, balances,
income and expenses are eliminated upon consolidation.
Subsidiaries are those entities which the Company controls by having the power to govern the financial and
operating policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is obtained by the Company and are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.
New accounting standards adopted:
IFRS 16 – Leases
IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognize, measure, present and disclose leases. The IASB issued
IFRS 16, Leases, in January 2016, which replaces the current guidance in IAS 17. Under IAS 17, lessees were
required to make a distinction between a finance lease and an operating lease. IFRS 16 requires lessees to
recognize a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a “right-of-use asset” for virtually all lease
contracts. The IASB has included an optional exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets.
The Company adopted this standard effective July 1, 2019 and it did not have any material impacts on the
consolidated financial statements upon adopting the standard.
Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately
may differ from those estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
(i) Critical accounting estimates
Critical accounting estimates are estimates and assumptions made by management that may result in a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and are, but are not limited
to, the following:
The carrying value and the recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets - Management has determined that
exploration and evaluation costs incurred which were capitalized may have future economic benefits and may be
economically recoverable. Management uses several criteria in its assessments of economic recoverability and
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HANNA CAPITAL CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
probability of future economic benefits including geologic and other technical information, scoping and feasibility
studies, accessibility of facilities and existing permits.
Share-based compensation - The fair value of stock options issued are subject to the limitation of the BlackScholes option pricing model which incorporates market data and which involves uncertainty and subjectivity in
estimates used by management in the assumptions. Changes in the input assumptions can materially affect the
fair value estimate of stock options.
Recovery of deferred tax assets - Judgment is required in determining whether deferred tax assets are recognized
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unutilized
tax losses, require management to assess the likelihood that the Company will generate taxable earnings in future
periods, in order to utilize recognized deferred tax assets. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast
cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future
cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Company to realize the net
deferred tax assets recorded at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position could be impacted.
Additionally, future changes in tax laws in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates could limit the ability
of the Company to obtain tax deductions in future periods.
The Company has not recorded any deferred tax assets.
(ii) Critical accounting judgments
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are, but are not limited to, the following:
Determination of functional currency - In accordance with IAS 21, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates” management determined that the functional currency of the parent Company as well as the Company’s
subsidiaries is the Canadian dollar.
Foreign exchange
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates and
has been determined for each entity within the Company. The functional currency for all entities within the
Company is the Canadian dollar. The functional currency determinations were conducted through an analysis of
the consideration factors identified in International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 21, The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates.
Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recorded at exchange rates prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company that
are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange at the statement of financial position
date while non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical rates. Revenues and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates approximating those in effect on the date of the transactions. Exchange gains and
losses arising on translation are reflected in profit or loss for the period.
Earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”)
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated by
dividing the earnings (loss) attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the period. The dilutive effect on earnings per share is calculated presuming
the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and similar instruments. It assumes that the proceeds of such exercise
would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the period.
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HANNA CAPITAL CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
However, the calculation of diluted loss per share excludes the effects of various conversions and exercise of
options and warrants that would be anti-dilutive.
Exploration and evaluation assets
Upon acquiring the legal right to explore a property, costs related to the acquisition, exploration and evaluation
of exploration and evaluation assets are capitalized by property until the commencement of commercial
production. If commercially profitable ore reserves are developed, capitalized costs of the related exploration and
evaluation assets are reclassified as mining assets and amortized using the unit of production method. If, after
management review, it is determined that capitalized exploration and evaluation costs are not recoverable over
the estimated economic life of the exploration and evaluation assets, or the exploration and evaluation assets are
abandoned, or management deems there to be an impairment in value, the exploration and evaluation assets is
written down to its net realizable value.
Any option payments received by the Company from third parties or tax credits refunded to the Company are
credited to the capitalized cost of the exploration and evaluation assets. If payments received exceed the
capitalized cost of the exploration and evaluation assets, the excess is recognized as gain on option agreement in
the year received. The amounts shown for exploration and evaluation assets do not necessarily represent present
or future values. Their recoverability is dependent upon the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the
ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development, and future profitable
production or proceeds from the disposition thereof.
Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the Company’s assets are reviewed to determine whether there is an indication
that those assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the
asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period. For an asset that does
not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit
to which the asset belongs.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Provision for environmental rehabilitation
The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations associated with the
retirement of exploration and evaluation assets and equipment, when those obligations result from the acquisition,
construction, development or normal operation of the assets. The net present value of future rehabilitation cost
estimates arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work is capitalized to mining
assets along with a corresponding increase in the rehabilitation provision in the period incurred. Discount rates
using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the net present value. The
rehabilitation asset is depreciated on the same basis as mining assets.
The Company’s estimates of reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory requirements,
discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future expenditures. These changes are
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HANNA CAPITAL CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

recorded directly to mining assets with a corresponding entry to the rehabilitation provision. The Company’s
estimates are reviewed annually for changes in regulatory requirements, discount rates, effects of inflation and
changes in estimates. Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of
reclamation costs, are charged to profit or loss for the period.
Share-based compensation
The Company grants share purchase options to acquire common shares of the Company to directors, officers,
employees and consultants. An individual is classified as an employee when the individual is an employee for
legal or tax purposes or provides services similar to those performed by an employee.
The fair value of share purchase options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, and is recognized over the vesting period. Consideration paid for the shares on the exercise of share
purchase options is credited to share capital.
In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the goods or service
received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at fair value of the
share-based payment. Otherwise, share-based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services
received.
Valuation of equity units issued in private placements
The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants issued
as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the most easily measured component
based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.
The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be the more easily
measurable component and were valued at their fair value. The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached
warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as share-based payment reserve.
Income taxes
Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity,
in which case it is recognized in equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable
with regards to previous years.
Deferred tax is recorded providing for temporary differences, between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary
differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable loss; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is
based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized.
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as the
liability to pay the related dividend. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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HANNA CAPITAL CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets
On initial recognition, financial assets are recognized at fair value and are subsequently classified and measured
at: (i) amortized cost; (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or (iii) fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets is generally based on the business model in which
a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. A financial asset is measured at fair
value net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition except for financial assets at FVTPL
where transaction costs are expensed. All financial assets not classified and measured at amortized cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held for trading, the
Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other
comprehensive income (loss). The classification determines the method by which the financial assets are carried
on the statement of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded.
Cash and receivables are measured at amortized cost with subsequent impairments recognized in profit or loss.
Impairment
An ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be recognized based on
expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash flows associated with the asset is determined
and an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between this amount and the carrying amount as follows:
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash flows associated with
the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly or through the use of
an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period. In a subsequent period,
if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets measured at amortized cost decreases, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognized.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are designated as either: (i) fair value through profit or loss; or (ii) amortized cost. All
financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost except for financial liabilities at
FVTPL. The classification determines the method by which the financial liabilities are carried on the statement
of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded. Amounts payable and
accrued liabilities and loans payable are classified and measured at amortized cost on the statement of financial
position.

3.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the
Company, in order to support the acquisition, and exploration of exploration and evaluation assets. The Board
of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the
expertise of the Company's management to sustain future development of the business. Management considers
the Company’s capital structure to primarily consist of the components of shareholders’ equity.
The properties in which the Company currently has an interest are in the exploration stage; as such the Company
is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out the planned exploration and pay
for administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional amounts as
needed.
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3.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it
feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so.
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach,
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.
There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the year ended June 30, 2020.

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk
The Company's financial instruments consist of cash, amounts receivable, reclamation bond, note receivable,
due from related parties, and accounts payable. It is management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to
significant interest, currency or credit risks and that the carrying values of these financial instruments
approximate their fair values.
(i) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations
as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the
capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters
specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities.
As at June 30, 2020, the Company had a working capital deficit of $847,695 (June 30, 2019 - working capital
deficit of $841,447). The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of
capital as well as liquidity.
(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligation. The
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash, amounts receivable, and due from related parties. The
Company’s cash is held with a major Canadian based financial institution, from which management believes
the risk of loss to be minimal.
(iii) Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices.
(iv) Interest rate risk
The Company has cash balances and no interest-bearing debt as at June 30, 2020. The Company's current policy
is to invest excess cash in high yield savings accounts and guaranteed investment certificates issued by Canadian
chartered bank with which it keeps its bank accounts. The Company periodically monitors the investments it
makes and is satisfied with the creditworthiness of its Canadian chartered bank.
(v) Foreign currency risk
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are transacted in
Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.
(vi) Commodity and equity price risk
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined as the
potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities.
The Company closely monitors commodity prices, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of
action to be taken by the Company.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future profitability and
viability of current and future exploration and development depend upon the world market price of precious and
base metals. There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals are produced
in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.
5.

AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE
June 30,
2020
$

Harmonized sales tax recoverable
6.

79,879

June 30,
2019
$

58,340

NOTE RECEIVABLE
During the year ended June 30, 2013, the Company acquired its subsidiary, Taman Petroleum Corporation
("Taman"). Taman has an 8% interest in a Russian private company, Techniton LLC ("Techniton"). Techniton
has a 100% interest in the South Temryuk Oil & Gas Exploration-Exploitation Licence located in the mature
Azov-Kuban petroleum region of southwest Russia. During the year ended June 30, 2013, the Company wrotedown its investment in Techniton to $nil.
During the year ended June 30, 2014, the Company loaned Techniton $300,000, proceeds from the private
placement completed during that year.
As at June 30, 2014, the Company decided to write-down the note receivable from Techniton to $1 based on
uncertainty of collection.

7.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Title to mineral property o f interests involves certain inherent risks due to the difficulties of determining
the validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous
conveyancing history characteristic of many mineral claims. The Company has investigated title to all of its
mineral property interests and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good standing. The
mineral property interests in which the Company has committed to earn an interest in are located in Canada.

Carscallen
Property

Jasper
Property
Balance, June 30, 2018
Data analysis

$

Balance, June 30, 2019
Data analysis
Survey and assessment
Write-off
Balance, June 30, 2020

723,106
-

$

723,106
19,228
$

742,334

468,500
19,800

Total
$

488,300
5,000
(198,000)
$

295,300

1,191,606
19,800
1,211,406
19,228
5,000
(198,000)

$

1,037,634

Carscallen Property, Ontario
In October 2016, the Company signed an assignment agreement (the “Agreement”) with Silk Energy Limited
formerly Inspiration Mining Corp (“Silk”) to acquire a 100% interest in certain mining claims west of the City of
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HANNA CAPITAL CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
Timmins known as the Carscallen Property (the “Property”). Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Agreement, the Company will earn the 100% interest by:





Cash payment of $40,000 on execution of this agreement (paid);
Share payment of 2,200,000 common shares of the Company (issued with a value of $193,500);
Cash payment of $20,000 on October 19, 2017 (paid); and
Cash payment of $40,000 on October 19, 2018 (paid).

The acquisition of the Property is subject to underlying conditions:


In the event that the Company is able to obtain an intersection of at least 3 grams of gold per ton over one
meter, the Company will be required to issue an additional 2,400,000 common shares to Silk;



In the event that the Company is able to establish a commercial mine of at least a 250,000 ton ore body
having a minimum grade of 2 grams of gold per ton, the Company will be required to issue an additional
2,400,000 common shares to Silk;



Upon the payment of the option payments of October 19, 2017 and 2018, the Company will have an
undivided 100% interest in the Property subject to a 2% net smelter royalty (“NSR”) in favour of the original
optionors. The Company shall have the right to purchase 1% of the 2% NSR royalty for an aggregate cash
payment of $1,000,000. In addition, the Company also assumes the obligation from Silk whereby the
Company will grant a 1% NSR in favour of the individual who assigned the original option agreement to
$2,000,000.

During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company entered into an option agreement with two arm’s length parties
to acquire an 100% interest in claims adjacent to the Property.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company is required to pay the following as considerations:



Cash payment of $65,000 on or before January 10, 2020 ($15,000 paid); and
Share payment of 1,000,000 common shares of the Company on or before January 10, 2020 (400,000
shares issued with value of $160,000).

During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company did not make the required option payments under the
agreement and had no intention to continue work on the claims. Accordingly, the Company has written off related
costs totaling $198,000 with respect to these claims.
Jasper Property, British Columbia
Pursuant to a purchase agreement dated December 1, 2007, the Company purchased the Jasper Property from Silk in
exchange for 1,336,790 special warrants ("Silk Special Warrants") valued at $2,063,208. On November 2, 2009,
1,336,790 Silk Special Warrants were converted automatically without further consideration into 1,336,790 common
shares of the Company. The Jasper Property is located on west-central Vancouver Island, British Columbia. In May
2010, a former director of Silk became a director of the Company.
8.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
June 30,
2020
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

$

612,090
80,020

June 30,
2019
$

681,640
218,500
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$
9.

692,110

$

900,140

SHARE CAPITAL
(a) Authorized and issued share capital
The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares, without par value and an
unlimited number of preferred shares, without par value. All issued shares are fully paid.
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company did not issue any shares.
i)

the Company received a subscription in advance for the amount of $140,243.

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company:
i)

completed a private placement of 28,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $1,400.
Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant. Each full warrant will entitle the
holder to purchase one additional share at $0.07 until December 28, 2022. The Company issued 28,000
broker warrants as finders fees which have the same terms and conditions as the private placement
warrants.

ii) issued 428,000 common shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants for the gross proceeds of $29,960.
iii) completed a private placement of 400,000 shares at a price of $0.075 per share for gross proceeds of
$30,000.
10.

WARRANTS
Number of
Warrants
Balance, June 30, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Expired

6,352,928
56,000
(428,000)
(740,500)

Balance, June 30, 2019
Granted
Exercised

5,240,428
-

Balance, June 30, 2020

5,240,428

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$

0.07
0.07
0.07
0.10
0.07
-

$

0.07

The following are the warrants outstanding at June 30, 2020:
Number of
Warrants

Exercise Price
($)

Remaining Contractual
Life (years)

Expiry Date

4,832,100
408,328

0.07
0.05

2.50
2.50

December 28, 2022
December 28, 2022
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11. STOCK OPTIONS
The Company has an incentive stock option plan in place with the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSXV"), under
which it is authorized to grant options to executive officers, directors, employees and consultants. The Company
has implemented a fixed plan, whereby it may not exceed a total of 7,930,000 options under the plan. The
exercise price of the options is fixed by the Board of Directors of the Company at the time of grant, subject to all
applicable regulatory requirements. The options can be granted for a maximum term of five years and vest as
determined by the Board of Directors.
Number of
Stock Options
Balance, June 30, 2018
Expired

234,600
(234,600)

Balance, June 30, 2019

-

Balance, June 30, 2020

-

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$

2.00
2.00
-

$

-

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Year Ended June 30,
2020
2019
Adrea Capital Corp.
Herb Brugh
Vern Bock
Victor Cantore

(i)
(ii)
(iv)
(vi)

60,000
20,000
$

20,000

60,000
108,676
36,000
37,000
$

241,676

i.

D. Randall Miller, a key consultant for the Company, controls Adrea. During the year ended June 30, 2020, the
Company paid or accrued Adrea $60,000 (2019 - $60,000), in management fees. Management fees are included
in office and miscellaneous. As at June 30, 2020, the Company was owed $9,727 (June 30, 2019 – payable of
$80,150) which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

ii.

For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company expensed $nil (2019 - $108,676) to Herb Brugh for Chief
Executive Officer fees and administration fees. Included in the June 30, 2020 accounts payable and accrued
liabilities is $215,328 due to Herb Brugh (June 30, 2019 - $215,328).

iii.

As at June 30, 2020, the Company owed Silk $15,521 (June 30, 2019 – Silk owed $15,521) which is included
in due to/from related parties and the amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

iv.

For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company expensed $nil (2019 - $36,000) to Vern Bock, a director of the
Company, for consulting fees. Included in the June 30, 2020 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $38,002
due to Vern Bock (June 30, 2019 - $38,002).

v.

As at June 30, 2020, Martina Minerals Corp., a company related by way of a common director, owed the
Company $54,518 (June 30, 2019 - $32,539) and the amount is unsecured and due on demand.

vi.

For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company expensed $20,000 (2019 - $37,000) to Victor Cantore, a director
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of the Company, for consulting fees. Included in the June 30, 2020 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is
$57,000 due to Victor Cantore (June 30, 2019 - $37,000).
Balances due to related parties bear no interest, unless otherwise stated, are due on demand and has no fixed
term of repayment.
13. INCOME TAXES
The reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate to income tax recovery
presented in the accompanying statements of loss and comprehensive loss is provided below:
2020
Loss before income taxes

$

(298,284)

Expected income tax (recovery)
Change in statutory, foreign tax, foreign exchange rates and other
Permanent differences
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences
Total income tax expense (recovery)

2019
$

(81,000)
1,000
(30,000)
110,000
$

-

(383,907)
(104,000)
(1,000)
105,000

$

-

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets that have not been included on the
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:
2020
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Exploration and evaluation assets
Share issue costs
Loans receivable
Allowable capital losses
Non-capital losses available for future period
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax assets

$

$

481,000
2,000
362,000
84,000
1,014,000
1,943,000
(1,943,000)
-

2019
$

$

427,000
4,000
362,000
84,000
956,000
1,833,000
(1,833,000)
-

The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately $3,755,000 (2019 $3,540,000) which may be carried forward and applied against taxable income in future years. These losses, if
not utilized, will expire through to 2040.
Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities.
14. LOAN PAYABLE
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company received a loan from JB Consolidated Estates Ltd totaling
$324,551. The loans are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. During the year ended June 30,
2020, JB Consolidated Estates Ltd. assigned $12,500 of the outstanding loan to John Gould.
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15.

SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company operates in a single segment: the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties in Canada. The
Company’s exploration and evaluation assets are located in Canada.

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to year end, the Company received regulatory approval to settle outstanding debt of $661,998 with
the issuance of 13,239,964 common shares (the “Common Share Units”) at $0.05 per unit and 12,079,964
common share purchase warrants (a “Warrant”). Each purchase warrant is exercisable for one common share of
the Company at $0.08 per share for a period of two years.
In addition, the Company received regulatory approval to close a non-brokered private placement (the “Private
Placement”). The Company intends to issue of 10,000,000 units (the “Units”) at a price of $0.05 per unit. Each
unit consists of one common share and one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant will entitle the holder
thereof to acquire one common share of the Company (each a “Warrant share”) at a price of $0.08 per Warrant
Share for a period of 24 months following the date of issuance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of
Hanna Capital Corp.
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hanna Capital Corp. (the “Company”), which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2021 and 2020 and the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at June 30, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company has not earned
significant revenue, has an accumulated deficit of $10,622,482 and had a working capital deficit of $173,578. The Company's
financing efforts to date, while substantial, are not sufficient in and of themselves to enable the Company to fund all aspects of
its operations. As stated in Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:









Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Catherine Tai.

Vancouver, Canada
October 28, 2021

Chartered Professional Accountants

Hanna Capital Corp.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As at June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2021
$

ASSETS
Current
Cash
Investment (Note 11)
Sales tax receivable
Due from related party (Note 9)
Reclamation bond
Notes receivable (Note 4)
Due from related party (Note 9)
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 5)
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Loan payable (Note 10)
Total liabilities
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note 6)
Reserves
Subscriptions received in advance
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

116,309
58,500
108,229
57,353
340,391

89,087
79,879
168,966

5,000
1
39,518
1,037,634
1,422,544

5,000
1
38,997
1,037,634
1,250,598

476,903
37,066
513,969

692,110
324,551
1,016,661

9,998,880
1,532,177
(10,622,482)
908,575
1,422,544

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1)
Commitments (Note 15)

Approved on behalf of the Board:
“Victor Cantore”, Director
(signed)

“Herbert Brugh”, Director
(signed)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2020
$

8,641,245
1,530,115
140,243
(10,077,666)
233,937
1,250,598

Hanna Capital Corp.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Expenses
Accounting and audit fees
Investor relations
Legal fees
Office and administration
Consulting fees
Management and director fees (Note 9)
Rent
Interest and penalties
Net loss before undernoted

2021
$

2020
$

33,720
7,668
48,711
65,000
225,000
4,015
1,264

31,743
1,719
1,308
134,780
20,000
15,146
5,858

(385,378)

(210,554)

4,500

-

Realized gain on settlement of due from related party (Note 11)

(18,000)

-

Loss on settlement of debt (Note 6)
Foreign exchange loss
Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets (Note 5)
Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable

198,599
32
(25,693)

198,000
(110,270)

(544,816)

(298,284)

(0.011)

(0.009)

Unrealized loss on investment (Note 11)

Net loss and comprehensive loss
Loss per share - basic and diluted
Weighted average number of outstanding common shares basic and diluted

50,329,044

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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33,032,853

8,641,245
860,597
500,000
(900)
(2,062)
9,998,880

140,243
(140,243)
-

140,243
-

$

Subscription
received
in advance

1,530,115
2,062
1,532,177

1,530,115
1,530,115

$

Reserve

7
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33,032,853
13,239,964
10,000,000
56,272,817

Balance, June 30, 2020
Shares issued for debt conversion (Note 6)
Shares issued for private placement (Note 6)
Share issuance costs
Issuance of broker warrants (Note 7)
Net loss for the year
Balance, June 30, 2021

8,641,245
8,641,245

$

#
33,032,853
33,032,853

Capital

Common Shares

Balance, June 30, 2019
Subscription received in advance
Net loss for the year
Balance, June 30, 2020

Share

Number of

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Hanna Capital Corp.

(10,077,666)
(544,816)
(10,622,482)

(9,779,382)
(298,284)
(10,077,666)

$

Deficit

Accumulated

233,937
860,597
359,757
(900)
(544,816)
908,575

391,978
140,243
(298,284)
233,937

$

Total

Hanna Capital Corp.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Operating activities
Net loss for the year
Items not involving cash:
Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable
Write-down of exploration and evaluation of assets
Unrealized loss on investment
Realized gain on settlement of due from related party
Realized loss on settlement of debt
Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Sales tax receivable
Due from related parties
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets
Net cash used in investing activites

2021
$

2020
$

(544,816)

(298,284)

(25,693)
4,500
(18,000)
198,599

(110,270)
198,000
-

(28,350)
(27,681)
159,791
(281,650)

(21,539)
(21,979)
(97,760)
(351,832)

-

(24,228)
(24,228)

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares
Share issue costs
Proceeds from loans received
Proceeds from subscription received in advance
Proceeds from financing activities

309,772
(900)
308,872

324,551
140,243
464,794

Net increase in cash
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

27,222
89,087
116,309

88,734
353
89,087

Supplementary cash flow information:
Non-cash transactions:
Shares issued for the settlement of debt
Loan payable applied to share subscription
Settlement of due from related party through receipt of shares

661,998
49,985
45,000

-

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Hanna Capital Corp.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN
Hanna Capital Corp. (the “Company” or “Corporation”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of
Nevada on June 1, 2004. The Company is in the business of acquiring and exploring mineral properties in
Canada. The primary office of the Company is located at 1800-130 King Street West, Toronto, ON, M5X
1E3. The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) under the stock symbol
HCC.
These consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis of presentation, which
assumes that the Company will continue operations for the foreseeable future and be able to realize the
carrying value of its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. The
Company has not earned significant revenue and as at June 30, 2021 had an accumulated deficit of
$10,622,482 (June 30, 2020 - $10,077,666). The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is
dependent upon its ability to obtain additional financing and or achieve profitable operations in the future.
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going
concern assumption was not appropriate. These adjustments could be material.
The Company's financing efforts to date, while substantial, are not sufficient in and of themselves to enable
the Company to fund all aspects of its operations. Management will pursue funding initiatives if, as and when
required to meet the Company's requirements on an ongoing basis. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that
these initiatives will be successful or sufficient.
As at June 30, 2021, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $173,578 (June 30, 2020 – $847,695).
As the Company is in the exploration and evaluation stage, the Company has not identified a known body of
commercial grade mineral on any of its properties. The ability of the Company to realize the costs it has
incurred to date on these properties is dependent upon the Company identifying a commercial mineral body,
to finance its exploration and evaluation costs and to resolve any environmental, regulatory or other
constraints, which may hinder the successful exploration and evaluation of the property. The Company has
financed its activities through the issuance of equity securities and debt financing. The Company expects to
use similar financing techniques in the future and is pursuing such additional sources of financing as estimated
to be required to sufficiently support its operations until such time that its operations become self-sustaining.
To date, the Company has not earned any revenues. These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Since March 2020, the outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, specifically identified as “COVID-19”, has
resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. These
measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine periods and physical
distancing, have caused material disruption to business globally resulting in an economic slowdown. Global
equity markets have experienced significant volatility and weakness. The duration and impact of the COVID19 outbreak is unknown currently. It is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of these
developments and the impact on the financial results and condition of the Company in future periods. The
outbreak was declared a pandemic by World Health Organization and the actual and threatened spread of
COVID-19 globally could adversely impact the Company’s ability to carry out its plans and raise capital.
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Hanna Capital Corp.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of Compliance
These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries were prepared using
accounting policies consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations
Committee (“IFRIC”).
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on October
28, 2021.
(b) Basis of Presentation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except where
otherwise disclosed. Historical cost is based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets. In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting, except for cash flow information.
(c) Functional and Presentation Currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (“$”). The functional currency
of the Company, as determined by management, is Canadian dollars.
(d) Use of Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions,
actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
(i) Critical accounting estimates
Critical accounting estimates are estimates and assumptions made by management that may result in a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and are,
but are not limited to, the following:
The carrying value and the recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets - Management has
determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred which were capitalized may have future
economic benefits and may be economically recoverable. Management uses several criteria in its
assessments of economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefits including geologic
and other technical information, scoping and feasibility studies, accessibility of facilities and existing
permits.
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Hanna Capital Corp.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Share-based compensation - The fair value of stock options and warrants issued are subject to the
limitation of the Black-Scholes option pricing model which incorporates market data and which involves
uncertainty and subjectivity in estimates used by management in the assumptions. Changes in the input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate of stock options and warrants.
Recovery of deferred tax assets - Judgment is required in determining whether deferred tax assets are
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets, including those arising
from unutilized tax losses, require management to assess the likelihood that the Company will generate
taxable earnings in future periods, in order to utilize recognized deferred tax assets. Estimates of future
taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws
in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from
estimates, the ability of the Company to realize the net deferred tax assets recorded at the date of the
consolidated statement of financial position could be impacted.
Additionally, future changes in tax laws in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates could limit
the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in future periods.
The Company has not recorded any deferred tax assets.
(ii) Critical accounting judgments
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are, but are not limited to, the
following:
Determination of functional currency - In accordance with IAS 21, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates” management determined that the functional currency of the parent Company as well as
the Company’s subsidiaries is the Canadian dollar.
(e) Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiary, Taman Petroleum Corporation ("Taman") which is inactive. All
intercompany transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated upon consolidation.
Subsidiaries are those entities which the Company controls by having the power to govern the financial
and operating policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Company and are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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Hanna Capital Corp.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Foreign exchange
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates
and has been determined for each entity within the Company. The functional currency for all entities within
the Company is the Canadian dollar. The functional currency determinations were conducted through an
analysis of the consideration factors identified in International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 21, The Effects
of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recorded
at exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, the monetary
assets and liabilities of the Company that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of
exchange at the statement of financial position date while non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at
historical rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rates approximating those in effect on
the date of the transactions. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation are reflected in profit or loss for
the year.
Earnings (loss) per share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated by
dividing the earnings (loss) attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period. The dilutive effect on earnings per share is
calculated presuming the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and similar instruments. It assumes that
the proceeds of such exercise would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during
the period. However, the calculation of diluted loss per share excludes the effects of various conversions and
exercise of options and warrants that would be anti-dilutive.
Exploration and evaluation assets
Upon acquiring the legal right to explore a property, costs related to the acquisition, exploration and evaluation
of exploration and evaluation assets are capitalized by property until the commencement of commercial
production. If commercially profitable ore reserves are developed, capitalized costs of the related exploration
and evaluation assets are reclassified as mining assets and amortized using the unit of production method. If,
after management review, it is determined that capitalized exploration and evaluation costs are not recoverable
over the estimated economic life of the exploration and evaluation assets, or the exploration and evaluation
assets are abandoned, or management deems there to be an impairment in value, the exploration and evaluation
assets is written down to its net realizable value.
Any option payments received by the Company from third parties or tax credits refunded to the Company are
credited to the capitalized cost of the exploration and evaluation assets. If payments received exceed the
capitalized cost of the exploration and evaluation assets, the excess is recognized as gain on option agreement
in the year received. The amounts shown for exploration and evaluation assets do not necessarily represent
present or future values. Their recoverability is dependent upon the discovery of economically recoverable
reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development, and future
profitable production or proceeds from the disposition thereof
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Hanna Capital Corp.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Valuation of equity units issued in private placements
The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants
issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the most easily measured
component based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.
The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be the more easily
measurable component and were valued at their fair value. The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached
warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as share-based payment reserve.
Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the Company’s assets are reviewed to determine whether there is an
indication that those assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained
from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or
loss for the period. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or
cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or
loss.
Provision for environmental rehabilitation
The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations associated with
the retirement of exploration and evaluation assets and equipment, when those obligations result from the
acquisition, construction, development or normal operation of the assets. The net present value of future
rehabilitation cost estimates arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work is
capitalized to mining assets along with a corresponding increase in the rehabilitation provision in the period
incurred. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the net
present value. The rehabilitation asset is depreciated on the same basis as mining assets. The Company’s
estimates of reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory requirements, discount rates
and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future expenditures. These changes are recorded
directly to mining assets with a corresponding entry to the rehabilitation provision. The Company’s estimates
are reviewed annually for changes in regulatory requirements, discount rates, effects of inflation and changes
in estimates. Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of reclamation
costs, are charged to profit or loss for the period.
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Hanna Capital Corp.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based compensation
The Company grants share purchase options to acquire common shares of the Company to directors, officers,
employees and consultants. An individual is classified as an employee when the individual is an employee for
legal or tax purposes or provides services similar to those performed by an employee. The fair value of share
purchase options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and is
recognized over the vesting period. Consideration paid for the shares on the exercise of share purchase options
is credited to share capital. In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or
all of the goods or service received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are
measured at fair value of the share-based payment. Otherwise, share-based payments are measured at the fair
value of goods or services received.
Income taxes
Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in
equity, in which case it is recognized in equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for
amendments to tax payable with regards to previous years.
Deferred tax is recorded providing for temporary differences, between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following
temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes; the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable loss; and differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position
date.
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilized.
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as the
liability to pay the related dividend. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets
On initial recognition, financial assets are recognized at fair value and are subsequently classified and
measured at: (i) amortized cost; (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or (iii) fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets is generally based on the business
model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. A financial asset is
measured at fair value net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition except for financial
assets at FVTPL where transaction costs are expensed. All financial assets not classified and measured at
amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not
held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair
value in other comprehensive income (loss). The classification determines the method by which the financial
assets are carried on the statement of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are
recorded.
Cash, receivables and due from related party are measured at amortized cost with subsequent impairments
recognized in profit or loss. Investment is classified and measured at FVTPL.
Impairment
An ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be recognized based
on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash flows associated with the asset is
determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between this amount and the carrying
amount as follows: the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash
flows associated with the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period.
In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets measured at amortized
cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are designated as either: (i) fair value through profit or loss; or (ii) amortized cost. All
financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost except for financial liabilities
at FVTPL. The classification determines the method by which the financial liabilities are carried on the
statement of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded. Amounts
payable and accrued liabilities and loans payable are classified and measured at amortized cost on the
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
4.

NOTE RECEIVABLE
During the year ended June 30, 2013, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of
Taman Petroleum Corporation ("Taman"). Taman has an 8% interest in a Russian private company, Techniton
LLC ("Techniton"). Techniton has a 100% interest in the South Temryuk Oil & Gas Exploration-Exploitation
Licence located in Russia. During the year ended June 30, 2013, the Company wrote- down its investment in
Techniton to $Nil.
During the year ended June 30, 2014, the Company loaned Techniton $300,000 for development purposes (the
“Note Receivable). As at June 30, 2014, the Note Receivable was deemed impaired and the Company wrotedown the Note Receivable from Techniton to $1 based on uncertainty of collection.
As at June 30, 2021, the Note Receivable amounted to $1 (June 30, 2020 - $1).

5.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Title to mineral property of interests involves certain inherent risks due to the difficulties of determining the
validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous
conveyancing history characteristic of many mineral claims. The Company has investigated title to all of its
mineral property interests and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good standing. The
mineral property interests in which the Company has committed to earn an interest in are located in Canada.
Jasper Property

Carscallen
Property

$
Balance, June 30, 2019

723,106

Data analysis

Total
$

488,300

$
1,211,406

19,228

-

19,228

Survey and assessment

-

5,000

5,000

Impairment

-

Balance, June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2021

742,334

(198,000)
295,300

(198,000)
1,037,634

Carscallen Property, Ontario
In October 2016, the Company signed an assignment agreement (the “Agreement”) with Silk Energy Limited
(“Silk”), a company previously related by a common director, to acquire a 100% interest in certain mining
claims west of the City of Timmins known as the Carscallen Property (the “Property”). Pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the Agreement, the Company will earn the 100% interest by:





Cash payment of $40,000 on execution of this agreement (paid);
Share payment of 2,200,000 common shares of the Company (issued with a value of $193,500);
Cash payment of $20,000 on October 19, 2017 (paid); and
Cash payment of $40,000 on October 19, 2018 (paid).

16

Hanna Capital Corp.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
5.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued)
The acquisition of the Property is subject to underlying conditions:


In the event that the Company is able to obtain an intersection of at least 3 grams of gold per ton
over one meter, the Company will be required to issue an additional 2,400,000 common shares to
Silk;



In the event that the Company is able to establish a commercial mine of at least a 250,000 ton ore
body having a minimum grade of 2 grams of gold per ton, the Company will be required to issue
an additional 2,400,000 common shares to Silk; and



Upon the payment of the option payments of October 19, 2017 and 2018, the Company will have an
undivided 100% interest in the Property subject to a 2% net smelter royalty (“NSR”) in favour of
the original optionors. The Company shall have the right to purchase 1% of the 2% NSR royalty for
an aggregate cash payment of $1,000,000. In addition, the Company also assumes the obligation
from Silk whereby the Company will grant a 1% NSR in favour of the individual who assigned the
original option agreement to Inspiration. Under the assignment agreement between Silk and this
individual, this 1% NSR can be purchased for $2,000,000;

During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company entered into an option agreement with two arm’s length
parties to acquire an 100% interest in claims adjacent to the Property.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company is required to pay the following as considerations:



Cash payment of $65,000 on or before January 10, 2020 ($15,000 paid); and
Share payment of 1,000,000 common shares of the Company on or before January 10, 2020 (400,000
shares issued of $160,000).

During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company did not make the required option payments under the
agreement and had no intention to continue work on the claims. Accordingly, the Company has written off
related costs totaling $198,000 with respect to these claims.
Jasper Property, British Columbia
The Company owns a 100% interest in another property located on West-Central Vancouver Island,
British Columbia.
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6.

SHARE CAPITAL
(a) Authorized and issued share capital

The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares, without par value
and an unlimited number of preferred shares, without par value. All issued shares are fully paid.
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company:
i)

issued 7,579,964 units (the “Settlement Units”) to the arm’s length parties in exchange for the
cancellation of an aggregate of $378,998 in debt owning to the arm’s length parties and 1,160,000
common shares (the “Settlement Shares”) and 4,500,000 Settlement Units to non-arm’s length
parties in exchange for the $283,000 in debt owing to the parties. The Settlement Units and
Settlement Shares were issued at $0.065. Each Settlement Unit is comprised of one (1) common
share and one (1) common share purchase warrant (“Settlement Warrant”). Each Settlement
Warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one (1) common share of the Company at an exercise
price of $0.08 per share until September 15, 2022. The Company valued the Settlement Shares and
Settlement Units at $860,597 and recorded a loss on settlement of debt in the amount of $198,599;
and

ii) issued an aggregate of 10,000,000 units (the “Units”) of the Company at a price of $0.05 per Unit for

gross proceeds of $500,000 (the “Offering”). Each Unit is comprised of one common share and one
common share purchase warrant (the “Warrant”). Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one
common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.08 per share until October 23, 2022. In
connection with the Offering, the Company paid finders’ fees of $900 in cash and issued 18,000 broker
warrants (the “Broker Warrants”). Each Broker Warrant is exercisable at $0.05 per Broker Warrant
into one unit of the Company at an exercise price of $0.05 per share until October 23, 2022 (the “Broker
Units”). Each Broker Unit is comprised of one common share and one common share purchase warrant
(the “Broker Unit Warrant”). Each Broker Unit Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common
share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.08 per share until October 23, 2022. The Broker
Warrants were valued as per Note 7.

7.

WARRANTS
Share Purchase Warrants

Number of
Warrants

Balance, June 30, 2020 and 2019

Weighted
Exercise Price
Average
$

Granted

5,240,428
22,079,964

Balance, June 30, 2021

27,320,392

$

18

0.07
0.08
0.08

Hanna Capital Corp.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
7.

WARRANTS (continued)

The following are the share purchase warrants outstanding as at June 30, 2021:

4,832,100

0.07

Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)
1.50

408,328

0.05

1.50

28-Dec-22

12,079,964

0.08

1.21

15-Sep-22

10,000,000

0.08

1.32

23-Oct-22

Number of
Warrants

Exercise Price ($)

Expiry Date
28-Dec-22

Broker Warrants
Number of
Warrants
Balance, June 30, 2020 and 2019

Weighted
Exercise Price
Average
-

Granted

18,000

Balance, June 30, 2021

18,000

0.05
$

0.05

The following are the broker warrants outstanding as at June 30, 2021:
Number of
Warrants
18,000

Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)
1.32

Exercise Price ($)
0.05

Expiry Date
23-Oct-22

On October 23, 2021, the Company issued 18,000 Broker Warrants exercisable until October 23, 2022 at an
exercise price of $0.05 per Broker Warrant. Each Broker Warrant is exercisable into one common share and
one share purchase warrant of the Company. The Company recorded a value of $2,062. The fair value of
the Brokers Warrants was recorded as share issuance costs estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions: volatility of 158%, risk-free interest rate of 0.21%, expected life of
2 years and expected dividend yield of 0.00%.
8.

STOCK OPTIONS
The Company has an incentive stock option plan in place with the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSXV"), under
which it is authorized to grant options to executive officers, directors, employees and consultants. The
Company has implemented a fixed plan, whereby it may not exceed a total of 7,930,000 options under the
plan. The exercise price of the options is fixed by the Board of Directors of the Company at the time of grant,
subject to all applicable regulatory requirements. The options can be granted for a maximum term of five years
and vest as determined by the Board of Directors. The Company did not have any stock options outstanding
as at June 30, 2019, 2020 and 2021.
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9.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, including any
directors (executive and nonexecutive) of the Company.
i)

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed $20,000 (2020 - $Nil) to Herb
Brugh for Chief Executive Officer fees and for administration fees. As at June 30, 2021, the
Company owed $20,000 (June 30, 2020 - $215,328) to Herb Brugh which is included in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities;

ii) During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed $40,000 (2020 - $20,000) to Victor

Cantore, a director of the Company, for consulting fees. Consulting fees are included in office
and miscellaneous. Included in the June 30, 2021 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $97,000
due to Victor Cantore (June 30, 2020 - $57,000);

iii) During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed $70,000 (2020 - $Nil) to John Gould,

a director of the Company, for management fees. Included in the June 30, 2021 accounts payable
and accrued liabilities is $70,000 due to John Gould (June 30, 2020 - $Nil);

iv) During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed $5,000 (2020 - $Nil) to Jim Davis, the

Chief Financial Officer of the Company, for management fees. Included in June 30, 2021 accounts
payable and accrued liabilities is $5,000 due to Jim Davis (June 30, 2020 - $Nil);

v)

As at June 30, 2021, Vern Bock, a former director of the Company, was owed $Nil (June 30, 2020
- $38,002);

vi) During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed to Adrea Capital Corp., a key consultant

to the Company, $90,000 in consulting fees (2020 - $60,000). As at June 30, 2021, the Company was
owed $57,353 (2020 - $9,727), which is included in due from related party (2020 – accounts payable
and accrued liabilities); and

vii) As at June 30, 2021, Martina Minerals Corp., a corporation related by way of a common director,

owed the Company $39,518 (June 30, 2020 - $54,518) which is included in due from related party
and the amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. The Company settled a portion
of this amount as noted in Note 11.

Balances due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing (unless otherwise stated), and have
no fixed terms of repayment.
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10. LOAN PAYABLE
As at June 30, 2021, the Company owed JB Consolidated Estates Ltd. $37,066 (June 30, 2020 - $324,551).
The loan payable is unsecured, non-interesting bearing and due on demand.
11. INVESTMENT
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company entered into a debt settlement agreement (the “Debt
Settlement”) with Martina Minerals Corp pursuant to which the Company settled $45,000 of debt in
exchange for 900,000 common shares of Martina Minerals Corp. at a price of $0.07 per common share (the
“Martina Shares”), resulting in a gain on the settlement of debt in the amount of $18,000 on the date of the
Debt Settlement.
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded an unrealized loss on Martina Shares in the
amount of $4,500. As at June 30, 2021, the investment in related party amounted to $58,500 (June 30, 2020
- $Nil).
12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK FACTORS
Financial risk management
The Company’s financial risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by
the Company, to set acceptable risk tolerance limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.
The financial risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to ensure they remain consistent
with the objectives and risk tolerance acceptable to the Company and current market trends and conditions.
The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to upload a disciplined
and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligation
Measurement and classification of financial instruments
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy
according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair
value hierarchy are:
 Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly; and
 Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market date.
The Company’s financial instruments are cash, investment, due from related party, accounts payable and notes
payable. The fair value of the Company’s accounts payable and notes payable approximate carrying value,
due to their short terms to maturity.
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below.
The Company is exposed to credit risk, currency risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
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12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK FACTORS (continued)
Risk management policies
The Company, through its financial assets and liabilities, is exposed to various risks. The Company has
established policies and procedures to manage these risks, with the objective of minimizing any adverse effect
that changes in these variables could have on these consolidated financial statements. The following analysis
provides a measurement of risks as at June 30, 2021:
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk. Sales tax
receivable are sales tax refunds due from the Canadian government.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due
within one year. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it
will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. As at June 30, 2021,
there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern primarily due to its
history of losses. Liquidity risk continues to be a key concern in the development of future operations.
Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rates on all of the Company’s existing debt are
fixed, and therefore it is not currently subject to any significant cash flow interest rate risk.
(ii) Foreign currency risk
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the degree
of volatility in these rates due to the timing of their accounts payable balances. The risk is mitigated by
timely payment of creditors and monitoring of foreign exchange fluctuations by management. As at June
30, 2021, the Company did not use derivative instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.
(iii) Price risk
The Company’s operations do not involve the direct input or output of any commodities and therefore it is
not subject to any significant commodity price risk. The Company has equity investments in another listed
public company, as noted per Note 11 and is subject to any significant stock market price risk.
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13. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company’s objectives when managing its capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern, to meet its capital expenditures for its continued operations, and to maintain a flexible capital
structure which optimizes the cost of capital within a framework of acceptable risk.
The Company manages its capital structure and adjusts it in light of changes in economic conditions and the
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may
issue new shares, issue new debt, or acquire or dispose of assets. The Company is not subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach,
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There have been no changes to the Company’s capital
management approach during the year ended June 30, 2021. The Company considers its cash and items
within shareholders’ equity as capital.
14. INCOME TAXES
The reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate to income tax recovery
presented in the accompanying statements of loss and comprehensive loss is provided below:
2021
$

Loss for the year
Expected income tax (recovery)
Change in statutory, foreign tax, foreign exchange rates and other
Permanent differences
Adjustment to prior years provision versus statutory tax returns and expiry of non-capital losses
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences
Total income tax expense (recovery)

$

$

2020

(544,816) $

(298,284)

(147,000) $
7,000
1,000
(77,000)
216,000
-

(81,000)
1,000
(30,000)
110,000

$

-

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets that have not been included on the
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:
2021

Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Exploration and evaluation assets
Share issue costs
Loan receivable
Allowable capital losses
Non-capital losses available for future periods

$

Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax assets

$

23

296,000 $
1,000
362,000
92,000
1,408,000
2,159,000
(2,159,000)
$

2020
481,000
2,000
362,000
84,000
1,014,000
1,943,000
(1,943,000)
-
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14. INCOME TAXES (continued)
The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately $5,216,000 (2020
- $3,755,000) which may be carried forward and applied against taxable income in future years. These losses,
if not utilized, will expire as noted below:
Temporary Differences
Non-capital losses available for future periods
Canada

2021

Expiry Date Range

5,216,000 2025 to 2041
5,216,000 2025 to 2041

2020

3,755,000
3,755,000

Expiry Date Range
2025 to 2040
2025 to 2040

Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities.
15. COMMITMENTS
Aside from monthly fees payable to the board of directors and officers, the Company did not have any longterm commitments as at June 30, 2021.

24

SCHEDULE “B”
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
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Year Ended June 30, 2019
Discussion dated: October 29, 2019

Introduction

The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of the
operations of Hanna Capital Corp (“Hanna” or the “Company”) constitutes management’s review of the factors that
affected the Company’s financial and operating performance for the year ended June 30, 2019. This MD&A has been
prepared in compliance with the requirements of National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
This discussion should be read in conjunction with the audited annual consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, together with the notes thereto. Results are reported in
Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted. The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the financial
information contained in this MD&A are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). Information contained herein is presented as of October 29, 2019, unless
otherwise indicated.
For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, considers the
materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, or would reasonably
be expected to result in, a significant change in the market price or value of Hanna common shares; or (ii) there is a
substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii)
it would significantly alter the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the
Board of Directors, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market
sensitivity.
Information about the Company and its operations can be obtained from the offices of the Company or from
www.sedar.com.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information
Certain statements contained in this MD&A and in certain documents incorporated by reference in this MD&A,
constitute forward-looking information and forward-looking statements, as defined in applicable securities laws
(collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future events or the
Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements.
Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects”,
“is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, “projects”, “predicts”, “intends”,
“anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such words and phrases, or statements that certain
actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved.
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual
results to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements
in this MD&A speak only as of the date of (i) this MD&A or (ii) as of the date specified in such statement. The
following table outlines certain significant forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A and provides the
material assumptions used to develop such forward-looking statements and material risk factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements.
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Forward-looking statements
Assumptions
Potential
of
the
Company’s Financing will be available for future
properties to contain economic
exploration and development of the
deposits of gold and/or other Company’s properties; the actual results of
metals.
the Company’s exploration and evaluation
activities will be favourable; operating and
exploration costs will not exceed the
Company’s expectations; the Company will
be able to retain and attract skilled staff; all
requisite regulatory and governmental
approvals for exploration projects and other
operations will be received on a timely basis
upon terms acceptable to the Company, and
applicable
political
and
economic
conditions are favourable to the Company;
the price of gold and/or other applicable
metals and applicable interest and exchange
rates will be favourable to the Company; no
title disputes exist with respect to the
Company’s properties.
While the Company has no source
of revenue, it believes it can obtain
sufficient cash resources to meet its
administrative overhead and maintain
its mineral investments for the twelve
month period to June 30, 2020
depending on future events.
The Company expects to incur further
losses in the development of its
business.
The Company’s ability to carry out
anticipated
exploration
on its
property interests.

Risk factors
Gold price volatility; uncertainties
involved in interpreting geological
data and confirming title to acquired
properties; the possibility that future
exploration results will not be consistent
with
the
Company’s expectations;
availability of financing for and actual
results of the Company’s exploration and
evaluation activities; increases in costs;
environmental compliance and changes in
environmental and other local legislation
and regulation; interest rate and exchange
rate fluctuations; changes in economic
and political conditions; the Company’s
ability to retain and attract skilled staff;
availability of permits.

The operating and exploration activities
of the Company for the twelve month period
to June 30, 2020, and the costs associated
therewith, will be consistent with the
Company’s current expectations; debt and
equity markets, exchange and interest rates
and other applicable economic conditions
are favourable to the Company.

Changes in debt and equity markets;
timing and availability of external
financing on acceptable terms; changes in
the operations currently planned for fiscal
2020; increases in costs; environmental
compliance and changes in environmental
and other local legislation and regulation;
interest rate and exchange rate
fluctuations; changes in
economic
conditions.

The exploration activities of the
Company for the twelve month period
ending June 30, 2020, and the costs
associated therewith, will be consistent with
the Company’s current expectations; debt
and equity markets, exchange and interest
rates and other applicable economic
conditions are favourable to the Company.

Changes in debt and equity markets;
timing and availability of external
financing on acceptable terms; increases
in costs; changes in the operations
currently planned for fiscal 2020;
environmental compliance and changes in
environmental and other local legislation
and regulation; interest rate and exchange
rate fluctuations; changes in economic
conditions; receipt of applicable permits.
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Plans, costs, timing and capital for
future exploration and evaluation of the
Company’s
property
interests,
including the costs and potential
impact of complying with existing and
proposed laws and regulations.

Financing will be available for the
Company’s exploration and evaluation
activities and the results thereof will be
favourable;
actual
operating
and
exploration costs will be consistent with the
Company’s current expectations; the
Company will be able to retain and attract
skilled staff; all applicable regulatory and
governmental approvals for exploration
projects and other operations will be
received on a timely basis upon terms
acceptable to the Company; the Company
will not be adversely affected by market
competition; debt and equity markets,
exchange and interest rates and other
applicable
economic
and
political
conditions are favourable to the Company;
the price of gold and/or other applicable
metals will be favourable to the Company;
no title disputes exist with respect to the
Company’s properties.

Gold price volatility, changes in debt
and equity markets; timing and
availability of external financing on
acceptable terms; the uncertainties
involved in interpreting geological data
and confirming title to acquired
properties; the possibility that future
exploration results will not be consistent
with the Company’s expectations;
increases
in
costs; environmental
changes
in
compliance
and
environmental and other local legislation
and regulation; interest rate and
exchange rate fluctuations; changes in
economic and political conditions; the
Company’s ability to retain and attract
skilled staff; availability of permits;
market competition.

Management’s outlook regarding
future trends, including the future
price of gold and availability of
future financing.

Financing will be available for the
Company’s exploration and operating
activities; the price of gold and/or other
applicable metals will be favourable to the
Company.
Actual costs of the various expenses of the
budget are consistent with the costs
that management anticipates.

Gold price volatility; changes in debt
and equity markets; interest rate and
exchange rate fluctuations; changes
in economic and political conditions;
availability of financing.
Costs could vary from management’s
expectations.

New targets are not discovered that take
precedence over existing targets.

Management may change its plans
based on future exploration results.

The price of gold, oil and gas will be
favourable; debt and equity markets,
interest and exchange rates and other
economic factors which may impact the
price of gold, oil and gas will be
favourable.

Changes in debt and equity markets and
the spot price of gold, oil and gas;
interest rate and exchange rate
fluctuations; changes in economic and
political conditions.

All properties will be on care and
maintenance until a financing can
be completed, and/or a favourable
strategic
partnership
or
monetization is arranged.
The Company will continue
to
focus its exploration efforts on
existing targets located on the
Jasper Property.
Prices and price volatility for gold, oil
and gas.

Inherent in forward-looking statements are risks, uncertainties and other factors beyond Hanna’s ability to predict or
control. Please also make reference to those risk factors referenced in the “Risks and Uncertainties” section below.
Readers are cautioned that the above chart does not contain an exhaustive list of the factors or assumptions that may
affect the forward-looking statements, and that the assumptions underlying such statements may prove to be incorrect.
Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A.
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Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause Hanna’s actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any of its future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All forward looking statements here
in are qualified by this cautionary statement. Accordingly, readers should not
place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update
publicly or otherwise revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information or
future events or otherwise, except as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more
forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect
to those or other forward-looking statements, unless required by law.

Description of Business
The Company was incorporated pursuant to the laws of the State of Nevada on June 1, 2004, under the name
of Assal Metallo, Inc. On June 20, 2007, the Company was continued in the Province of Alberta pursuant to
the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta). On July 19, 2007, the Company was continued in
the Province of Ontario pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the name
Nitinat Minerals Corporation. On October 17, 2019, the Company changed its name to Hanna Capital Corp.
The Company obtained the rights to acquire a 100% interest in the Jasper property on Vancouver Island, British
Columbia, from Silk Energy Limited formerly Inspiration Mining Corporation (“Silk”), pursuant to and subject
to the terms and conditions contained in the Jasper purchase agreement (as defined herein). Exploration of the
Jasper property targets the location of polymetallic, massive sulphide deposits.

Overall Performance
The Company’s focus has been on acquiring and exploring key properties, such as the Jasper Property and
Carscallen Property. The Company’s goal is to continue and expand its exploration programs in order to
evaluate the economic potential of each of its projects.
The Board of Directors and management of Hanna will continue to monitor the financial and commodity
markets and their effect on Hanna’s business.
At June 30, 2019, the Company had a working capital deficit of $841,447 compared to a working capital deficit
of $586,823 at June 30, 2018. The increase in working capital deficit of $254,624 is a result of a decrease in
current assets and an increase in current liabilities during the period. The Company had current liabilities of
$900,140 at June 30, 2019, compared to current liabilities balance of $671,995 at June 30, 2018. The increase
in current liabilities during the year ended June 30, 2019, is primarily due to an increase in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities.

Trends
Due to the decline in commodity prices, market participants have re-evaluated their positions and are
exercising far greater discipline, caution and depth of analysis when evaluating current and future investment
opportunities. Merger and acquisition activity has slowed, share prices for resource companies are down,
resource funds have experienced significant redemptions as investors reallocate their funds, and the ability to
raise equity financing for exploration projects has been substantially curtailed. As a result, funding for junior
exploration companies remains difficult in the current economic environment resulting in management decisions
to modify programs and their time frames for completion.
Apart from these and the risk factors noted under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties” and “Cautionary Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Information”, management is not aware of any other trends, commitments,
events or uncertainties that would have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition
or results of operations.
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Mineral Property Interests
Carscallen Property, Ontario
In October 2016, the Company signed an asset purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with Silk Energy Limited
formerly Inspiration Mining Corp (“Silk”) to acquire a 100% interest in certain mining claims west of the City
of Timmins known as the Carscallen Property (the “Property”). Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Agreement, the Company will earn the 100% interest by:





Cash payment of $40,000 on execution of this agreement (paid);
Share payment of 2,200,000 common shares of the Company (issued with value of $193,500);
Cash payment of $20,000 on October 19, 2017 (paid); and
Cash payment of $40,000 on October 19, 2018 (paid).

The acquisition of the Property is subject to underlying conditions:


In the event that the Company is able to obtain an intersection of at least 3 grams of gold per ton over one
meter, the Company will be required to issue an additional 2,400,000 common shares to Silk;



In the event that the Company is able to establish a commercial mine of with at least a 250,000 ton ore
body having a minimum grade of 2 grams of gold per ton, the Company will be required to issuance an
additional 2,400,000 common shares to Silk;



Upon the payment of the option payments of October 19, 2016 and 2017, the Company will have an
undivided 100% interest in the Property subject to a 2% net smelter royalty (“NSR”) in favour of the
original optionors. The Company shall have the right to purchase 1% of the 2% NSR royalty for an
aggregate cash payment of $1,000,000. In addition, the company also assumes the obligation from Silk
whereby the Company will grant a 1% NSR in favour of the individual who assigned the original option
agreement to Silk. Under the assignment agreement between Silk and this individual, this 1% NSR can
be purchased for $2,000,000; and

During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company entered into an option agreement with two arm’s length parties
to acquire an 100% interest in additional claims to Carscallen Property.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company is required to pay the following as considerations:



Cash payment of $65,000 on or before January 10, 2020 ($15,000 paid); and
Share payment of 1,000,000 common shares of the Company on or before January 10, 2020 (400,000 shares
issued with value of $160,000).

Jasper Property, British Columbia
Pursuant to a purchase agreement dated December 1, 2007, and effective July 30, 2007, between the Company
and Silk, as amended (the “Jasper purchase agreement”), the Company purchased the Jasper property from Silk
in exchange for 1,336,790 special warrants of the Company (the “Silk Special Warrants”) valued at $2,063,208.
After completion of the initial public offering, all 1,336,790 Silk Special Warrants were converted to 1,336,790
common shares of the Company. These shares were placed in escrow pursuant to an escrow agreement between
Silk, Olympia Financial Group Inc. and the Company. As of November 2, 2010, all the shares were released
from escrow. The Jasper property is located on west-central Vancouver Island, British Columbia.
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Current and Future Plans Related to the Jasper Property
During May 2018, the Company announced that the work on its 100% owned Jasper Property is underway and
is more exciting than ever.
The Jasper Property is located in west-central Vancouver Island, BC, Canada. The Property consists of nine
contiguous claims which cover 3978 hectares and is 100% owned and operated by Hanna Capital Corp.
The Jasper Main Grid area is underlain by apparently conformable lithological horizons including an eastern
felsic volcanic (dacite or rhyodacite) horizon and a western mafic volcanic (basalt) horizon separated by a central
intermediate volcanic horizon. Lithological contacts strike N-S and are offset by cross faults which strike NWSE. Fifteen polymetallic sulphide zones have been discovered in outcrop over a 2.75 km. strike length within
the Main Grid area. Select outcrop sampling of these zones has yielded values up to 20% Lead, 25% Zinc, 15%
Copper, 61 g/t Silver and 0.21 g/t Gold from separate samples taken from different zones. A 2.25 km. length by
0.5 km wide polymetallic soil geochemistry anomaly is coincident with the area of polymetallic zones, and
roughly coincident with the central intermediate volcanic horizon.
The Jasper Property is hosted in a belt of rocks mapped as upper Triassic to lower Jurassic Bonanza group. The
belt trends southeasterly from Nitinat Lake through Gordon River, south of Cowichan Lake. The Bonanza belt
is flanked to the west and east by Paleozoic Sicker Group rocks which host the economically important Myra
Falls Massive Sulphide district located approximately 120 kilometres to the northwest, and the Lara Massive
Sulphide district located approximately 50 kilometres to the east.
A north trending gossanous alteration zone with a strike length greater than four kilometers underlies the Jasper
Property from Caycuse Creek in the south to the Nitinat River in the north. The alteration zone is characterized
by argillization, silicification and pervasive pyrite flooding. The alteration zone is generally concordant with the
foliation and stratigraphy throughout its strike length. The Jasper Main Grid area is partially underlain by the
intense alteration zone.
Modeling and 3-D inversion of the 2008 airborne magnetic and electromagnetic data was completed for a portion
of the Jasper Property during late 2017. Magnetic inversion established low susceptibility bodies coincident with
polymetallic zones surrounded by narrow, vertical high susceptibility pipes. Preliminary electromagnetic
inversion established a 2 Layer resistivity model consisting of a thick high resistivity layer from surface to 300600 m. depth overlying a thin, sub-horizontal to undulating low resistivity (high conductivity) layer. The deep
high conductivity layer could represent a sedimentary, replacement, epithermal or metallic sulphide horizon, and
has never been tested by drilling.
Two to four deep (750 m.) diamond drill holes are proposed to test the sub-horizontal conductive layer where it
is coincident with the area of low magnetic susceptibility and underlies polymetallic soil geochemical anomalies
and 14 of 15 known polymetallic mineral occurrences. Downhole EM surveys should be included as part of the
drilling program.
A property-wide isopach map of the conductive horizon is being generated by a qualified and experienced
geophysicist to better interpret the lateral extent, depth and varying thickness of that horizon for optimization of
drilling targets. The exploration permit for the Jasper Property allows for up to 4,000 metres of drilling and is
being maintained in good standing.
During July 2015, the Company completed a GPS-line controlled geological mapping and litho- geochemical
sampling program over a three by one kilometer area across and surrounding all the known copper-zinc-leadsilver occurrences on the Jasper Property. Both the mapping and the sampling were conducted along 200 m
spaced E-W GPS control lines and 51 rock samples were taken at 400 m intervals along those lines and over
100 structural measurements were taken from over 100 outcrops. In addition, one new quartz-sulphide was
located and sampled in a small subcrop exposure located between the Jasper and Tam MINFILE occurrences.
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In August 2015, litho-geochemistry and rock geochemistry results were received from AGAT Laboratories.
The results are still being compiled, evaluated and interpreted and the Company will report same when ready.
Preliminary evaluation of litho-geochemistry results suggest that some outcrops mapped as intermediate
volcanics may actually be altered mafic or felsic volcanics. Geochemical results from the new quartz-sulphide
discovery yielded 24.7% zinc, 0.388% copper, 0.176% cadmium, 74 ppm tellurium, 2.9 g/t silver and 0.128
g/t gold. The zinc assay is the highest obtained to date from the Jasper Property.
The 2015 field program was designed to establish geological, structural and alteration settings, signatures and
controls for the numerous clustered massive sulphide and quartz-sulphide occurrences found to date on the
Jasper Property. Final interpretation of the results from program will be used in conjunction with previous rock
and soil geochemistry and airborne geophysics to help design a diamond drilling program.
The field work program was supervised by Jacques Houle, P.Eng., a Qualified Person pursuant to National
Instrument 43-101.
The following table summarizes the Company’s current exploration programs at the Jasper Property, total
estimated cost to complete each exploration program, and total expenditures incurred to date. For more
information about exploration expenditures incurred by category, please see “Additional Disclosure for
Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue” below.
Activities Completed
Exploration Program
Year ended
(expected completion)
June 30, 2018
None at this time
GPS-line controlled
geological mapping and
litho-geochemical
sampling program

(A)
Estimated Cost to
Plans for the Project
Complete
Care and maintenance until
$nil
a financing can be
completed, and/or a
favourable strategic
partnership or
monetization is arranged

(B)
Spent
$2,595,440

A diamond drill program
will be implemented when
the Company has sufficient
funds

Subtotal
Total (A+B)

$nil

$2,595,440
$2,595,440

During fiscal 2014, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,872,334 on the Jasper property. The
Company decided to write down the Jasper property to Silk’s original cost of $633,235. As at June 30, 2019
the carrying value of the Jasper property is $723,106.
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Selected Annual Financial Information
The following is selected financial data derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
company at June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 and for the years ended June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
Year Ended
June 30, 2019

Year Ended
June 30, 2018

Year Ended
June 30, 2017

Total Revenues

$nil

$nil

$nil

Net loss (1)(2)

$383,907

$132,908

$282,592

Net loss per share – basic (3)(4)

$0.01

$0.01

$0.01

Net loss per share – diluted (3)(4)

$0.01

$0.01

$0.01

Year Ended
June 30, 2019

Year Ended
June 30, 2018

Year Ended
June 30, 2017

$1,292,118

$1,386,520

$932,093

Total non-current financial liabilities

$nil

$nil

$nil

Distribution or cash dividends

$nil

$nil

$nil

Total assets

(1) Loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent, in total;
(2) Loss attributable to owner of the parent, in total;
(3) Loss from continuing operating attributable to owners of the parent, on a per-share and diluted per
share basis;
(4) Loss attributable to owners of the parent, on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and declared
per-share for each class of share.
The net loss for the year ended June 30, 2019, consisted primarily of general and administrative of $383,907.
The net loss for the year ended June 30, 2018, consisted primarily of general and administrative of $260,199
and a gain on extinguishment of accounts payable of $127,291.
The net loss for the year ended June 30, 2017, consisted primarily of general and administrative of $214,904
and loss on settlement of accounts payable of $67,688.
As the company has no revenue, its ability to fund its operations is dependent upon securing financing. See
“Trends” and “Risks and Uncertainties”.
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Selected Quarterly Information
Net
Revenues
($)

Total
($)

Per Share
($)

June 30, 2019

-

(114,134)

(0.00)

March 31, 2019

-

(110,320)

(0.00)

December 31, 2018

-

(114,944)

(0.00)

September 30, 2018

-

(44,509)

(0.00)

June 30, 2018

-

83,018

(0.00)

March 31, 2018

-

(109,476)

(0.00)

December 31, 2017

-

(60,017)

(0.00)

September 30, 2017

-

(46,433)

(0.00)

The income realized in the quarter ended June 30, 2018 was primarily a result of a gain on the extinguishment
of accounts payable of $127,291.

Results of Operations
The Company is an exploration-stage mineral resources entity and, at present, has no projects that generate
operating cash flows. To date, funding of the Company’s exploration activities has been accomplished by
private placements of its shares and the proceeds of a prospectus offering.
Year ended June 30, 2019, compared with year ended June 30, 2018
The Company’s net loss totalled $383,907 for the year ended June 30, 2019, with basic and diluted loss per
share of $0.01. This compares with net loss of $132,908 with basic and diluted loss per share of $0.01 for the
year ended June 30, 2018. The increase of $250,999 in net loss was principally because of:


Office and miscellaneous expenses during the period of $339,116 (2018 – $180,154)



Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable during the period of $nil (2018 – $127,291)
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Liquidity and Financial Position
The Company derives no income from operations, as all of its projects since inception have been exploration
projects. Accordingly, the activities of the Company have been financed by cash raised through private
placements of common shares and its initial public offering. As the Company does not expect to generate cash
flows from operations in the near future, it will continue to rely primarily upon the sale of common shares to
raise capital. As a result, the availability of financing, as and when needed, to fund the Company’s activities,
cannot be assured.
During the year ended June 30, 2019, the company:

i)

completed a private placement of 28,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $1,400.
Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant. Each full warrant will entitle
the holder to purchase one additional share at $0.07 until December 28, 2022. The Company issued
28,000 broker warrants as finders fees which have the same terms and conditions as the private
placement warrants.
ii) Issued 428,000 common shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants for the gross proceeds of $29,960.
iii) completed a private placement of 400,000 shares at a price of $0.075 per share for gross proceeds of
$30,000.
As at June 30, 2019, the Company owed Silk $15,521 (June 30, 2018 – Silk owed $92,112) and the amount is
non-interest bearing, unsecured and due on demand.
Based on the rate of expenditure above, the Company will have to raise equity capital in the remainder of fiscal
2020 in amounts sufficient to fund both exploration work and working capital requirements. The major
variables are expected to be the size, timing and results of the Company’s exploration program and its ability
to continue to access capital to fund its ongoing operations. Any further exploration programs on the Jasper
property and any increase in its ownership in Techniton are subject to the Company raising capital. It is
anticipated that payments on select accounts payable will be deferred until a financing is completed. The
Company has a cash balance of $353 at June 30, 2019 (June 30, 2018 – $51,157) and does not have sufficient
liquid assets to fund its operating expenses at current levels. Activities are currently funded by loans from
related parties. There can be no assurance that should additional financing from related parties or others be
required, it will be available at all, or on terms acceptable to the Company. Should the Company not raise
sufficient capital, it may cease to be a reporting issuer. However, to meet long-term business plans, the
Company must complete a financing and develop its property interests.

Related Party Transactions
Related parties include the Board, officers, key management personnel, close family members and
enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions. Key
management personnel are those having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, including any directors (executive and non- executive) of the
Company.
The terms and conditions of the transactions with key management personnel and their related parties were no
more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, to similar
transactions to non-key management personnel related entities on an arm’s length basis.
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The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties:
2019
Adrea Capital Corporation (“Adrea”)
Herb Brugh
Vern Bock
Victore Cantore

i)

(i)
(ii)
(iv)
(vi)

June 30,

2018

$

60,000
108,676
36,000
37,000

$

60,000
57,440
-

$

241,676

$

99,199

D. Randall Miller, a director of Silk, a related company under common control, controls Adrea. During the year
ended June 30, 2019, the Company paid or accrued Adrea $60,000 (2018 - $60,000), in management fees.
Management fees are included in office and miscellaneous. As at June 30, 2019, this company was owed $80,150
(June 30, 2018 - $72,995) which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Beginning July 1, 2015,
this amount bears an interest rate of 6% per annum. During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company accrued
$nil (2018 - $nil) in interest to Adrea.

ii) For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company expensed $79,039 (2018 - $38,294) to Herb Brugh for Chief
Executive Officer fees and $29,637 (2018 - $19,146) for administration fees. Included in the June 30, 2019 accounts
payable and accrued liabilities is $215,328 due to Herb Brugh (June 30, 2018 - $106,652).
iii) As at June 30, 2019, the Company owed Silk $15,521 (June 30, 2018 – Silk owed $92,112) and the amount is
unsecured and due on demand. Beginning July 1, 2015, this amount bears an interest rate of 6% per annum. During
the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company accrued $nil (2018 - $nil) in interest to Silk.
iv) For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company expensed $36,000 (2018 - $nil) to Vern Bock, a director of the
Company, for consulting fees. Included in the June 30, 2019 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $38,002 due
to Vern Bock (June 30, 2018 - $2,002).
v)

As at June 30, 2019, Martina Minerals Corp., a company related by way of a common director, owed the Company
$32,539 (June 30, 2018 - $12,629) and the amount is unsecured and due on demand.

vi) For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company expensed $37,000 (2018 - $nil) to Victor Cantore, a director of the
Company, for consulting fees. Included in the June 30, 2019 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $37,000 due
to Victor Cantore (June 30, 2018 - $nil).
Balances due to related parties bear no interest bear no interest, unless otherwise stated, are due on demand and has
no fixed term of repayment.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any off-balance-sheet arrangements that have, or are
reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Company,
including, and without limitation, such considerations as liquidity, capital expenditures and capital resources that
would be material to investors.

Changes in Accounting Policies
Please refer to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019 located on
www.sedar.com.
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New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
Please refer to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019 located on www.sedar.com.

Capital Management
The Company manages its capital with the following objectives:


To ensure sufficient financial flexibility to achieve the ongoing business objectives including the funding of
future growth opportunities, and the pursuit of accretive acquisitions; and



To maximize shareholder return.

The Company monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments according to market conditions in an effort to
meet its objectives given the current outlook of the business and industry in general. The Company may manage its
capital structure by issuing new shares, repurchasing outstanding shares, adjusting capital spending, or disposing of
assets. The capital structure is reviewed by management and the Board of Directors on an ongoing basis.
The Company considers its capital to be equity, which comprises share capital, reserves and accumulated deficit,
which at June 30, 2019, totaled $391,978 (June 30, 2018 – $714,525).
The Company manages capital through its financial and operational forecasting processes. The Company reviews its
working capital and forecasts its future cash flows based on operating expenditures, and other investing and financing
activities. The forecast is updated based on activities related to its exploration and evaluation assets. Selected
information is provided to the Board of Directors of the Company.
The Company's capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the year
ended June 30, 2019. The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a lending institution or
regulatory body, other than Policy 2.5 of the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) which requires adequate working
capital or financial resources of the greater of (i) $50,000 and (ii) an amount required in order to maintain operations
and cover general and administrative expenses for a period of 6 months. As of June 30, 2019, the Company is not
compliant with Policy 2.5. The impact of this violation is not known and is ultimately dependent on the discretion of
the TSXV.
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Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of:
Description
Cash
Reclamation bond
Note receivable
Due from related parties

Description
Accounts payable

June 30, 2019
$
353
5,000
1
17,018

June 30, 2018
$
51,157
5,000
1
104,741

June 30, 2019
$
900,140

June 30, 2018
$
671,995

The Company's financial instruments consist of cash, reclamation bond, receivables, note receivable, accounts
payable and due to related party. It is management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest,
currency or credit risks and that the carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their fair values.
(i)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations as
they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital
market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the
Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at June 30, 2019, the
Company had a working capital deficit of $841,447 (June 30, 2018 - $586,823). The Company regularly evaluates
its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity.
The Company will need to secure additional financing to meet its ongoing obligations; however there is no assurance
that the Company will be able to do so. See “Liquidity and Financial Position” above.
(ii)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash, receivables and reclamation bond. As at June 30, 2019, the
Company’s reclamation bond is held with one of the chartered banks of Canada. As such, the management of the
Company believes the risk of loss to be minimal.
(iii)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and commodity and equity prices.

P a g e |14

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
(formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation)
Management’s Discussion & Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2019
Discussion dated: October 28, 2019
(a) Interest rate risk
The Company does not have cash balances and no interest-bearing debt as at June 30, 2019. The Company's current
policy is to invest excess cash in high yield savings accounts and guaranteed investment certificates issued by a
Canadian chartered bank with which it keeps its bank accounts. The Company periodically monitors the investments
it makes and is satisfied with the creditworthiness of its Canadian chartered bank. As of June 30, 2019, the Company
had cash of $353 (June 30, 2018 – $51,157).
(b) Foreign currency risk
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are transacted in
Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.
(c) Equity price risk
The Company manages risk related to fluctuations in the market prices of investments in publicly traded companies
by regularly reviewing publicly available information related to these investments to ensure that any risks are within
established levels of risk tolerance. As at June 30, 2019, the Company had no investments in publicly traded
companies.

Outlook
In the next twelve months, the Company intends to continue exploring the Jasper project subject to raising financing.
In addition, management will review project submissions and conduct independent research for projects in any
commodity. Based on the rate of expenditure, the Company will have to raise equity capital in fiscal 2020 in amounts
sufficient to fund both exploration work and working capital requirements. The major variables are expected to be
the size, timing and results of the Company’s exploration program and its ability to continue to access capital to fund
its ongoing operations. It is anticipated that payments on select accounts payable will be deferred until a financing is
completed. The Company has a cash balance of $353 at June 30, 2019 (June 30, 2018 – $51,157) and does not have
sufficient liquid assets to fund its operating expenses at current levels. Activities are currently funded by loans from
related parties. Should the Company not raise sufficient capital, it may cease to be a reporting issuer. However, to
meet long-term business plans, the Company must complete a financing and develop its property interests.

Environmental Contingency
The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various government laws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment. These environmental regulations are continually changing and generally becoming
more restrictive. As of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not believe that there are any significant
environmental obligations requiring material capital outlays in the immediate future.

Common Shares
The following sets out the common shares outstanding at the date of this MD&A:

Shares Outstanding

33,032,853
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Warrants
The following chart sets out the number of warrants outstanding as of the date of this MD&A:
Exercise Price
$0.07
$0.05

Expiry
Date
December 28, 2022
December 28, 2022

Number of
Warrants
4,832,100
408,328
5,240,428

Risks And Uncertainties
An investment in the securities of the Company is highly speculative and involves numerous and significant risks and
should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume such risks
and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. Prospective investors should carefully consider the
risk factors described below.


Development Stage Company and Exploration Risks

The Company is a junior resource company focused primarily on the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties
located in Canada. The properties of the Company have no established reserves. There is no assurance that any of the
projects can be mined profitably. Accordingly, it is not assured that the Company will realize any profits in the short
to medium term, if at all. Any profitability in the future from the business of the Company will be dependent upon
developing and commercially mining an economic deposit of minerals, which in itself is subject to numerous risk
factors. The exploration and development of mineral deposits involve a high degree of financial risk over a significant
period of time that even a combination of management’s careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not
eliminate. While discovery of ore-bearing structures may result in substantial rewards, few properties that are explored
are ultimately developed into producing mines. Major expenses may be required to establish reserves by drilling and
to construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure that the current exploration,
development and production programs of the Company will result in profitable commercial mining operations. The
profitability of the Company’s operations will be, in part, directly related to the cost and success of its exploration and
development programs, which may be affected by a number of factors. Substantial expenditures are required to
establish reserves that are sufficient to commercially mine some of the Company’s properties and to construct,
complete and install mining and processing facilities on those properties that are actually mined and developed.


No History of Profitability

The Company is a development stage company with no history of profitability. There can be no assurance that the
operations of the Company will be profitable in the future. The Company has limited financial resources and will
require additional financing to further explore, develop, acquire, retain and engage in commercial production on its
property interests and, if financing is unavailable for any reason, the Company may become unable to acquire and
retain its mineral concessions and carry out its business plan
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Government Regulations

The Company's exploration operations are subject to government legislation, policies and controls relating to
prospecting, development, production, environmental protection, mining taxes and labour standards. In order for the
Company to carry out its mining activities, its exploitation licences must be kept current. There is no guarantee that
the Company's exploitation licences will be extended or that new exploitation licences will be granted. In addition,
such exploitation licences could be changed and there can be no assurances that any application to renew any existing
licences will be approved. The Company may be required to contribute to the cost of providing the required
infrastructure to facilitate the development of its properties. The Company will also have to obtain and comply with
permits and licences that may contain specific conditions concerning operating procedures, water use, waste disposal,
spills, environmental studies, abandonment and restoration plans and financial assurances. There can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to comply with any such conditions.


Market Fluctuation and Commercial Quantities

The market for minerals is influenced by many factors beyond the control of the Company such as changing production
costs, the supply and demand for minerals, the rate of inflation, the inventory of mineral producing companies, the
international economic and political environment, changes in international investment patterns, global or regional
consumption patterns, costs of substitutes, currency availability and exchange rates, interest rates, speculative
activities in connection with minerals, and increased production due to improved mining and production methods. The
metals industry in general is intensely competitive and there is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities and
qualities of metals are discovered, a market will exist for the profitable sale of such metals. Commercial viability of
precious and base metals and other mineral deposits may be affected by other factors that are beyond the Company’s
control including particular attributes of the deposit such as its size, quantity and quality, the cost of mining and
processing, proximity to infrastructure and the availability of transportation and sources of energy, financing,
government legislation and regulations including those relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, import
and export restrictions, exchange controls, restrictions on production, as well as environmental protection. It is
impossible to assess with certainty the impact of various factors that may affect commercial viability so that any
adverse combination of such factors may result in the Company not receiving an adequate return on invested capital.


Mining Risks and Insurance

The Company is subject to risks normally encountered in the mining industry, such as unusual or unexpected
geological formations, cave-ins or flooding. The Company may become subject to liability for pollution, damage to
life or property and other hazards of mineral exploration against which it or the operator if its exploration programs
cannot insure or against which it or such operator may elect not to insure because of high premium costs or other
reasons. Payment of such liabilities would reduce funds available for acquisition of mineral prospects or exploration
and development and would have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Company.


Environmental Protection

The mining and mineral processing industries are subject to extensive governmental regulations for the protection of
the environment, including regulations relating to air and water quality, mine reclamation, solid and hazardous waste
handling and disposal and the promotion of occupational health and safety, which may adversely affect the Company
or require it to expend significant funds.
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Capital Investment

The ability of the Company to continue exploration and development of its property interests will be dependent upon
its ability to raise significant additional financing. There is no assurance that adequate financing will be available to
the Company or that the terms of such financing will be favourable. Should the Company not be able to obtain such
financing, its properties may be lost entirely.


Conflicts of Interest

Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may also serve as directors and officers of other companies
involved in base and precious metal exploration and development and consequently, the possibility of conflict exists.
Any decisions made by such directors involving the Company will be made in accordance with the duties and
obligations of directors to deal fairly and in good faith with the Company and such other companies. In addition,
such directors will declare, and refrain from voting on, any matters in which they may have a conflict of interest.


Current Global Financial Conditions

Recent global financial conditions have been characterized by increased volatility and access to public financing,
particularly for junior mineral exploration companies, has been negatively impacted. These conditions may affect the
Company’s ability to obtain equity or debt financing in the future on terms favourable to the Company or at all. If
such conditions continue, the Company’s operations could be negatively impacted.


Country Risk

The Company may currently, or in the future, conduct business in jurisdictions and countries in which the title to its
properties may be uncertain or where access to infrastructure, or political stability, or security, among other things,
may be unknown, or known, and prevent, or severely compromise, the Company from carrying out business. It may
be that the Company accepts Country Risk, to the extent that it can be determined at all, in favour of acquiring
properties with exceptional exploration and development potential, and ultimately be prevented from exploring and
developing those properties for any number of reasons which may, or may not, be predictable, foreseeable, or
manageable. Currently, the Company’s Russian interest is near the Ukraine-Russia conflict which is negatively
impacting the Company.

Disclosure of Internal Controls
Management has established processes to provide them with sufficient knowledge to support representations that they
have exercised reasonable diligence to ensure that (i) the audited consolidated financial statements do not contain any
untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to make a
statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it is made, as of the date of and for the periods
presented by the audited consolidated financial statements, and (ii) the audited consolidated financial statements fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flow of the Company, as of the
date of and for the years presented.
In contrast to the certificate required for non-venture issuers under National Instrument 52-109, Certification of
Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52-109”), the Venture Issuer Basic Certificate does not include
representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and
internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”), as defined in NI 52-109. In particular, the certifying officers filing
this certificate are not making any representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of:
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(i)

controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by the issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under securities
legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in securities
legislation; and

(ii)

a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with the issuer’s GAAP (IFRS).
The issuer’s certifying officers are responsible for ensuring that processes are in place to provide them with
sufficient knowledge to support the representations they are making in the certificate.

Investors should be aware that inherent limitations on the ability of certifying officers of a venture issuer to design
and implement on a cost effective basis DC&P and ICFR as defined in NI 52-109 may result in additional risks to the
quality, reliability, transparency and timeliness of interim and annual filings and other reports provided under
securities legislation.

Additional Information
Please refer to June 30, 2019 consolidated financial statements posted on www.sedar.com for additional information
concerning the Company.
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Introduction
The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of the
operations of Hanna Capital Corp (“Hanna” or the “Company”) constitutes management’s review of the factors that
affected the Company’s financial and operating performance for the year ended June 30, 2020. This MD&A has been
prepared in compliance with the requirements of National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
This discussion should be read in conjunction with the audited annual consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019, together with the notes thereto. Results are reported in
Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted. The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the financial
information contained in this MD&A are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). Information contained herein is presented as of October 28, 2020, unless
otherwise indicated.
For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, considers the
materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, or would reasonably
be expected to result in, a significant change in the market price or value of Hanna common shares; or (ii) there is a
substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii)
it would significantly alter the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the
Board of Directors, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market
sensitivity.
Information about the Company and its operations can be obtained from the offices of the Company or from
www.sedar.com.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information
Certain statements contained in this MD&A and in certain documents incorporated by reference in this MD&A,
constitute forward-looking information and forward-looking statements, as defined in applicable securities laws
(collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future events or the
Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements.
Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects”,
“is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, “projects”, “predicts”, “intends”,
“anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such words and phrases, or statements that certain
actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved.
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual
results to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements
in this MD&A speak only as of the date of (i) this MD&A or (ii) as of the date specified in such statement. The
following table outlines certain significant forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A and provides the
material assumptions used to develop such forward-looking statements and material risk factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements.
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Forward-looking statements
Potential
of
the
Company’s
properties to contain economic
deposits of gold and/or other
metals.

Assumptions
Financing will be available for future
exploration and development of the
Company’s properties; the actual results of
the Company’s exploration and evaluation
activities will be favourable; operating and
exploration costs will not exceed the
Company’s expectations; the Company will
be able to retain and attract skilled staff; all
requisite regulatory and governmental
approvals for exploration projects and other
operations will be received on a timely basis
upon terms acceptable to the Company, and
applicable
political
and
economic
conditions are favourable to the Company;
the price of gold and/or other applicable
metals and applicable interest and exchange
rates will be favourable to the Company; no
title disputes exist with respect to the
Company’s properties.

Risk factors
Gold price volatility; uncertainties
involved in interpreting geological
data and confirming title to acquired
properties; the possibility that future
exploration results will not be consistent
with
the
Company’s expectations;
availability of financing for and actual
results of the Company’s exploration and
evaluation activities; increases in costs;
environmental compliance and changes in
environmental and other local legislation
and regulation; interest rate and exchange
rate fluctuations; changes in economic
and political conditions; the Company’s
ability to retain and attract skilled staff;
availability of permits.

While the Company has no source
of revenue, it believes it can obtain
sufficient cash resources to meet its
administrative overhead and maintain
its mineral investments for the twelve
month period to June 30, 2021
depending on future events.

The operating and exploration activities
of the Company for the twelve month period
to June 30, 2021, and the costs associated
therewith, will be consistent with the
Company’s current expectations; debt and
equity markets, exchange and interest rates
and other applicable economic conditions
are favourable to the Company.

Changes in debt and equity markets;
timing and availability of external
financing on acceptable terms; changes in
the operations currently planned for fiscal
2021; increases in costs; environmental
compliance and changes in environmental
and other local legislation and regulation;
interest rate and exchange rate
fluctuations; changes in
economic
conditions.

The exploration activities of the
Company for the twelve month period
ending June 31, 2020, and the costs
associated therewith, will be consistent with
the Company’s current expectations; debt
and equity markets, exchange and interest
rates and other applicable economic
conditions are favourable to the Company.

Changes in debt and equity markets;
timing and availability of external
financing on acceptable terms; increases
in costs; changes in the operations
currently planned for fiscal 2021;
environmental compliance and changes in
environmental and other local legislation
and regulation; interest rate and exchange
rate fluctuations; changes in economic
conditions; receipt of applicable permits.

The Company expects to incur further
losses in the development of its
business.
The Company’s ability to carry out
anticipated
exploration
on its
property interests.
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Plans, costs, timing and capital for
future exploration and evaluation of the
Company’s
property
interests,
including the costs and potential
impact of complying with existing and
proposed laws and regulations.

Financing will be available for the
Company’s exploration and evaluation
activities and the results thereof will be
favourable;
actual
operating
and
exploration costs will be consistent with the
Company’s current expectations; the
Company will be able to retain and attract
skilled staff; all applicable regulatory and
governmental approvals for exploration
projects and other operations will be
received on a timely basis upon terms
acceptable to the Company; the Company
will not be adversely affected by market
competition; debt and equity markets,
exchange and interest rates and other
applicable
economic
and
political
conditions are favourable to the Company;
the price of gold and/or other applicable
metals will be favourable to the Company;
no title disputes exist with respect to the
Company’s properties.

Gold price volatility, changes in debt
and equity markets; timing and
availability of external financing on
acceptable terms; the uncertainties
involved in interpreting geological data
and confirming title to acquired
properties; the possibility that future
exploration results will not be consistent
with the Company’s expectations;
increases
in
costs; environmental
changes
in
compliance
and
environmental and other local legislation
and regulation; interest rate and
exchange rate fluctuations; changes in
economic and political conditions; the
Company’s ability to retain and attract
skilled staff; availability of permits;
market competition.

Management’s outlook regarding
future trends, including the future
price of gold and availability of
future financing.

Financing will be available for the
Company’s exploration and operating
activities; the price of gold and/or other
applicable metals will be favourable to the
Company.
Actual costs of the various expenses of the
budget are consistent with the costs
that management anticipates.

Gold price volatility; changes in debt
and equity markets; interest rate and
exchange rate fluctuations; changes
in economic and political conditions;
availability of financing.
Costs could vary from management’s
expectations.

New targets are not discovered that take
precedence over existing targets.

Management may change its plans
based on future exploration results.

The price of gold, oil and gas will be
favourable; debt and equity markets,
interest and exchange rates and other
economic factors which may impact the
price of gold, oil and gas will be
favourable.

Changes in debt and equity markets and
the spot price of gold, oil and gas;
interest rate and exchange rate
fluctuations; changes in economic and
political conditions.

All properties will be on care and
maintenance until a financing can
be completed, and/or a favourable
strategic
partnership
or
monetization is arranged.
The Company will continue
to
focus its exploration efforts on
existing targets located on the
Jasper Property.
Prices and price volatility for gold, oil
and gas.

Inherent in forward-looking statements are risks, uncertainties and other factors beyond Hanna’s ability to predict or
control. Please also make reference to those risk factors referenced in the “Risks and Uncertainties” section below.
Readers are cautioned that the above chart does not contain an exhaustive list of the factors or assumptions that may
affect the forward-looking statements, and that the assumptions underlying such statements may prove to be incorrect.
Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A.
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Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause Hanna’s actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any of its future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All forwardlooking statements herein are qualified by this cautionary statement. Accordingly, readers should not
place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update
publicly or otherwise revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information or
future events or otherwise, except as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more
forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect
to those or other forward-looking statements, unless required by law.

Description of Business
The Company was incorporated pursuant to the laws of the State of Nevada on June 1, 2004, under the name
of Assal Metallo, Inc. On June 20, 2007, the Company was continued in the Province of Alberta pursuant to
the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta). On July 19, 2007, the Company was continued in
the Province of Ontario pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the name
Nitinat Minerals Corporation. On October 17, 2019, the Company changed its name to Hanna Capital Corp.
The Company obtained the rights to acquire a 100% interest in the Jasper property on Vancouver Island, British
Columbia, from Silk Energy Limited formerly Inspiration Mining Corporation (“Silk”), pursuant to and subject
to the terms and conditions contained in the Jasper purchase agreement (as defined herein). Exploration of the
Jasper property targets the location of polymetallic, massive sulphide deposits.

Overall Performance
The Company’s focus has been on acquiring and exploring key properties, such as the Jasper Property and
Carscallen Property. The Company’s goal is to continue and expand its exploration programs in order to
evaluate the economic potential of each of its projects.
The Board of Directors and management of Hanna will continue to monitor the financial and commodity
markets and their effect on Hanna’s business.
At June 30, 2020, the Company had a working capital deficit of $847,695 compared to a working capital deficit
of $841,447 at June 30, 2019. The increase in working capital deficit of $6,248 is a result an increase in current
liabilities during the period. The Company had current liabilities of $1,016,661 at June 30, 2020, compared to
current liabilities balance of $900,140 at June 30, 2019. The increase in current liabilities during the year ended
June 30, 2020, is primarily due to a loan received from JB Consolidated Estates Ltd. totaling $324,551. JB
Consolidated assigned $12,500 out of the $324,551 to John Gould.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This
contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health
developments, have adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially
leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of
the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or results of operations at this
time.

Trends
Due to the decline in commodity prices, market participants have re-evaluated their positions and are
exercising far greater discipline, caution and depth of analysis when evaluating current and future investment
opportunities. Merger and acquisition activity has slowed, share prices for resource companies are down,
resource funds have experienced significant redemptions as investors reallocate their funds, and the ability to
raise equity financing for exploration projects has been substantially curtailed. As a result, funding for junior
exploration companies remains difficult in the current economic environment resulting in management decisions
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to modify programs and their time frames for completion.
Apart from these and the risk factors noted under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties” and “Cautionary Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Information”, management is not aware of any other trends, commitments,
events or uncertainties that would have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition
or results of operations.

Mineral Property Interests
Carscallen Property, Ontario
In October 2016, the Company signed an asset purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with Silk Energy Limited
formerly Inspiration Mining Corp (“Silk”) to acquire a 100% interest in certain mining claims west of the City
of Timmins known as the Carscallen Property (the “Property”). Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Agreement, the Company will earn the 100% interest by:





Cash payment of $40,000 on execution of this agreement (paid);
Share payment of 2,200,000 common shares of the Company (issued with value of $193,500);
Cash payment of $20,000 on October 19, 2017 (paid); and
Cash payment of $40,000 on October 19, 2018 (paid).

The acquisition of the Property is subject to underlying conditions:


In the event that the Company is able to obtain an intersection of at least 3 grams of gold per ton over one
meter, the Company will be required to issue an additional 2,400,000 common shares to Silk;



In the event that the Company is able to establish a commercial mine of with at least a 250,000 ton ore
body having a minimum grade of 2 grams of gold per ton, the Company will be required to issuance an
additional 2,400,000 common shares to Silk;



Upon the payment of the option payments of October 19, 2016 and 2017, the Company will have an
undivided 100% interest in the Property subject to a 2% net smelter royalty (“NSR”) in favour of the
original optionors. The Company shall have the right to purchase 1% of the 2% NSR royalty for an
aggregate cash payment of $1,000,000. In addition, the company also assumes the obligation from Silk
whereby the Company will grant a 1% NSR in favour of the individual who assigned the original option
agreement to Silk. Under the assignment agreement between Silk and this individual, this 1% NSR can
be purchased for $2,000,000; and

During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company entered into an option agreement with two arm’s length parties
to acquire an 100% interest in additional claims to Carscallen Property.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company is required to pay the following as considerations:



Cash payment of $65,000 on or before January 10, 2020 ($15,000 paid); and
Share payment of 1,000,000 common shares of the Company on or before January 10, 2020 (400,000 shares
issued with value of $160,000).

During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company did not make the required option payments under the agreement and
had no intention to continue work on the claims. Accordingly, the Company has written off related costs totaling $198,000
with respect to these claims.
Jasper Property, British Columbia
Pursuant to a purchase agreement dated December 1, 2007, and effective July 30, 2007, between the Company
and Silk, as amended (the “Jasper purchase agreement”), the Company purchased the Jasper property from Silk
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in exchange for 1,336,790 special warrants of the Company (the “Silk Special Warrants”) valued at $2,063,208.
After completion of the initial public offering, all 1,336,790 Silk Special Warrants were converted to 1,336,790
common shares of the Company. These shares were placed in escrow pursuant to an escrow agreement between
Silk, Olympia Financial Group Inc. and the Company. As of November 2, 2010, all the shares were released
from escrow. The Jasper property is located on west-central Vancouver Island, British Columbia.
Current and Future Plans Related to the Jasper Property
During May 2018, the Company announced that the work on its 100% owned Jasper Property is underway and
is more exciting than ever.
The Jasper Property is located in west-central Vancouver Island, BC, Canada. The Property consists of nine
contiguous claims which cover 3978 hectares and is 100% owned and operated by Hanna Capital Corp.
The Jasper Main Grid area is underlain by apparently conformable lithological horizons including an eastern
felsic volcanic (dacite or rhyodacite) horizon and a western mafic volcanic (basalt) horizon separated by a central
intermediate volcanic horizon. Lithological contacts strike N-S and are offset by cross faults which strike NWSE. Fifteen polymetallic sulphide zones have been discovered in outcrop over a 2.75 km. strike length within
the Main Grid area. Select outcrop sampling of these zones has yielded values up to 20% Lead, 25% Zinc, 15%
Copper, 61 g/t Silver and 0.21 g/t Gold from separate samples taken from different zones. A 2.25 km. length by
0.5 km wide polymetallic soil geochemistry anomaly is coincident with the area of polymetallic zones, and
roughly coincident with the central intermediate volcanic horizon.
The Jasper Property is hosted in a belt of rocks mapped as upper Triassic to lower Jurassic Bonanza group. The
belt trends southeasterly from Nitinat Lake through Gordon River, south of Cowichan Lake. The Bonanza belt
is flanked to the west and east by Paleozoic Sicker Group rocks which host the economically important Myra
Falls Massive Sulphide district located approximately 120 kilometres to the northwest, and the Lara Massive
Sulphide district located approximately 50 kilometres to the east.
A north trending gossanous alteration zone with a strike length greater than four kilometers underlies the Jasper
Property from Caycuse Creek in the south to the Nitinat River in the north. The alteration zone is characterized
by argillization, silicification and pervasive pyrite flooding. The alteration zone is generally concordant with the
foliation and stratigraphy throughout its strike length. The Jasper Main Grid area is partially underlain by the
intense alteration zone.
Modeling and 3-D inversion of the 2008 airborne magnetic and electromagnetic data was completed for a portion
of the Jasper Property during late 2017. Magnetic inversion established low susceptibility bodies coincident with
polymetallic zones surrounded by narrow, vertical high susceptibility pipes. Preliminary electromagnetic
inversion established a 2 Layer resistivity model consisting of a thick high resistivity layer from surface to 300600 m. depth overlying a thin, sub-horizontal to undulating low resistivity (high conductivity) layer. The deep
high conductivity layer could represent a sedimentary, replacement, epithermal or metallic sulphide horizon, and
has never been tested by drilling.
Two to four deep (750 m.) diamond drill holes are proposed to test the sub-horizontal conductive layer where it
is coincident with the area of low magnetic susceptibility and underlies polymetallic soil geochemical anomalies
and 14 of 15 known polymetallic mineral occurrences. Downhole EM surveys should be included as part of the
drilling program.
A property-wide isopach map of the conductive horizon is being generated by a qualified and experienced
geophysicist to better interpret the lateral extent, depth and varying thickness of that horizon for optimization of
drilling targets. The exploration permit for the Jasper Property allows for up to 4,000 metres of drilling and is
being maintained in good standing.
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During July 2015, the Company completed a GPS-line controlled geological mapping and litho- geochemical
sampling program over a three by one kilometer area across and surrounding all the known copper-zinc-leadsilver occurrences on the Jasper Property. Both the mapping and the sampling were conducted along 200 m
spaced E-W GPS control lines and 51 rock samples were taken at 400 m intervals along those lines and over
100 structural measurements were taken from over 100 outcrops. In addition, one new quartz-sulphide was
located and sampled in a small subcrop exposure located between the Jasper and Tam MINFILE occurrences.
In August 2015, litho-geochemistry and rock geochemistry results were received from AGAT Laboratories.
The results are still being compiled, evaluated and interpreted and the Company will report same when ready.
Preliminary evaluation of litho-geochemistry results suggest that some outcrops mapped as intermediate
volcanics may actually be altered mafic or felsic volcanics. Geochemical results from the new quartz-sulphide
discovery yielded 24.7% zinc, 0.388% copper, 0.176% cadmium, 74 ppm tellurium, 2.9 g/t silver and 0.128
g/t gold. The zinc assay is the highest obtained to date from the Jasper Property.
The 2015 field program was designed to establish geological, structural and alteration settings, signatures and
controls for the numerous clustered massive sulphide and quartz-sulphide occurrences found to date on the
Jasper Property. Final interpretation of the results from program will be used in conjunction with previous rock
and soil geochemistry and airborne geophysics to help design a diamond drilling program.
The field work program was supervised by Jacques Houle, P.Eng., a Qualified Person pursuant to National
Instrument 43-101.
The following table summarizes the Company’s current exploration programs at the Jasper Property, total
estimated cost to complete each exploration program, and total expenditures incurred to date. For more
information about exploration expenditures incurred by category, please see “Additional Disclosure for
Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue” below.
Activities Completed
Exploration Program
Year ended
(expected completion)
June 30, 2018
None at this time
GPS-line controlled
geological mapping and
litho-geochemical
sampling program

(A)
Estimated Cost to
Plans for the Project
Complete
Care and maintenance until
$nil
a financing can be
completed, and/or a
favourable strategic
partnership or
monetization is arranged

(B)
Spent
$2,595,440

A diamond drill program
will be implemented when
the Company has sufficient
funds

Subtotal
Total (A+B)

$nil

$2,595,440
$2,595,440

During fiscal 2014, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,872,334 on the Jasper property. The
Company decided to write down the Jasper property to Silk’s original cost of $633,235. As at June 30, 2020
the carrying value of the Jasper property is $742,334.
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Selected Annual Financial Information
The following is selected financial data derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
company at June 30, 2020, 2019 and 2018 and for the years ended June 30, 2020, 2019 and 2018.
Year Ended
June 30, 2020

Year Ended
June 30, 2019

Year Ended
June 30, 2018

$nil
$298,284

$nil

$nil

$383,907

$132,908

Total Revenues
Net loss (1)(2)

$0.01
$0.01

$0.01

$0.01

$0.01

$0.01

Year Ended
June 30, 2020

Year Ended
June 30, 2019

Year Ended
June 30, 2018

$1,250,598

$1,292,118

$1,386,520

$nil

$nil

$nil

$nil

Net loss per share – basic (3)(4)
Net loss per share – diluted (3)(4)

Total assets

$nil

Total non-current financial liabilities

$nil

Distribution or cash dividends

(1) Loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent, in total;
(2) Loss attributable to owner of the parent, in total;
(3) Loss from continuing operating attributable to owners of the parent, on a per-share and diluted per
share basis;
(4) Loss attributable to owners of the parent, on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and declared
per-share for each class of share.
The loss for the year ended June 30, 2020, consisted primarily of general and administrative of $210,554.
The loss for the year ended June 30, 2019, consisted primarily of general and administrative of $383,907.
The loss for the year ended June 30, 2018, consisted primarily of general and administrative of $260,199 and
a gain on extinguishment of accounts payable of $127,291.
As the company has no revenue, its ability to fund its operations is dependent upon securing financing. See
“Trends” and “Risks and Uncertainties”.

Selected Quarterly Information
Net
Revenues
($)

Total
($)

Per Share
($)

June 30, 2020

-

$(235,666)

(0.01)

March 31, 2020

-

48,450

0.00

December 31, 2019

-

(57,816)

(0.00)

September 30, 2019

-

(53,255)

(0.00)
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June 30, 2019

-

(114,134)

(0.00)

March 31, 2019

-

(110,320)

(0.00)

December 31, 2018

-

(114,944)

(0.00)

September 30, 2018

-

(44,509)

(0.00)

June 30, 2018

-

83,018

0.00

The income realized in the quarter ended March 31, 2020 was primarily a result of a gain on the extinguishment
of accounts payable and reversal of accruals.
The income realized in the quarter ended June 30, 2018 was primarily a result of a gain on the extinguishment
of accounts payable of $127,291.

Results of Operations
The Company is an exploration-stage mineral resources entity and, at present, has no projects that generate
operating cash flows. To date, funding of the Company’s exploration activities has been accomplished by
private placements of its shares and the proceeds of a prospectus offering.
Year ended June 30, 2020, compared with year ended June 30, 2019
The Company’s net loss totalled $298,284 for the year ended June 30, 2020, with basic and diluted loss per
share of $0.01. This compares with net loss of $383,907 with basic and diluted loss per share of $0.01 for the
year ended June 30, 2019. The decrease of $85,623 in net loss was principally because of:











Accounting, audit and professional fees during the year $31,743 (2019 – $14,029)
Legal fees during the year $1,308 (2019 – $5,000)
Office and administration expense during the year of $134,780 (2019 – $66,327)
Rent during the period of $15,146 (2019 - $24,000)
Investor relations during the year $1,719 (2019 - $1,762)
Consulting fee during the year $20,000 (2019 - $152,789)
Management fee during the year $nil (2019 - $120,000)
Interest and penalties during the year $5,858 (2019 - $nil)
Write off of exploration and evaluation assets $198,000 (2019 - $nil)
Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable and accruals $110,270 (2019 - $nil)

Liquidity and Financial Position
The Company derives no income from operations, as all of its projects since inception have been exploration
projects. Accordingly, the activities of the Company have been financed by cash raised through private
placements of common shares and its initial public offering. As the Company does not expect to generate cash
flows from operations in the near future, it will continue to rely primarily upon the sale of common shares to
raise capital. As a result, the availability of financing, as and when needed, to fund the Company’s activities,
cannot be assured.
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company received a loan from JB Consolidated Estates Ltd totaling
$324,551. The loans are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. During the year ended June 30,
2020, JB Consolidated Estates Ltd. assigned $12,500 of the outstanding loan to John Gould.
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During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company did not issue any shares.
i)

the Company received a subscription in advance for the amount of $140,243.

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the company:
i)

completed a private placement of 28,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $1,400.
Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant. Each full warrant will entitle
the holder to purchase one additional share at $0.07 until December 28, 2022. The Company issued
28,000 broker warrants as finders fees which have the same terms and conditions as the private
placement warrants.
ii) Issued 428,000 common shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants for the gross proceeds of $29,960.
iii) completed a private placement of 400,000 shares at a price of $0.075 per share for gross proceeds of
$30,000.
As at June 30, 2020, the Company owed Silk $15,521 (June 30, 2019 – $15,521) and the amount is non-interest
bearing, unsecured and due on demand.
Based on the rate of expenditure above, the Company will have to raise equity capital in fiscal 2021 in amounts
sufficient to fund both exploration work and working capital requirements. The major variables are expected
to be the size, timing and results of the Company’s exploration program and its ability to continue to access
capital to fund its ongoing operations. Any further exploration programs on the Jasper property and any
increase in its ownership in Techniton are subject to the Company raising capital. It is anticipated that payments
on select accounts payable will be deferred until a financing is completed. The Company has a cash balance of
$89,087 at June 30, 2020 (June 30, 2019 – $353) and does not have sufficient liquid assets to fund its operating
expenses at current levels. Activities are currently funded by loans from related parties. There can be no
assurance that should additional financing from related parties or others be required, it will be available at all,
or on terms acceptable to the Company. Should the Company not raise sufficient capital, it may cease to be a
reporting issuer. However, to meet long-term business plans, the Company must complete a financing and
develop its property interests.

Related Party Transactions
Related parties include the Board, officers, key management personnel, close family members and
enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions. Key
management personnel are those having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, including any directors (executive and non- executive) of the
Company.
The terms and conditions of the transactions with key management personnel and their related parties were no
more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, to similar
transactions to non-key management personnel related entities on an arm’s length basis.
The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties:
Year Ended June 30,
2020
2019
Adrea Capital Corp.
Herb Brugh
Vern Bock
Victor Cantore

(i)
(ii)
(iv)
(v)

60,000
20,000
$

80,000

60,000
108,676
36,000
37,000
$

241,676
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i)

D. Randall Miller, a key consultant for the Company, controls Adrea. During the year ended June 30, 2020, the
Company paid or accrued Adrea $60,000 (2019 - $60,000), in management fees. Management fees are included in
office and miscellaneous. As at June 30, 2020, the Company was owed $9,727 (June 30, 2019 – payable of $80,150)
which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

ii) For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company expensed $nil (2019 - $108,676) to Herb Brugh for Chief
Executive Officer fees and administration fees. Included in the June 30, 2020 accounts payable and accrued
liabilities is $215,328 due to Herb Brugh (June 30, 2019 - $215,328).
iii) As at June 30, 2020, the Company owed Silk $15,521 (June 30, 2019 – Silk owed $15,521) which is included in
due to/from related parties and the amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.
iv) For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company expensed $nil (2019 - $36,000) to Vern Bock, a director of the
Company, for consulting fees. Included in the June 30, 2020 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $38,002
due to Vern Bock (June 30, 2019 - $38,002).
v)

As at June 30, 2020, Martina Minerals Corp., a company related by way of a common director, owed the Company
$54,518 (June 30, 2019 - $32,539) and the amount is unsecured and due on demand.

vi) For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company expensed $20,000 (2019 - $37,000) to Victor Cantore, a director
of the Company, for consulting fees. Included in the June 30, 2020 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is
$57,000 due to Victor Cantore (June 30, 2019 - $37,000).
Balances due to related parties bear no interest, unless otherwise stated, are due on demand and has no fixed term
of repayment.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any off-balance-sheet arrangements that have, or are
reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Company,
including, and without limitation, such considerations as liquidity, capital expenditures and capital resources that
would be material to investors.

Changes in Accounting Policies
Please refer to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020 located on
www.sedar.com.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
Please refer to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020 located on www.sedar.com.

Capital Management
The Company manages its capital with the following objectives:
�

To ensure sufficient financial flexibility to achieve the ongoing business objectives including the funding of
future growth opportunities, and the pursuit of accretive acquisitions; and

�

To maximize shareholder return.

The Company monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments according to market conditions in an effort to
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meet its objectives given the current outlook of the business and industry in general. The Company may manage its
capital structure by issuing new shares, repurchasing outstanding shares, adjusting capital spending, or disposing of
assets. The capital structure is reviewed by management and the Board of Directors on an ongoing basis.
The Company considers its capital to be equity, which comprises share capital, reserves and accumulated deficit,
which at June 30, 2020, totaled $233,937 (June 30, 2019 – $391,978).
The Company manages capital through its financial and operational forecasting processes. The Company reviews its
working capital and forecasts its future cash flows based on operating expenditures, and other investing and financing
activities. The forecast is updated based on activities related to its exploration and evaluation assets. Selected
information is provided to the Board of Directors of the Company.
The Company's capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the year
ended June 30, 2020. The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a lending institution or
regulatory body, other than Policy 2.5 of the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) which requires adequate working
capital or financial resources of the greater of (i) $50,000 and (ii) an amount required in order to maintain operations
and cover general and administrative expenses for a period of 6 months. As of June 30, 2020, the Company is not
compliant with Policy 2.5. The impact of this violation is not known and is ultimately dependent on the discretion of
the TSXV.

Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of:
Description
Cash
Amounts receivable
Reclamation bond
Note receivable
Due from related parties

Description
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Loan payable

June 30, 2020
$
89,087
79,879
5,000
1
38,997

June 30, 2020
$
692,110
324,551

June 30, 2019
$
353
58,340
5,000
1
17,018

June 30, 2019
$
900,140
-

The Company's financial instruments consist of cash, reclamation bond, amounts receivables, note receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, loan payable and due to related parties. It is management's opinion that the
Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks and that the carrying values of these financial
instruments approximate their fair values.
(i)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations as
they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital
market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the
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Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at June 30, 2020, the
Company had a working capital deficit of $847,695 (June 30, 2019 - $841,447). The Company regularly evaluates
its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity.
The Company will need to secure additional financing to meet its ongoing obligations; however there is no assurance
that the Company will be able to do so. See “Liquidity and Financial Position” above.
(ii)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash, receivables and reclamation bond. As at June 30, 2020, the
Company’s reclamation bond is held with one of the chartered banks of Canada. As such, the management of the
Company believes the risk of loss to be minimal.
(iii)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and commodity and equity prices.
(a) Interest rate risk
The Company does not have significant cash balances and no interest-bearing debt as at June 30, 2020. The
Company's current policy is to invest excess cash in high yield savings accounts and guaranteed investment
certificates issued by a Canadian chartered bank with which it keeps its bank accounts. The Company periodically
monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the creditworthiness of its Canadian chartered bank. As of
June 30, 2020, the Company had cash of $89,087 (June 30, 2019 – $353).
(b) Foreign currency risk
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are transacted in
Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.
(c) Equity price risk
The Company manages risk related to fluctuations in the market prices of investments in publicly traded companies
by regularly reviewing publicly available information related to these investments to ensure that any risks are within
established levels of risk tolerance. As at June 30, 2020, the Company had no investments in publicly traded
companies.

Outlook
In the next twelve months, the Company intends to continue exploring the Jasper project subject to raising financing.
In addition, management will review project submissions and conduct independent research for projects in any
commodity. Based on the rate of expenditure, the Company will have to raise equity capital in fiscal 2021 in amounts
sufficient to fund both exploration work and working capital requirements. The major variables are expected to be
the size, timing and results of the Company’s exploration program and its ability to continue to access capital to fund
its ongoing operations. It is anticipated that payments on select accounts payable will be deferred until a financing is
completed. The Company has a cash balance of $89,087 at June 30, 2020 (June 30, 2019 – $353) and does not have
sufficient liquid assets to fund its operating expenses at current levels. Activities are currently funded by loans from
related parties. Should the Company not raise sufficient capital, it may cease to be a reporting issuer. However, to
meet long-term business plans, the Company must complete a financing and develop its property interests.
P a g e |14

HANNA CAPITAL CORP
Management’s Discussion & Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2020
Discussion dated: October 28, 2020

Environmental Contingency
The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various government laws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment. These environmental regulations are continually changing and generally becoming
more restrictive. As of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not believe that there are any significant
environmental obligations requiring material capital outlays in the immediate future.

Common Shares

The following sets out the common shares outstanding at the date of this MD&A:

Shares Outstanding

46,272,817

Warrants
The following chart sets out the number of warrants outstanding as of the date of this MD&A:
Exercise Price
$0.07
$0.05

Expiry
Date
December 28, 2022
December 28, 2022

Number of
Warrants
4,832,100
408,328
5,240,428

Risks And Uncertainties
An investment in the securities of the Company is highly speculative and involves numerous and significant risks and
should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume such risks
and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. Prospective investors should carefully consider the
risk factors described below.
�

Development Stage Company and Exploration Risks

The Company is a junior resource company focused primarily on the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties
located in Canada. The properties of the Company have no established reserves. There is no assurance that any of the
projects can be mined profitably. Accordingly, it is not assured that the Company will realize any profits in the short
to medium term, if at all. Any profitability in the future from the business of the Company will be dependent upon
developing and commercially mining an economic deposit of minerals, which in itself is subject to numerous risk
factors. The exploration and development of mineral deposits involve a high degree of financial risk over a significant
period of time that even a combination of management’s careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not
eliminate. While discovery of ore-bearing structures may result in substantial rewards, few properties that are explored
are ultimately developed into producing mines. Major expenses may be required to establish reserves by drilling and
to construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure that the current exploration,
development and production programs of the Company will result in profitable commercial mining operations. The
profitability of the Company’s operations will be, in part, directly related to the cost and success of its exploration and
development programs, which may be affected by a number of factors. Substantial expenditures are required to
establish reserves that are sufficient to commercially mine some of the Company’s properties and to construct,
complete and install mining and processing facilities on those properties that are actually mined and developed.
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�

No History of Profitability

The Company is a development stage company with no history of profitability. There can be no assurance that the
operations of the Company will be profitable in the future. The Company has limited financial resources and will
require additional financing to further explore, develop, acquire, retain and engage in commercial production on its
property interests and, if financing is unavailable for any reason, the Company may become unable to acquire and
retain its mineral concessions and carry out its business plan
�

Government Regulations

The Company's exploration operations are subject to government legislation, policies and controls relating to
prospecting, development, production, environmental protection, mining taxes and labour standards. In order for the
Company to carry out its mining activities, its exploitation licences must be kept current. There is no guarantee that
the Company's exploitation licences will be extended or that new exploitation licences will be granted. In addition,
such exploitation licences could be changed and there can be no assurances that any application to renew any existing
licences will be approved. The Company may be required to contribute to the cost of providing the required
infrastructure to facilitate the development of its properties. The Company will also have to obtain and comply with
permits and licences that may contain specific conditions concerning operating procedures, water use, waste disposal,
spills, environmental studies, abandonment and restoration plans and financial assurances. There can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to comply with any such conditions.
�

Market Fluctuation and Commercial Quantities

The market for minerals is influenced by many factors beyond the control of the Company such as changing production
costs, the supply and demand for minerals, the rate of inflation, the inventory of mineral producing companies, the
international economic and political environment, changes in international investment patterns, global or regional
consumption patterns, costs of substitutes, currency availability and exchange rates, interest rates, speculative
activities in connection with minerals, and increased production due to improved mining and production methods. The
metals industry in general is intensely competitive and there is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities and
qualities of metals are discovered, a market will exist for the profitable sale of such metals. Commercial viability of
precious and base metals and other mineral deposits may be affected by other factors that are beyond the Company’s
control including particular attributes of the deposit such as its size, quantity and quality, the cost of mining and
processing, proximity to infrastructure and the availability of transportation and sources of energy, financing,
government legislation and regulations including those relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, import
and export restrictions, exchange controls, restrictions on production, as well as environmental protection. It is
impossible to assess with certainty the impact of various factors that may affect commercial viability so that any
adverse combination of such factors may result in the Company not receiving an adequate return on invested capital.
�

Mining Risks and Insurance

The Company is subject to risks normally encountered in the mining industry, such as unusual or unexpected
geological formations, cave-ins or flooding. The Company may become subject to liability for pollution, damage to
life or property and other hazards of mineral exploration against which it or the operator if its exploration programs
cannot insure or against which it or such operator may elect not to insure because of high premium costs or other
reasons. Payment of such liabilities would reduce funds available for acquisition of mineral prospects or exploration
and development and would have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Company.
�

Environmental Protection

The mining and mineral processing industries are subject to extensive governmental regulations for the protection of
the environment, including regulations relating to air and water quality, mine reclamation, solid and hazardous waste
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handling and disposal and the promotion of occupational health and safety, which may adversely affect the Company
or require it to expend significant funds.
�

Capital Investment

The ability of the Company to continue exploration and development of its property interests will be dependent upon
its ability to raise significant additional financing. There is no assurance that adequate financing will be available to
the Company or that the terms of such financing will be favourable. Should the Company not be able to obtain such
financing, its properties may be lost entirely.
�

Conflicts of Interest

Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may also serve as directors and officers of other companies
involved in base and precious metal exploration and development and consequently, the possibility of conflict exists.
Any decisions made by such directors involving the Company will be made in accordance with the duties and
obligations of directors to deal fairly and in good faith with the Company and such other companies. In addition,
such directors will declare, and refrain from voting on, any matters in which they may have a conflict of interest.
�

Current Global Financial Conditions

Recent global financial conditions have been characterized by increased volatility and access to public financing,
particularly for junior mineral exploration companies, has been negatively impacted. These conditions may affect the
Company’s ability to obtain equity or debt financing in the future on terms favourable to the Company or at all. If
such conditions continue, the Company’s operations could be negatively impacted.
�

Country Risk

The Company may currently, or in the future, conduct business in jurisdictions and countries in which the title to its
properties may be uncertain or where access to infrastructure, or political stability, or security, among other things,
may be unknown, or known, and prevent, or severely compromise, the Company from carrying out business. It may
be that the Company accepts Country Risk, to the extent that it can be determined at all, in favour of acquiring
properties with exceptional exploration and development potential, and ultimately be prevented from exploring and
developing those properties for any number of reasons which may, or may not, be predictable, foreseeable, or
manageable. Currently, the Company’s Russian interest is near the Ukraine-Russia conflict which is negatively
impacting the Company.

Disclosure of Internal Controls
Management has established processes to provide them with sufficient knowledge to support representations that they
have exercised reasonable diligence to ensure that (i) the audited consolidated financial statements do not contain any
untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to make a
statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it is made, as of the date of and for the periods
presented by the audited consolidated financial statements, and (ii) the audited consolidated financial statements fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flow of the Company, as of the
date of and for the years presented.
In contrast to the certificate required for non-venture issuers under National Instrument 52-109, Certification of
Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52-109”), the Venture Issuer Basic Certificate does not include
representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and
internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”), as defined in NI 52-109. In particular, the certifying officers filing
this certificate are not making any representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of:
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(i)

controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by the issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under securities
legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in securities
legislation; and

(ii)

a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with the issuer’s GAAP (IFRS).
The issuer’s certifying officers are responsible for ensuring that processes are in place to provide them with
sufficient knowledge to support the representations they are making in the certificate.

Investors should be aware that inherent limitations on the ability of certifying officers of a venture issuer to design
and implement on a cost effective basis DC&P and ICFR as defined in NI 52-109 may result in additional risks to the
quality, reliability, transparency and timeliness of interim and annual filings and other reports provided under
securities legislation.

Additional Information
Please refer to June 30, 2020 consolidated financial statements posted on www.sedar.com for additional information
concerning the Company.
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Introduction
The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of the operations
of Hanna Capital Corp formerly Nitinat Minerals Corporation (“Hanna” or the “Company”) constitutes management’s review
of the factors that affected the Company’s financial and operating performance for the year ended June 30, 2021. This MD&A
has been prepared in compliance with the requirements of National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure
Obligations. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended June 30, 2021, together with the notes thereto. Results are reported in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise
noted. The Company’s consolidated financial statements and the financial information contained in this MD&A are prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). Information contained herein is presented
as of October 28, 2021, unless otherwise indicated.
For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, considers the materiality
of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result
in, a significant change in the market price or value of Hanna common shares; or (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a
reasonable investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or
(iii) it would significantly alter the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board
of Directors, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.
Information about the Company and its operations can be obtained from the offices of the Company or from
www.sedar.com.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information
Certain statements contained in this MD&A and in certain documents incorporated by reference in this MD&A, constitute
forward-looking information and forward-looking statements, as defined in applicable securities laws (collectively referred
to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future events or the Company’s future performance.
All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking
statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”,
“continues”, “forecasts”, “projects”, “predicts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of,
such words and phrases, or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “might” or
“will” be taken, occur or be achieved. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The
forward- looking statements in this MD&A speak only as of the date of (i) this MD&A or (ii) as of the date specified in such
statement. The following table outlines certain significant forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A and provides
the material assumptions used to develop such forward-looking statements and material risk factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements.
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Forward-looking statements
Potential of
the
Company’s
properties to contain economic
deposits
of gold and/or
other
metals.

Assumptions
Financing will be available for future
exploration and development of the
Company’s properties; the actual results of
the Company’s exploration and evaluation
activities will be favourable; operating
and exploration costs will not exceed the
Company’s expectations; the Company will
be able to retain and attract skilled staff; all
requisite regulatory and governmental
approvals for exploration projects and other
operations will be received on a timely
basis upon terms acceptable to the
Company, and applicable political and
economic conditions are favourable to the
Company; the price of gold and/or other
applicable metals and applicable interest
and exchange rates will be favourable to
the Company; no title disputes exist with
respect to the Company’s properties.

Risk factors
Gold price volatility; uncertainties
involved in interpreting geological data
and confirming title to acquired
properties; the possibility that future
exploration results will not be consistent
with the
Company’s expectations;
availability of financing for and actual
results of the Company’s exploration and
evaluation activities; increases in costs;
environmental compliance and changes
in environmental and other local
legislation and regulation; interest rate
and exchange rate fluctuations; changes
in economic and political conditions; the
Company’s ability to retain and attract
skilled staff; availability of permits.

While the Company has no source
of revenue, it believes it can obtain
sufficient cash resources to meet its
administrative overhead and maintain
its mineral investments for the twelve
month period to June 30, 2022
depending on future events.

The operating and exploration activities
of the Company for the twelve month
period to June 30, 2022, and the costs
associated therewith, will be consistent
with the Company’s current expectations;
debt and equity markets, exchange and
interest rates and other applicable economic
conditions are favourable to the Company.

Changes in debt and equity markets;
timing and availability of external
financing on acceptable terms; changes
in the operations currently planned for
fiscal 2022; increases in costs;
environmental compliance and changes
in environmental
and other local
legislation and regulation; interest rate
and exchange rate fluctuations; changes
in economic conditions.

The exploration activities of the
Company for the twelve month period
ending June 30, 2022, and the costs
associated therewith, will be consistent with
the Company’s current expectations; debt
and equity markets, exchange and interest
rates and other applicable economic
conditions are favourable to the Company.

Changes in debt and equity markets;
timing and availability of external
financing on acceptable terms; increases
in costs; changes in the operations
currently planned for fiscal 2021;
environmental compliance and changes
in environmental
and other local
legislation and regulation; interest rate
and exchange rate fluctuations; changes
in economic conditions; receipt of
applicable permits.

The Company expects to incur further
losses in the development of its
business.
The Company’s ability to carry out
anticipated
exploration
on its
property interests.
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Plans, costs, timing and capital for
future exploration and evaluation of the
Company’s property interests,
including the costs and potential
impact of complying with existing and
proposed laws and regulations.

Financing will be available for the
Company’s exploration and evaluation
activities and the results thereof will be
favourable; actual
operating
and
exploration costs will be consistent with the
Company’s current expectations; the
Company will be able to retain and attract
skilled staff; all applicable regulatory and
governmental approvals for exploration
projects and other operations will be
received on a timely basis upon terms
acceptable to the Company; the Company
will not be adversely affected by market
competition; debt and equity markets,
exchange and interest rates and other
applicable
economic and
political
conditions are favourable to the Company;
the price of gold and/or other applicable
to the
metals will be favourable
Company; no title disputes exist with
respect to the Company’s properties.

Gold price volatility, changes in debt
and equity markets; timing and
availability of external financing on
uncertainties
acceptable terms; the
involved in interpreting geological data
and confirming title to acquired
properties; the possibility that future
exploration results will not be consistent
with the
Company’s expectations;
increases
in costs;
environmental
compliance
and
changes
in
environmental
and
other
local
legislation and regulation; interest rate
and exchange rate fluctuations; changes
in economic and political conditions;
the Company’s ability to retain and attract
of
skilled staff; availability
permits; market competition.

Management’s outlook regarding
future trends, including the future
price of gold and availability of
future financing.

Financing will be available for the
Company’s exploration and operating
activities; the price of gold and/or other
applicable metals will be favourable to the
Company.
Actual costs of the various expenses of the
budget are consistent with the costs
that management anticipates.

Gold price volatility; changes in debt
and equity markets; interest rate and
exchange rate fluctuations; changes
in economic and political conditions;
availability of financing.
Costs could vary from management’s
expectations.

The Company will continue
to
focus its exploration efforts on existing
targets located on the Jasper Property.

New targets are not discovered that take
precedence over existing targets.

Management may change its plans
based on future exploration results.

Prices and price volatility for gold, oil
and gas.

The price of gold, oil and gas will be
favourable; debt and equity markets,
interest and exchange rates and other
economic factors which may impact the
price of gold, oil and gas will be
favourable.

Changes in debt and equity markets and
the spot price of gold, oil and gas;
interest rate and exchange rate
fluctuations; changes in economic and
political conditions.

All properties will be on care and
maintenance until a financing can
be completed, and/or a favourable
strategic
partnership
or
monetization is arranged.

Inherent in forward-looking statements are risks, uncertainties and other factors beyond Hanna’s ability to predict or
control. Please also make reference to those risk factors referenced in the “Risks and Uncertainties” section below.
Readers are cautioned that the above chart does not contain an exhaustive list of the factors or assumptions that
may affect the forward-looking statements, and that the assumptions underlying such statements may prove to be
incorrect. Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or
implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A.
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Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause Hanna’s actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any of its future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All forwardlooking statements herein are qualified by this cautionary statement. Accordingly, readers should not place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or
otherwise revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information or future events
or otherwise, except as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more forward-looking
statements, no inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect to those or other
forward-looking statements, unless required by law.

Description of Business
The Company was incorporated pursuant to the laws of the State of Nevada on June 1, 2004, under the name
of Assal Metallo, Inc. On June 20, 2007, the Company was continued in the Province of Alberta pursuant to
the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta). On July 19, 2007, the Company was continued in
the Province of Ontario pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the
name Nitinat Minerals Corporation. On October 17, 2019, the Company changes its name to Hanna Capital
Corp.
The Company obtained the rights to acquire a 100% interest in the Jasper property on Vancouver Island,
British Columbia, from Silk Energy Limited formerly Inspiration Mining Corporation (“Silk”), pursuant to
and subject to the terms and conditions contained in the Jasper purchase agreement (as defined herein).
Exploration of the Jasper property targets the location of polymetallic, massive sulphide deposits.

Overall Performance
The Company’s focus has been on acquiring and exploring key properties, such as the Jasper Property and
Carscallen Property. The Company’s goal is to continue and expand its exploration programs in order to
evaluate the economic potential of each of its projects.
The Board of Directors and management of Hanna will continue to monitor the financial and commodity
markets and their effect on Hanna’s business.
As at June 30, 2021, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $173,578. The decrease in working capital
deficit is primarily due to a decrease in current liabilities as a result of settlements entered into during the year
and a private placement that closed during the year. The Company had current liabilities of $513,969 at June 30,
2021, compared to current liabilities balance of $1,016,661 at June 30, 2020. The decrease in current liabilities
during the year ended June 30, 2021, is primarily due to issuance of shares to arm’s and non-arm’s length parties
in cancellation of $661,998 in debt owing to the parties.
Since November 30, 2019, the outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, specifically identified as “COVID19”, has resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus.
These measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine periods and
physical distancing, have caused material disruption to business globally resulting in an economic slowdown.
Global equity markets have experienced significant volatility and weakness. The duration and impact of the
COVID-19 outbreak is unknown currently. It is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of
these developments and the impact on the financial results and condition of the Company in future periods.
The outbreak was declared a pandemic by World Health Organization and the actual and threatened spread of
COVID-19 globally could adversely impact company’s ability to carry out its plans and raise capital.

New Developments
Surface Economic Anomalies: The surface sampling of outcrops within the Jasper property has shown interesting
copper-gold anomalies. The type of geological work done on the property includes soil and rock sampling,
geological mapping, limited and targeted drilling, and preliminary geophysical work. This work confirmed the
presence of lower Jurassic Bonanza Group geological unit, which comprises predominantly of tuffaceous volcanic
rocks. Mineralization discovered in outcrop over a study area of about 2.5 by 0.5 km area on the property consists
of 15 sulphide zones.

The results include: • Outcrop sampling included: zinc: 0.01% to 15.00%, copper: 0.09% to 8.38%, lead: 0.01% to
20.07%, gold: 0.019 g/t to 0.214 g/t and silver: 3.04g/t to 61.45g/t
Drilling results showed zinc: 0.146% to 11.570%, copper: 0.011% to 0.871%, lead: 0.003% to 6.330%, gold
0,006g/t to 0,05g/t and silver: 2.50g/t to 61.45g/t
The Company has decided to initiate a drill program to test the target. It is planned to drill at least 3 diamond core
holes (with deflections if necessary) to intersect the low resitivity zone at about 750m from surface. A drill program
of 3,000 meters has been proposed. The Company will be finalizing a comprehensive budget and drill program in
the very near future. (Please Refer to full news release found on SEDAR from March 4, 2021 and March 23, 2021)

Forward-looking statements
Apart from these and the risk factors noted under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties” and “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information”, management is not aware of any other trends, commitments,
events or uncertainties that would have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or
results of operations.

Mineral Property Interests
Carscallen Property, Ontario
In October 2016, the Company signed an asset purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with Silk Energy
Limited formerly Inspiration Mining Corp (“Silk”) to acquire a 100% interest in certain mining claims west of
the City of Timmins known as the Carscallen Property (the “Property”). Pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the Agreement, the Company will earn the 100% interest by:
•
•
•
•

Cash payment of $40,000 on execution of this agreement (paid);
Share payment of 2,200,000 common shares of the Company (issued with value of $193,500);
Cash payment of $20,000 on October 19, 2017 (paid); and
Cash payment of $40,000 on October 19, 2018 (paid).

The acquisition of the Property is subject to underlying conditions:
•

In the event that the Company is able to obtain an intersection of at least 3 grams of gold per ton over
one meter, the Company will be required to issue an additional 2,400,000 common shares to Silk;

•

In the event that the Company is able to establish a commercial mine of with at least a 50,000 ton ore
body having a minimum grade of 2 grams of gold per ton, the Company will be required to issuance an
additional 2,400,000 common shares to Silk;

•

Upon the payment of the option payments of October 19, 2016 and 2017, the Company will have an
undivided 100% interest in the Property subject to a 3% net smelter royalty (“NSR”) in favour of the
original optionors. The Company shall have the right to purchase 1% of the 2% NSR royalty for an
aggregate cash payment of $1 million. In addition, the company also assumes the obligation from Silk
whereby the Company will grant a 1% NSR in favour of the individual who assigned the original option
agreement to Silk. Under the assignment agreement between Silk and this individual, this 1% NSR can
be purchased for $2 million; and

During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company entered into an option agreement with two arm’s length
parties to acquire an 100% interest in additional claims to Carscallen Property.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company is required to pay the following as considerations:
•
•

Cash payment of $65,000 on or before January 10, 2020 ($15,000 paid); and
Share payment of 1,000,000 common shares of the Company on or before January 10, 2020 (400,000 shares
issued with value of $160,000).

Jasper Property, British Columbia
Pursuant to a purchase agreement dated December 1, 2007, and effective July 30, 2007, between the Company
and Silk, as amended (the “Jasper purchase agreement”), the Company purchased the Jasper property from
Silk in exchange for 1,336,790 special warrants of the Company (the “Inspiration Special Warrants”) valued at
$2,063,208. After completion of the initial public offering, all 1,336,790 Silk Special Warrants were converted
to 1,336,790 common shares of the Company. These shares were placed in escrow pursuant to an escrow
agreement between Silk, Olympia Financial Group Inc. and the Company. As of November 2, 2010, all the
shares were released from escrow. The Jasper property is located on west-central Vancouver Island, British
Columbia.
Current and Future Plans Related to the Jasper Property
The Jasper Property is located in west-central Vancouver Island, BC, Canada. The Property consists of nine
contiguous claims which cover 3978 hectares and is 100% owned and operated by Hanna Capital Corp.
The Jasper Main Grid area is underlain by apparently conformable lithological horizons including an eastern
felsic volcanic (dacite or rhyodacite) horizon and a western mafic volcanic (basalt) horizon separated by a
central intermediate volcanic horizon. Lithological contacts strike N-S and are offset by cross faults which
strike NW-SE. Fifteen polymetallic sulphide zones have been discovered in outcrop over a 2.75 km. strike
length within the Main Grid area. Select outcrop sampling of these zones has yielded values up to 20% Lead,
25% Zinc, 15% Copper, 61 g/t Silver and 0.21 g/t Gold from separate samples taken from different zones. A
2.25 km. length by 0.5 km wide polymetallic soil geochemistry anomaly is coincident with the area of
polymetallic zones, and roughly coincident with the central intermediate volcanic horizon.
The Jasper Property is hosted in a belt of rocks mapped as upper Triassic to lower Jurassic Bonanza group.
The belt trends southeasterly from Hanna Lake through Gordon River, south of Cowichan Lake. The Bonanza
belt is flanked to the west and east by Paleozoic Sicker Group rocks which host the economically important
Myra Falls Massive Sulphide district located approximately 120 kilometres to the northwest, and the Lara
Massive Sulphide district located approximately 50 kilometres to the east.
A north trending gossanous alteration zone with a strike length greater than four kilometers underlies the
Jasper Property from Caycuse Creek in the south to the Nitinat River in the north. The alteration zone is
characterized by argillization, silicification and pervasive pyrite flooding. The alteration zone is generally
concordant with the foliation and stratigraphy throughout its strike length. The Jasper Main Grid area is
partially underlain by the intense alteration zone.
Modeling and 3-D inversion of the 2008 airborne magnetic and electromagnetic data was completed for a
portion of the Jasper Property during late 2017. Magnetic inversion established low susceptibility bodies
coincident with polymetallic zones surrounded by narrow, vertical high susceptibility pipes. Preliminary
electromagnetic inversion established a 2 Layer resistivity model consisting of a thick high resistivity layer
from surface to 300-600 m. depth overlying a thin, sub-horizontal to undulating low resistivity (high
conductivity) layer. The deep high conductivity layer could represent a sedimentary, replacement, epithermal
or metallic sulphide horizon, and has never been tested by drilling.
Two to four deep (750 m.) diamond drill holes are proposed to test the sub-horizontal conductive layer where
it is coincident with the area of low magnetic susceptibility and underlies polymetallic soil geochemical
anomalies and 14 of 15 known polymetallic mineral occurrences. Downhole EM surveys should be included
as part of the drilling program.
A property-wide isopach map of the conductive horizon is being generated by a qualified and experienced
geophysicist to better interpret the lateral extent, depth and varying thickness of that horizon for optimization
of drilling targets. The exploration permit for the Jasper Property allows for up to 4,000 metres of drilling and
is being maintained in good standing.
During July 2015, the Company completed a GPS-line controlled geological mapping and litho- geochemical
sampling program over a three by one kilometer area across and surrounding all the known copper-zinc-leadsilver occurrences on the Jasper Property. Both the mapping and the sampling were conducted along 200 m
spaced E-W GPS control lines and 51 rock samples were taken at 400 m intervals along those lines and over
100 structural measurements were taken from over 100 outcrops. In addition, one new quartz-sulphide was
located and sampled in a small subcrop exposure located between the Jasper and Tam MINFILE occurrences.

In August 2015, litho-geochemistry and rock geochemistry results were received from AGAT Laboratories.
The results are still being compiled, evaluated and interpreted and the Company will report same when ready.
Preliminary evaluation of litho-geochemistry results suggest that some outcrops mapped as intermediate
volcanics may actually be altered mafic or felsic volcanics. Geochemical results from the new quartzsulphide discovery yielded 24.7% zinc, 0.388% copper, 0.176% cadmium, 74 ppm tellurium, 2.9 g/t silver
and 0.128 g/t gold. The zinc assay is the highest obtained to date from the Jasper Property.
The 2015 field program was designed to establish geological, structural and alteration settings, signatures and
controls for the numerous clustered massive sulphide and quartz-sulphide occurrences found to date on the
Jasper Property. Final interpretation of the results from program will be used in conjunction with previous
rock and soil geochemistry and airborne geophysics to help design a diamond drilling program.
The field work program was supervised by Jacques Houle, P.Eng., a Qualified Person pursuant to National
Instrument 43-101.
The following table summarizes the Company’s current exploration programs at the Jasper Property, total
estimated cost to complete each exploration program, and total expenditures incurred to date. For more
information about exploration expenditures incurred by category, please see “Additional Disclosure for
Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue” below.
Activities Completed
Exploration Program
(expected completion)
Drill Program
GPS-line controlled
Proposed
geological mapping and
litho-geochemical
sampling program

Subtotal
Total (A+B)

(A)
Estimated Cost to
Plans for the Project
Complete
The Company Plans to drill The Company is
working on
at least 3 diamond core
holes (with deflections if finalizing the
necessary) to intersect the budget.
low resistivity zone at
about 750m from surface.
A drill program of 3,000
meters has been proposed.
The Company will be
finalizing a comprehensive
budget and drill program in
the very near future
$nil

(B)
Spent
$2,595,440

$2,595,440
$2,595,440

During fiscal 2014, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,872,334 on the Jasper property. The
Company decided to write down the Jasper property to Silk’s original cost of $633,235. As at June 30, 2021,
the carrying value of the Jasper property is $742,334.

Selected Annual Information

Total Revenues
Net loss (1) (2)
Net loss per share – basic (3)(4)
Net loss per share – diluted (3)(4)

Total assets
Total non-current financial liabilities
Distributions or cash dividends

Year ended
June 30, 2021

Year ended
June 30, 2020

Year ended
June 30, 2019

$nil

$nil

$nil

$544,816

$298,284

$383,907

$0.01

$0.01

$0.01

$0.01

$0.01

$0.01

Year ended
June 30, 2021

Year ended
June 30, 2020

Year ended
June 30, 2019

$1,422,544

$1,250,598

$1,292,118

$nil

$nil

$nil

$nil

$nil

$nil

(1) Loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent, in total;
(2) Loss attributable to owner of the parent, in total;
(3) Loss from continuing operating attributable to owners of the parent, on a per-share and diluted per share basis;
(4) Loss attributable to owners of the parent, on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and declared per-share for each class of
share.

Selected Quarterly Information
Net
Revenues
($)

Total
($)

Per Share
($)

June 30, 2021

-

(288,814)

(0.01)

March 31, 2021

-

(0.00)

December 31, 2020

-

(113,120)
68,214)
(68,214)

September 30, 2020

-

(70,588)

(0.00)

June 30, 2020

-

(235,666)

(0.01)

March 31, 2020

-

48,450

(0.00)

December 31, 2019

-

(57,816)

(0.00)

September 30, 2019

-

(53,255)

(0.01)

(0.00)

The income realized in the quarter ended March 31, 2020 was primarily a result of a gain on the
extinguishment of accounts payable and reversal of accruals.

Results of Operations
The Company is an exploration-stage mineral resources entity and, at present, has no projects that generate
operating cash flows. To date, funding of the Company’s exploration activities has been accomplished by
private placements of its shares and the proceeds of a prospectus offering.
Year ended June 30, 2021, compared with the year ended June 30, 2020
The Company’s net loss totaled $544,816 for the year ended June 30, 2021, with basic and diluted loss per share
of $0.011. This compares with net loss of $298,284 for the year ended June 30, 2020, with basic and diluted loss
per share of $0.009.
The increase in net loss was due to:
• Accounting, audit and professional fees during the year $33,720 (2020 – $31,743)
• Legal fees during the year $nil (2020 – $1,308)
• Office and administration expense during the year of $48,711 (2020 – $134,780)
• Rent during the period of $4,015 (2020 - $15,146)
• Investor relations during the year $7,668 (2020 - $1,762)
• Consulting fee during the year $65,000 (2020 - $20,000)
• Management and director fees during the year $225,000 (2020 - $nil)
• Interest and penalties during the year $1,264 (2020 - $5,858)
• Write off of exploration and evaluation assets $nil (2020 - $198,000)
• Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable and accruals $25,693 (2020 - $110,270)
The increase of in net loss was principally because of increases in consulting fees and management fees during
the year ended June 30, 2021 in contrast to June 31, 2020.

Liquidity and Financial Position
The Company derives no income from operations, as all of its projects since inception have been exploration
projects. Accordingly, the activities of the Company have been financed by cash raised through private
placements of common shares and its initial public offering. As the Company does not expect to generate
cash flows from operations in the near future, it will continue to rely primarily upon the sale of common shares
to raise capital. As a result, the availability of financing, as and when needed, to fund the Company’s activities,
cannot be assured.
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company:
i) issued 7,579,964 units (the “Settlement Units”) to the arm’s length parties in exchange for the cancellation
of an aggregate of $378,998 in debt owning to the arm’s length parties and 1,160,000 common shares (the
“Settlement Shares”) and 4,500,000 Settlement Units to non-arm’s length parties in exchange for the
$283,000 in debt owing to the parties. The Settlement Units and Settlement Shares were issued at $0.065.
Each Settlement Unit is comprised of one (1) common share and one (1) common share purchase warrant
(“Settlement Warrant”). Each Settlement Warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one (1) common
share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.08 per share until September 15, 2022. The Company
valued the Settlement Shares and Settlement Units at $860,597 and recorded a loss on settlement of debt in
the amount of $198,599; and

ii) issued an aggregate of 10,000,000 units (the “Units”) of the Company at a price of $0.05 per Unit for gross
proceeds of $500,000 (the “Offering”). Each Unit is comprised of one common share and one common
share purchase warrant (the “Warrant”). Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of
the Company at an exercise price of $0.08 per share until October 23, 2022. In connection with the Offering,
the Company paid finders’ fees of $900 in cash and issued 18,000 broker warrants (the “Broker Warrants”).
Each Broker Warrant is exercisable at $0.05 per Broker Warrant into one unit of the Company at an exercise
price of $0.05 per share until October 23, 2022 (the “Broker Units”). Each Broker Unit is comprised of one
common share and one common share purchase warrant (the “Broker Unit Warrant”). Each Broker Unit
Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.08 per
share until October 23, 2022.
Based on the rate of expenditure above, the Company will have to raise equity capital in the remainder of
fiscal 2021 in amounts sufficient to fund both exploration work and working capital requirements. The major
variables are expected to be the size, timing and results of the Company’s exploration program and its ability
to continue to access capital to fund its ongoing operations. Any further exploration programs on the Jasper
property are subject to the Company raising capital. It is anticipated that payments on select accounts
payable will be deferred until a financing is completed. The Company has a cash balance of $116,309 at
June 30, 2021 (June 30, 2020 – $89,087) and does not have sufficient liquid assets to fund its operating
expenses at current levels. Activities are currently funded by loans from related parties. There can be no
assurance that should additional financing from related parties or others be required, it will be available at
all, or on terms acceptable to the Company. Should the Company not raise sufficient capital, it may cease to
be a reporting issuer. However, to meet long-term business plans, the Company must complete a financing and
develop its property interests.

Related Party Transactions
Related parties include the Board, officers, key management personnel, close family members and
enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions. Key
management personnel are those having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, including any directors (executive and non- executive) of
the Company.
The terms and conditions of the transactions with key management personnel and their related parties were no
more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, to similar
transactions to non-key management personnel related entities on an arm’s length basis.
The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties:
•

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed $20,000, (2020 - $Nil) to Herb Brugh for
Chief Executive Officer fees and for administration fees. Administrative fees are included in office
and miscellaneous. As at June 30, 2021, the Company owed $20,000 (June 30, 2020 - $215,328) to Herb
Brugh which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

•

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed $40,000, respectively (2020 - $20,000) to
Victor Cantore, a director of the Company, for consulting fees. Consulting fees are included in office
and miscellaneous. Included in the June 30, 2021 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $97,000 due
to Victor Cantore (June 30, 2020 - $57,000).

•

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed $70,000, respectively (2020 - $Nil) to John
Gould, a director of the Company, for management fees. Management fees are included in office and
miscellaneous. Included in the June 30, 2021 accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $70,000 due to
John Gould (June 30, 2020 - $Nil)

•

As at June 30, 2021, Vern Bock, a former director of the Company, was owed $Nil (June 30, 2020 $38,002).

•

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed $5,000 (2020 - $Nil) to Jim Davis, the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, for management fees. Included in June 30, 2021 accounts payable and
accrued liabilities is $5,000 due to Jim Davis (June 30, 2020 - $Nil).

•

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company expensed to Adrea Capital Corp., a key consultant to
the Company, $90,000 in consulting fees (2020 - $60,000). As at June 30, 2021, the Company was owed
$57,353 (2020 - $9,727), which is included in due from related party (2020 – accounts payable and accrued
liabilities); and

•

As at June 30, 2021, Martina Minerals Corp., a corporation related by way of a common director, owed
the Company $39,518 (June 30, 2020 - $54,518) which is included in due from related party and the amount
is unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. The Company settled a portion of this amount as
noted below.
Balances due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing (unless otherwise stated), and have no
fixed terms of repayment.

Investment in Related Party
On February 10, 2021, the Company entered into a debt settlement agreement (the “Debt Settlement”) with
Martina Minerals Corp pursuant to which the Company settled $45,000 of debt in exchange for 900,000
common shares of Martina Minerals Corp. at a price of $0.07 per common share (the “Martina Shares”),
resulting in a gain on the settlement of debt in the amount of $18,000 on the date of the Debt Settlement.
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded an unrealized loss on Martina Shares in the
amount of $4,500. As at June 30, 2021, the investment in related party amounted to $58,500 (June 30, 2020
- $Nil).

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any off-balance-sheet arrangements that have, or are
reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the
Company, including, and without limitation, such considerations as liquidity, capital expenditures and capital
resources that would be material to investors.

Proposed Transactions
There are no proposed transactions of a material nature being considered by the Company. However, the Company
continues to evaluate properties and corporate opportunities to advance its exploration and evaluation objectives.
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Changes in Accounting Policies
Please refer to the audited consolidated financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2021 located on
www.sedar.com.

Capital Management
The Company manages its capital with the following objectives:
I

To ensure sufficient financial flexibility to achieve the ongoing business objectives including the funding of
future growth opportunities, and the pursuit of accretive acquisitions; and

I To maximize shareholder return.
The Company monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments according to market conditions in an effort to
meet its objectives given the current outlook of the business and industry in general. The Company may manage its
capital structure by issuing new shares, repurchasing outstanding shares, adjusting capital spending, or disposing of
assets. The capital structure is reviewed by management and the Board of Directors on an ongoing basis.
The Company considers its capital to be equity, which comprises share capital, reserves and accumulated deficit,
which at June 30, 2021, totaled $908,575 (June 30, 2020 – $233,937).
The Company manages capital through its financial and operational forecasting processes. The Company reviews
its working capital and forecasts its future cash flows based on operating expenditures, and other investing and
financing activities. The forecast is updated based on activities related to its exploration and evaluation assets.
Selected information is provided to the Board of Directors of the Company.
The Company's capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the year
ended June 30, 2021. The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a lending institution or
regulatory body, other than Policy 2.5 of the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) which requires adequate
working capital or financial resources of the greater of (i) $50,000 and (ii) an amount required in order to maintain
operations and cover general and administrative expenses for a period of 6 months. As of June 30, 2021, the Company
is not compliant with Policy 2.5. The impact of this violation is not known and is ultimately dependent on the
discretion of the TSX-V.
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Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of:
Description
Cash
Sales tax receivable
Investment in related party
Due from related party
Reclamation bond
Note receivable
Due from related party

Description
Accounts payable and accrued
Loan payable

June 30, 2021
$
116,309
108,229
58,500
57,353
5,000
1
39,518

June 30, 2021
$
476,090
37,066

June 30, 2020
$
89,087
79,879
5,000
1
38,997

June 30, 2020
$
692,110
324,551

The Company's financial instruments consist of cash, amounts receivable, reclamation bond, receivables, note
receivable, accounts payable, loan payable and due to related party. It is management's opinion that the Company is
not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks and that the carrying values of these financial instruments
approximate their fair values.
(ii)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations
as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the
capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters
specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at June 30,
2021, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $173,578 (June 30, 2020 – $847,695). The Company
regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity.
The Company will need to secure additional financing to meet its ongoing obligations; however, there is no
assurance that the Company will be able to do so. See “Liquidity and Financial Position” above.
(iii)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash, receivables and reclamation bond. As at June 30, 2021,
the Company’s reclamation bond is held with one of the chartered banks of Canada. As such, the management of
the Company believes the risk of loss to be minimal.
(iv)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and commodity and equity prices.
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(a) Interest rate risk
The Company does not have cash balances and no interest-bearing debt as at June 30, 2021. The Company's current
policy is to invest excess cash in high yield savings accounts and guaranteed investment certificates issued by a
Canadian chartered bank with which it keeps its bank accounts. The Company periodically monitors the
investments it makes and is satisfied with the creditworthiness of its Canadian chartered bank. As of June 30, 2021,
the Company had cash of $116,309 (June 30, 2020 – $89,087).
(b) Foreign currency risk
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are transacted in
Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.
(c) Equity price risk
The Company manages risk related to fluctuations in the market prices of investments in publicly traded companies
by regularly reviewing publicly available information related to these investments to ensure that any risks are
within established levels of risk tolerance. As at June 30, 2021, the Company had no investments in publicly traded
companies.

Outlook
In the next twelve months, the Company intends to continue exploring the Jasper project and raising capital.
The Company also continues exploration work on its Carscallen Gold Property located in Timmins, Ontario. In
addition, management will review project submissions and conduct independent research for projects in any
commodity. With copper prices and the current market environment for base metals, the Company has a positive
outlook.

Environmental Contingency
The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various government laws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment. These environmental regulations are continually changing and generally becoming
more restrictive. As of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not believe that there are any significant
environmental obligations requiring material capital outlays in the immediate future.

Common Shares
The following sets out the common shares outstanding at the date of this MD&A:

Shares Outstanding

56,272,817
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Warrants
The following chart sets out the number of warrants outstanding as of the date of this MD&A:
Exercise Price
$0.07
$0.05
$0.08
$0.08

Broker Warrants
Exercise Price
$0.05

Expiry
Date
December 28, 2022
December 28, 2022
September 15, 2022
October 23,2022

Number of
Warrants
4,832,100
408,328
12,079,964
10,000,000
27,320,392

Expiry
Date
October 22, 2023

Number of
Warrants
18,000
18,000

Stock Options
The Company has an incentive stock option plan in place with the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSXV"), under which it is authorized
to grant options to executive officers, directors, employees and consultants. The Company has implemented a fixed plan, whereby
it may not exceed a total of 7,930,000 options under the plan. The exercise price of the options is fixed by the Board of Directors
of the Company at the time of grant, subject to all applicable regulatory requirements. The options can be granted for a maximum
term of five years and vest as determined by the Board of Directors. The Company did not have any stock options outstanding as
at June 30, 2019, 2020 and 2021.

Risks And Uncertainties
An investment in the securities of the Company is highly speculative and involves numerous and significant risks
and should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume such
risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. Prospective investors should carefully
consider the risk factors described below.
I Development Stage Company and Exploration Risks
The Company is a junior resource company focused primarily on the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties
located in Canada. The properties of the Company have no established reserves. There is no assurance that any of the
projects can be mined profitably. Accordingly, it is not assured that the Company will realize any profits in the short
to medium term, if at all. Any profitability in the future from the business of the Company will be dependent
upon developing and commercially mining an economic deposit of minerals, which in itself is subject to numerous
risk factors. The exploration and development of mineral deposits involve a high degree of financial risk over a
significant period of time that even a combination of management’s careful evaluation, experience and knowledge
may not eliminate. While discovery of ore-bearing structures may result in substantial rewards, few properties
that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Major expenses may be required to establish
reserves by drilling and to construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure that
the current exploration, development and production programs of the Company will result in profitable commercial
mining operations. The profitability of the Company’s operations will be, in part, directly related to the cost and
success of its exploration and development programs, which may be affected by a number of factors. Substantial
expenditures are required to establish reserves that are sufficient to commercially mine some of the
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Company’s properties and to construct, complete and install mining and processing facilities on those properties that
are actually mined and developed.
I No History of Profitability
The Company is a development stage company with no history of profitability. There can be no assurance that the
operations of the Company will be profitable in the future. The Company has limited financial resources and will
require additional financing to further explore, develop, acquire, retain and engage in commercial production on its
property interests and, if financing is unavailable for any reason, the Company may become unable to acquire and
retain its mineral concessions and carry out its business plan.
I Government Regulations
The Company's exploration operations are subject to government legislation, policies and controls relating to
prospecting, development, production, environmental protection, mining taxes and labour standards. In order for the
Company to carry out its mining activities, its exploitation licences must be kept current. There is no guarantee that
the Company's exploitation licences will be extended or that new exploitation licences will be granted. In addition,
such exploitation licences could be changed and there can be no assurances that any application to renew any existing
licences will be approved. The Company may be required to contribute to the cost of providing the required
infrastructure to facilitate the development of its properties. The Company will also have to obtain and comply with
permits and licences that may contain specific conditions concerning operating procedures, water use, waste disposal,
spills, environmental studies, abandonment and restoration plans and financial assurances. There can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to comply with any such conditions.
I Market Fluctuation and Commercial Quantities
The market for minerals is influenced by many factors beyond the control of the Company such as changing
production costs, the supply and demand for minerals, the rate of inflation, the inventory of mineral producing
companies, the international economic and political environment, changes in international investment patterns,
global or regional consumption patterns, costs of substitutes, currency availability and exchange rates, interest rates,
speculative activities in connection with minerals, and increased production due to improved mining and production
methods. The metals industry in general is intensely competitive and there is no assurance that, even if commercial
quantities and qualities of metals are discovered, a market will exist for the profitable sale of such metals. Commercial
viability of precious and base metals and other mineral deposits may be affected by other factors that are beyond
the Company’s control including particular attributes of the deposit such as its size, quantity and quality, the cost of
mining and processing, proximity to infrastructure and the availability of transportation and sources of energy,
financing, government legislation and regulations including those relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure,
land use, import and export restrictions, exchange controls, restrictions on production, as well as environmental
protection. It is impossible to assess with certainty the impact of various factors that may affect commercial
viability so that any adverse combination of such factors may result in the Company not receiving an adequate
return on invested capital.
I Mining Risks and Insurance
The Company is subject to risks normally encountered in the mining industry, such as unusual or unexpected
geological formations, cave-ins or flooding. The Company may become subject to liability for pollution, damage to
life or property and other hazards of mineral exploration against which it or the operator if its exploration programs
cannot insure or against which it or such operator may elect not to insure because of high premium costs or other
reasons. Payment of such liabilities would reduce funds available for acquisition of mineral prospects or exploration
and development and would have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Company.
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I Environmental Protection
The mining and mineral processing industries are subject to extensive governmental regulations for the protection of
the environment, including regulations relating to air and water quality, mine reclamation, solid and hazardous waste
handling and disposal and the promotion of occupational health and safety, which may adversely affect the Company
or require it to expend significant funds.
I Capital Investment
The ability of the Company to continue exploration and development of its property interests will be dependent
upon its ability to raise significant additional financing. There is no assurance that adequate financing will be
available to the Company or that the terms of such financing will be favourable. Should the Company not be able to
obtain such financing, its properties may be lost entirely.
I Conflicts of Interest
Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may also serve as directors and officers of other companies
involved in base and precious metal exploration and development and consequently, the possibility of conflict
exists. Any decisions made by such directors involving the Company will be made in accordance with the duties
and obligations of directors to deal fairly and in good faith with the Company and such other companies. In
addition, such directors will declare, and refrain from voting on, any matters in which they may have a conflict of
interest.
I Current Global Financial Conditions
Recent global financial conditions have been characterized by increased volatility and access to public financing,
particularly for junior mineral exploration companies, has been negatively impacted. These conditions may affect
the Company’s ability to obtain equity or debt financing in the future on terms favourable to the Company or at all.
If such conditions continue, the Company’s operations could be negatively impacted.
I Country Risk
The Company may currently, or in the future, conduct business in jurisdictions and countries in which the title to its
properties may be uncertain or where access to infrastructure, or political stability, or security, among other things,
may be unknown, or known, and prevent, or severely compromise, the Company from carrying out business. It may
be that the Company accepts Country Risk, to the extent that it can be determined at all, in favour of acquiring
properties with exceptional exploration and development potential, and ultimately be prevented from exploring and
developing those properties for any number of reasons which may, or may not, be predictable, foreseeable, or
manageable. Currently, the Company’s Russian interest is near the Ukraine-Russia conflict which is negatively
impacting the Company.
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Disclosure of Internal Controls
Management has established processes to provide them with sufficient knowledge to support representations that they
have exercised reasonable diligence to ensure that (i) the audited consolidated financial statements do not contain any
untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to make a
statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it is made, as of the date of and for the periods
presented by the audited consolidated financial statements, and (ii) the audited consolidated financial statements
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flow of the Company, as
of the date of and for the years presented.
In contrast to the certificate required for non-venture issuers under National Instrument 52-109, Certification of
Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52-109”), the Venture Issuer Basic Certificate does not
include representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures
(“DC&P”) and internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”), as defined in NI 52-109. In particular, the certifying
officers filing this certificate are not making any representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of:
(i)

controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by the issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under
securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
securities legislation; and

(ii)

a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with the issuer’s
GAAP (IFRS). The issuer’s certifying officers are responsible for ensuring that processes are in place to
provide them with sufficient knowledge to support the representations they are making in the certificate.

Investors should be aware that inherent limitations on the ability of certifying officers of a venture issuer to design
and implement on a cost effective basis DC&P and ICFR as defined in NI 52-109 may result in additional risks to
the quality, reliability, transparency and timeliness of interim and annual filings and other reports provided under
securities legislation.

Additional Information
Please refer to June 30, 2021 audited consolidated financial statements posted on www.sedar.com for additional
information concerning the Company.
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SCHEDULE “C”
CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1.

Overall Purpose / Objectives
The committee will assist the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") in fulfilling its responsibilities. The
committee will review the financial reporting process, the system of internal control and management of financial
risks, the audit process, and the Company's process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and its own
code of business conduct. In performing its duties, the committee will maintain effective working relationships with
the Board, management, and the external auditors and monitor the independence of those auditors. The committee
will also be responsible for reviewing the Company's financial strategies, its financing plans and its use of the equity
and debt markets.
To perform his or her role effectively, each committee member will obtain an understanding of the responsibilities of
committee membership as well as the Company's business, operations and risks.

2.

Authority
The Board authorizes the committee, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires from
any employee and from external parties, to obtain outside legal or professional advice and to ensure the attendance of
the Company officers at meetings as appropriate.

3.

Organization
(a)

Membership
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

(b)

Attendance at Meetings
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

4.

The committee will be comprised of at least three directors of the Company, a majority of whom
are not officers or employees of the Company or any of its affiliates.
The chairman of the audit committee will be nominated by the committee from time to time.
A quorum for any meeting will be two members.
The secretary of the committee will be the company secretary, or such person as nominated by the
Chairman.

The committee may invite such other persons (e.g. the CEO) to its meetings, as it deems appropriate.
The external auditors shall be notified by the Company of each quarterly audit committee meeting
and, if in attendance, be expected to comment on the financial statements in accordance with best
practices.
Meetings shall be held not less than four times a year. Special meetings shall be convened as
required. External auditors may convene a meeting if they consider that it is necessary.
The proceedings of all meetings will be minuted.

Roles and Responsibilities
The committee will:
(a)

Gain an understanding of whether internal control recommendations made by external auditors have been
implemented by management.

(b)

Gain an understanding of the current areas of greatest financial risk and whether management is managing
these effectively.

(c)

Review the Company's strategic and financing plans to assist the Board's understanding of the underlying
financial risks and the financing alternatives.

(d)

Review management's plans to access the equity and debt markets and to provide the Board with advice and
commentary.

(e)

Review significant accounting and reporting issues, including recent professional and regulatory
pronouncements, and understand their impact on the financial statements.

(f)

Review any legal matters which could significantly impact the financial statements as reported on by the
general counsel and meet with outside counsel whenever deemed appropriate.

(g)

Review the annual and quarterly financial statements including Management's Discussion and Analysis and
determine whether they are complete and consistent with the information known to committee members;
determine that the auditors are satisfied that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

(h)

Pay particular attention to complex and/or unusual transactions such as those involving derivative
instruments and consider the adequacy of disclosure thereof.

(i)

Focus on judgmental areas, for example those involving valuation of assets and liabilities and other
commitments and contingencies.

(j)

Review audit issues related to the Company's material associated and affiliated companies that may have a
significant impact on the Company's equity investment.

(k)

Meet with management and the external auditors to review the annual financial statements and the results of
the audit.

(l)

Assess the fairness of the interim financial statements and disclosures, and obtain explanations from
management on whether:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

actual financial results for the interim period varied significantly from budgeted or projected results;
generally accepted accounting principles have been consistently applied;
there are any actual or proposed changes in accounting or financial reporting practices; and
there are any significant or unusual events or transactions which require disclosure and, if so,
consider the adequacy of that disclosure.

(m)

Review the external auditors' proposed audit scope and approach and ensure no unjustifiable restriction or
limitations have been placed on the scope.

(n)

Review the performance of the external auditors and approve in advance provision of services other than
auditing.

(o)

Consider the independence of the external auditors, including reviewing the range of services provided in the
context of all consulting services bought by the Company.

(p)

Make recommendations to the Board regarding the reappointment of the external auditors.

(q)

Meet separately with the external auditors to discuss any matters that the committee or auditors believe should
be discussed privately.

(r)

Endeavour to cause the receipt and discussion on a timely basis of any significant findings and
recommendations made by the external auditors.

(s)

Obtain regular updates from management and the Company's legal counsel regarding compliance matters, as
well as certificates from the Chief Financial Officer as to required statutory payments and bank covenant
compliance and from senior operating personnel as to permit compliance.

(t)

Ensure that the Board is aware of matters which may significantly impact the financial condition or affairs
of the business.

(u)

Perform other functions as requested by the full Board.

(v)

If necessary, institute special investigations and, if appropriate, hire special counsel or experts to assist.

(w)

Review and update the charter; receive approval of changes from the Board.

